#### UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON

#### FACULTY OF MEDICINE, HEALTH AND LIFE SCIENCES

School of Medicine

### Inhibition of p53 function in tumours that express the *PAX3* protooncogene

by

#### Timothy James Underwood

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

.

October 2006

## UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON <u>ABSTRACT</u> FACULTY OF MEDICINE, HEALTH AND LIFE SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MEDICINE <u>Doctor of Philosophy</u> INHIBITION OF p53 FUNCTION IN TUMOURS THAT EXPRESS THE *PAX3*

#### PROTO-ONCOGENE

#### by Timothy James Underwood

Inactivating mutations in the *TP53* gene are an infrequent event in tumours derived from cells of neural crest origin. These tumours are likely, therefore, to be dependent upon alternative mechanisms for the suppression of p53-dependent cell cycle arrest and pro-apoptotic signalling pathways. The survival of cells from these tumours is often dependent upon their expression of PAX3, an embryologically expressed transcription factor that is essential for the suppression of spontaneous p53dependent apoptosis in the developing neural crest. I hypothesized that PAX3 causes repression of p53 function in tumours of neural crest origin.

I show that PAX3 is required to prevent spontaneous p53-dependent apoptosis in melanoma cells using siRNA. Knockdown of PAX3 expression causes a loss of cell viability of over 90% and induction of the pro-apoptotic protein BAX. This is in contrast to induction of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21<sup>WAF-1</sup> and cell cycle arrest in response to HDM2 knockdown. Furthermore, I confirm the importance of PAX3 in the survival of neuroblastoma.

In a model system PAX3 suppresses p53-dependent transcription from promoters including *BAX* and *HDM2* but, importantly, not *WAF-1*. Mutagenesis studies show that this suppression is dependent upon the integrity of PAX3 as an activating transcription factor. PAX3 expression causes a reduction in p53 protein levels by up to 90% and an increase in p53 turn-over, which is not due to classical proteasomal degradation.

My data clearly demonstrates a critical role for the PAX3 oncoprotein in the inhibition of p53-dependent pro-apoptotic pathways in neural crest derived tumours. Furthermore, I have developed a cell based screening assay to identify compounds that inhibit PAX3 function in melanoma cells. Such compounds will be used as tools to study the mechanism of p53 functional inhibition by PAX3 in future work and may also have therapeutic potential.

# **Table of Contents**

Table	of	Contents	1
List o	f fig	gures	5
List o	f ta	bles	7
Ackno	owl	edgements	8
Abbre	evia	tions	9
1.	Ir	itroduction	11
1.1		Regulation of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis is	
fun	dan	nental to embryonic development and tissue homeostasis in the adult	11
1.1	.1	The importance of controlling cell populations	11
1.1	.2	Genetic control of normal development with special reference to skeletal	
mu	scle		13
1.1	.3	The neural crest	16
1.1	.4	Cell cycle control in the adult	19
1.1	.5	Apoptosis	21
1.2		Abnormal proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis - cancer	22
1.2	.1	Tumour suppressor genes and oncogenes	22
1.2	.2	Embryonic genes as oncogenes	23
1.3		PAX3	24
1.3	.1	The PAX family	24
1.3	.2	PAX3 structure and function	26
1.4		p53	30
1.4	.1	Activation of p53	32
1.4	.3	Localisation of p53	35
1.4	.4	The cellular response to p53 – repair or apoptosis?	35
1.5		PAX3 and p53	37
2.	А	ims and objectives	39
3.	М	lethods	40
3.1		Cell lines, culture conditions and cell passage	40
3.2		Mutagenesis	41
3.3		Small-scale preparation of plasmid DNA (minipreps)	42
3.4		Large-scale preparation of plasmid DNA (maxipreps)	42

	3.5	Transfection method	43
	3.6	Reporter gene assay	43
	3.7	Preparation of cell pellets for protein and RNA extraction	44
	3.8	Urea whole cell lysis	45
	3.9	Protein quantitation	45
	3.10	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-	
	PAGE	3)	45
	3.11	Western blotting	46
	3.12	RNA extraction	48
	3.13	Synthesis of cDNA	48
	3.14	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) - Taqman	48
	3.15	In vivo ubiquitination assay	49
	3.16	Preparation of cells for Fluorescence In-Situ Hybridisation (FISH)	51
	3.17	Statistical analysis	51
4.	ſ	The role of PAX3 in repression of p53 dependent transcription	52
4.	1 I	ntroduction	52
4.	2 F	Results	54
	4.2.1	Generation of a model system to study p53 dependent transcription	54
	4.2.2	PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of a Bax reporter gene	57
	4.2.3	PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of an HDM2 reporter gene	59
	4.2.4	PAX3 promotes transcription of WAF1 and PUMA reporter genes	
	indep	endently of p53	63
	4.2.5	Generation of mutant PAX3 proteins	65
	4.2.6	PAX3 must retain transcriptional integrity to repress p53 dependent	
	transc	ription	67
	4.2.7	DNA binding by both the paired domain and homeodomain of PAX3 is	
	requir	ed for inhibition of p53 dependent transcription	69
4.	3 I	Discussion	71
5.	Л	The effect of PAX3 on p53 protein abundance	74
5.	1 I	ntroduction	74
5.	2 F	Results	75
	5.2.1	Adaptation of the H1299 reporter assay system for p53 protein analysis	75
	5.2.2	PAX3 decreases p53 protein abundance in H1299 cells	76
	5.2.3	PAX3 increases the turnover of p53 in H1299 cells	78

5.2.	4 The effects of mutant PAX3 proteins on p53 protein levels	80			
5.3	5.3 Discussion 8				
6.	6. The role of HDM2 and ubiquitination in repression of p53 function by PAX3				
		84			
6.1	Introduction	84			
6.2	Results	85			
6.2.	1 Titration of p53 mutant proteins F19A and 6KR in a 96 well format	85			
6.2.	2 HDM2 binding is not required for inhibition of p53 dependent transcript	tion			
by ]	PAX3	86			
6.2.	3 PAX3 represses p53 F19A protein abundance in H1299 cells	87			
6.2.	4 PAX3 expression does not promote ubiquitination of p53	88			
6.2.	5 PAX3 does not stimulate degradation of p53 by the proteasome	92			
6.3	Discussion	94			
7.	The biological effects of PAX3 repression in neural crest derived tumours	97			
7.1	Introduction	97			
7.2	Results	98			
7.2.	1 Down-regulation of PAX3 in Kelly cells leads to loss of cell viability	98			
7.2.	2 Characterisation of the neural crest derived tumour cells lines IMR 32 at	nd			
UA	CC- 62	99			
7.2	3 Down-regulation of PAX3 in IMR 32 leads to decreased cell viability	101			
7.2.	4 Down-regulation of PAX3 in UACC-62 leads to decreased cell viability	103			
7.2.	5 Down-regulation of PAX3 causes cell death and not cell cycle arrest in				
UA	CC-62 cells.	104			
7.2	.6 The cell death observed after PAX3 knock-down in UACC-62 cells is p	53			
dep	endent	106			
7.2	7 Down-regulation of PAX3 in UACC-62 induces apoptosis	108			
7.3	Discussion	110			
8.	Development of a cell based screening assay to identify compounds that				
inhibi	t PAX3 function in melanoma cells	113			
8.1	Introduction	113			
8.2	Results	115			
8.2.	1 Designing an assay to interrogate PAX3 transcriptional function	115			
8.2.	2 Development of a transient transfection reporter assay to assess PAX3				
trar	sactivation of the MITF promoter	116			

8.2.3	Transactivation of the MITF promoter can be repressed by PAX3 inhibitors			
		117		
8.3	Discussion	120		
9. Sum	mary of findings and future work	123		
9.1	Summary of findings	123		
9.2	A model for PAX3 inhibition of p53 function	125		
9.3	Future work	128		
10.	References	129		

,

# List of figures

Figure 1.1: The stages of muscle development in the limb and the genes poter	ntially
involved at each stage.	16
Figure 1.2: Development of the neural crest	18
Figure 1.3: A simplified schematic view of some steps in the regulation of the	e cell
cycle	20
Figure 1.4: Structural organisation of PAX3	29
Figure 1.5: Structural organisation of p53	31
Figure 3.1: Renilla activity is not altered by addition of up to 100ng PAX3 pl	asmid
under test conditions	44
Figure 4.1: p53 expression induces transcription of Baxluc in three different of	ell lines
in a dose dependent manner	56
Figure 4.2: PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of a Baxluc reporter g	ene in
three different cell lines	58
Figure 4.3: Titration of p53 dependent induction of an Hdm2 reporter gene in	t H1299
cells	60
Figure 4.4: PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of a Hdm2luc03 report	ter gene
	61
Figure 4.5: PAX3 reduces the relative abundance of p53 dependent HDM2	
transcripts	62
Figure 4.6: PAX3 inhibition of Hdm2 reporter gene transcription is p53 dependent	ndent 63
Figure 4.7: PAX3 induces transcription of p21 Luc and PUMA Luc independ	ently
from p53	64
Figure 4.8: Mutant PAX3 proteins	66
Figure 4.9: Validation of mutant PAX3 protein expression by western blot	67
Figure 4.10: PAX3 must retain transcriptional integrity to inhibit p53 depend	ent
transcription from an HDM2 promoter	68
Figure 4.11: PAX3 must retain transcriptional integrity to inhibit p53 depend	ent
transcription from a BAX promoter	69
Figure 4.12: The mutant PAX3 protein N47H is expressed in H1299 cells and	1 is
unable to repress p53 dependent transcription from an HDM2 promoter	70
Figure 5.1: Titration of p53 in H1299 cells for detection with DO-1	76
Figure 5.2: PAX3 represses p53 protein abundance in H1299 cells	77

Figure 5.3: Relative p53 protein levels do not fall up to 90 minutes after	
cycloheximide treatment in H1299 cells	78
Figure 5.4: PAX3 increases p53 turnover in H1299 cells	79
Figure 5.5: Mutant PAX3 proteins have varying affects on p53 protein abundance	80
Figure 6.1: Induction of an HDM2 reporter gene in H1299 cells by F19A and 6KR	. 85
Figure 6.2: Analysis of the requirement for HDM2 in repression of p53 function by	у
PAX3.	87
Figure 6.3: PAX3 represses p53 F19A protein levels in H1299 cells	88
Figure 6.4: Analysis of the role of C-terminal ubiquitination of p53 in repression o	f
p53 by PAX3.	89
Figure 6.5: An <i>in vivo</i> assay for p53 ubiquitination	91
Figure 6.6: PAX3 does not stimulate p53 ubiquitination	92
Figure 6.7: Analysis of the requirement of the proteasome in PAX3 inhibition of p	53
protein levels	93
Figure 7.1: PAX3 AS-ODN treatment of Kelly cells leads to loss of cell viability t	hat
is rescued by pifithrin- $\alpha$	99
Figure 7.2: FISH analysis of N-MYC and PAX3 genes in IMR-32	100
Figure 7.3: FISH analysis of N-MYC and PAX3 genes in UACC-62	101
Figure 7.4: Down-regulation of PAX3 leads to decreased cell viability equivalent t	t0
down-regulation of HDM2 in IMR 32 cells	102
Figure 7.5: Effects of gene specific siRNA in UACC-62 cells	104
Figure 7.6: Differential effects of gene specific siRNA on UACC-62 cell viability	105
Figure 7.7: Analysis of p53 pathway proteins in response to Hdm2 and PAX3 dow	n-
regulation in UACC-62 cells	106
Figure 7.8: Down-regulation of p53 rescues UACC-62 cells from Hdm2 or PAX3	
siRNA mediated loss of cell viability	107
Figure 7.9: Down-regulation of PAX3 mRNA is not affected by p53 siRNA	108
Figure 7.9: PAX3 siRNA induces p53 dependent apoptosis in UACC-62 cells	109
Figure 8.1: Optimization of MITF reporter induction in UACC-62 cells	117
Figure 8.2: PAX3 inhibition represses MITF transactivation in UACC-62 cells	119
Figure 8.5: High throughput screening to drug discovery	122
Figure 9.1: A model for PAX3 suppression of p53 function in neural crest derived	
tumours	127

# List of tables

The Pax gene family in mammals.	25
Cell lines used in this study	41
Oligonucleotide primers designed to generate specific PAX3 mutations	42
Antibodies used in this project	47
Oligonucleotides used to test PAX3 knock-down in Kelly cells	98
	The Pax gene family in mammals. Cell lines used in this study Oligonucleotide primers designed to generate specific PAX3 mutations Antibodies used in this project Oligonucleotides used to test PAX3 knock-down in Kelly cells

### Acknowledgements

I am grateful to my supervisors Dr. Jeremy Blaydes and Dr. Karen Lillycrop for their supervision, guidance and support. I am particularly grateful to Dr. Blaydes for his patience and good humour throughout the many setbacks that I suffered in producing this work.

I am indebted to the whole Blaydes laboratory for their encouragement and advice during my three and a half years with them; in particular Mr Matthew Darley has been a constant source of information and expertise, not to mention the occasional joke.

I am also grateful to Dr. Adam Sharp and Dr. Simon Crabb and Miss Lisa Russell for helpful discussions.

This work has been financially supported by the Wessex Medical Trust, The Royal College of Surgeons of England and the Medical Research Council.

This project has been about more than just experiments in a laboratory and the writing of a thesis. I have had the opportunity to meet many people and make long-lasting friendships. I have learnt the basis of sound science and the art of scientific writing. The conclusion of this project is not the end of a journey but the beginning of a new chapter.

This work is dedicated to my wife Sophie and my daughter Charlotte who was born during my second year of study and has changed my life forever.

# Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ARF	Alternate reading frame
AS-ODN	Antisense oligonucleotide
ASPP	Ankyrin-repeat-, SH3-domain- and proline-rich-region-
	containing proteins
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
BCC	Basal cell carcinoma
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CDK	Cyclin dependent kinase
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FISH	Fluorescence in-situ hybridisation
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
HAUSP	Herpes virus-associated ubiquitin specific protease
HBSS	Hanks' balanced salt solution
HD	Homeodomain
HDM2	Human double minute 2
HLH	Helix-loop-helix
ID	Inhibitory domain
Mdm2	Mouse double minute 2
MITF	Microphthalmia associated transcription factor
NCI	National Cancer Institute
NES	Nuclear export signal
NLS	Nuclear localisation signal
NTD	Neural tube defect
OM	Octapeptide motif

PARC	p53-associated Parkin-like protein
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PD	Paired domain
PUMA	p53 up-regulated mediator of apoptosis
qRT-PCR	Quantatative real time polymerase chain reaction
RE	Response element
RLU	Relative luciferase units
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
siRNA	Short interfering RNA
ТА	Transactivation domain
UV	Ultraviolet

•.

.

### 1. Introduction

PAX3 and p53 are two proteins that play fundamental roles in the development of normal cells and cancer. Although it is tempting to delve directly into the relationship between PAX3 and p53 it is important to understand the relevance of these two proteins in the context of normal and abnormal tissue homeostasis and their role within the cell. The beginning of this thesis will therefore examine the mechanisms that have evolved over millions of years to control normal cellular growth, proliferation and differentiation. With this background in place I will move on to examine some of the principles of cancer biology followed by a detailed examination of the roles of PAX3 and p53 in normal cells and cancer. I will lay out the aims and objectives of this research project and then move on to describe the experiments that have been conducted to fulfil these aims. I will present a model of PAX3 inhibition of p53 function and finally discuss ongoing work designed to discover new inhibitors of PAX3 function.

## 1.1 Regulation of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis is fundamental to embryonic development and tissue homeostasis in the adult

#### 1.1.1 The importance of controlling cell populations

Human life begins with a single cell, the product of the fusion of sperm and egg. From this microscopic origin a highly complex, multi-cellular organism develops. In order to achieve complexity cells undergo multiple rounds of division and in some organs go on dividing throughout life. However, a simple increase in cell number is not sufficient to produce the diversity of cell function required in an adult. Cells change both form and function in a variety of tightly regulated processes that are tissue and organ dependent [1-3].

The total number of cells within a specific tissue is tightly controlled. Most tissues maintain populations of stem cells that can repopulate the tissue in response to injury [4], or in the case of the gastrointestinal tract, as part of normal cellular turnover [5].

A number of key processes take place at the cellular level to control cell number and function; these are at play during development and throughout the life of the organism. For the sake of clarity I have defined them below:

**Cell growth** is the increase in the size of a cell. It is seen during the cell cycle as the cell prepares to divide.

**Proliferation** refers to an increase in cell number normally due to mitosis. It is seen in a number of physiological processes such as endometrial thickening in response to oestrogen. Proliferation also takes place in a range of pathological settings including cancer.

**Differentiation** describes the process when a cell changes to carry out a specialised function. Cell differentiation creates the diversity of cell types that arise during development and it is differentiation that gives cells their characteristic appearances in different organs. Cell differentiation also defines the fate of the cell. In some organs, such as the liver, differentiated cells retain the ability to proliferate in response to damage whereas in other cell lineages differentiation begins a non-reversible process that ultimately leads to cell death. Other differentiated cells may enter a permanently quiescent state.

**Apoptosis** is programmed cell death. This is seen in normal development as the cells between fingers and toes die to give independent digits. Apoptosis may also occur in response to cellular damage. Apoptosis has specific characteristics and depends upon the production and accumulation of specific effecter proteins within the cell.

Much of this thesis deals with the interactions of proteins involved in cancer. Cancer is a genetic disease; the accumulation of genetic mutations over time leads to a pattern of gene expression that gives the cell a proliferation and survival advantage over its normal counterparts [6]. Abnormal gene, and therefore, protein expression, whether in terms of time, location or amount, leads to changes in the fundamental mechanisms that control the growth, proliferation and differentiation status of the cell [6]. These mechanisms are laid down early in development and are to a greater or lesser extent dependent on cellular context. Higher organisms have evolved complex mechanisms to control embryological development, allowing the formation of a range of specialised tissues [1-3, 7, 8]. Often these programs are completed during early development and the genes responsible may continue to perform important roles in the control of cell proliferation and differentiation [3, 7-12]. The inappropriate expression of these master regulatory genes is potentially tumourigenic and this is a concept that will be visited on a number of occasions in this thesis. In the following sections I will discuss the determination of cell fate in the embryo and how this leads to a complex multi-cellular organism. I will introduce the embryological neural crest as the origin of a variety of adult cell types. This will be followed by a brief account of the regulatory mechanisms governing cellular proliferation and differentiation in the adult. This will form a platform of understanding to allow consideration of the role of embryological gene activity in tumours and specifically, how activation of the PAX3 proto-oncogene in neural crest derived tumours supports tumour cell viability.

# 1.1.2 Genetic control of normal development with special reference to skeletal muscle

The ultimate complexity of an organism is tightly regulated in a temporospatial manner [1, 2]. Cells undergo multiple rounds of division producing increasing diversity of cell phenotype until the tissues of the adult organism have been established [1, 2]. Early specification of cell fate during development may be determined by spatial cues that consist of localized maternal regulatory factors that are distributed to particular cells with the egg cytoplasm, and are partitioned during cleavage [1]. Alternatively they may consist of signals produced by other cells, as a consequence of their own prior state of specification. Ultimately, these spatial cues affect the progress of development by causing the activation or repression, in a certain region of the embryo, of particular genes encoding transcription factors [1]. Studies in lower organisms, including nematodes and fruit flies, have identified other genes as regulators of developmental timing (heterochronic genes) that are conserved across

species [2]. Some of these genes encode micro RNA's (miRNA) that act to downregulate the expression of other heterochronic genes creating complex genetic regulatory pathways [2]. In combination, the expression of specific spatial and timing genes act as developmental switches that program specific cell identities [1, 2]. Thus, the activation or repression of a given heterochronic gene or spatial regulatory gene at a specific developmental time is often a crucial event, such that the corresponding change in activity level modulates the progression of a cell to its next fate [1, 2]. Through this process new regions of cellular specification are created leading to ever more complexity in the embryo. The presence of a specific signal at a certain time or position within the embryo is crucial to determine cell fate but the controlling mechanism for this activity is the presence of *cis*-regulatory regions of the target gene [1]. It is the network of all these *cis*-regulatory interactions that is ultimately responsible for driving the process of development [1].

The development of skeletal muscle is an elegant example of the role of transcription factors in tissue development. In this system a limited number of genes are responsible for the commitment of cells to the muscle cell lineage and the subsequent development of adult skeletal muscle [3, 7, 9, 10, 13, 14]. The developmental program of limb skeletal muscle has been well defined in higher organisms and a number of the genes involved at each stage have been identified (Fig. 1.1) [3, 7]. Skeletal muscle develops from areas adjacent to the neural tube known as somites. In the case of limb muscles, cells from the somite are required to delaminate and migrate into the limb bud [7]. Migration of limb muscle precursor cells is dependent on spatial cues from mesenchymal cells of the limb bud; expression of the tyrosine kinase receptor c-Met under the influence of Pax3 enables the cells to follow a migratory route defined by secretion of the c-Met ligand, Hgf, from non-somitic mesodermal cells [7]. Cells that migrate from the somite are yet to undergo myogenic determination. Limb muscle determination and differentiation requires the expression of a family of basic-helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors, MyoD, Myf5, Mrf4 and Myogenin (MyoG) [7, 15-18]. Expression of this family of transcription factors is believed to be stimulated by external ligands, such as Wnt signalling, providing more spatial information to the developing muscle cells [3, 7]. As the myogenic determination factors MyoD and Myf5 are expressed the muscle precursor cells undergo extensive proliferation and this proliferative phase is, at least in part,

under the influence of Pax3 [7]. MyoD directly regulates genes throughout the program of muscle gene expression, and temporal patterning is achieved by a combination of promoter-specific regulation of MyoD binding and activity in a feed-forward mechanism [3]. In addition, MyoD regulates chromatin-associated proteins to alter the availability of the *cis*-regulatory regions of muscle defining genes [3]. MyoD (in co-operation with Myf5) acts as a master switch to commit precursor cells to the skeletal muscle lineage by virtue of its ability to recruit histone modifying and chromatin-remodeling complexes to muscle promoters and reset the cellular chromatin structure and transcriptional program [3].

This description of the development of a single tissue type in the embryo serves to illustrate the intricacy of gene activity during embryogenesis and also introduces the role of *Pax3* as an early developmental gene. The detailed nature of Pax3 and the variety of roles that Pax3 plays in embryogenesis will be discussed in detail later but it is important to note that continued expression of Pax3 in the myogenic cell lineage acts as an effective block to differentiation [3, 14]. Although Pax3 is required for MyoD expression, Pax3 levels fall at the induction of differentiation and remain low in adult muscle [7]. The one important exception to this is in the satellite cells of skeletal muscle. These cells retain the ability to proliferate after muscle damage and in so doing retain expression of Pax3 (in certain muscle groups only) or its structural homologue Pax7 [3, 7].



# Figure 1.1: The stages of muscle development in the limb and the genes potentially involved at each stage.

The development of individual limb muscles from the somite of the embryo takes place in defined stages under the influence of a range of myogenic transcription factors. These transcription factors must be expressed at the correct time and position within the embryo to enable efficient tissue development. Mutation of one or more of the indicated genes leads to phenotypic abnormalities commensurate with the stage of development. For example, mice with a homozygous *Pax3* deletion develop no skeletal muscle and there is no evidence of precursor migration in the embryo. Prior to expression of the skeletal muscle determination genes *MyoD* and *Myf5* the precursor cells are not committed to the skeletal muscle lineage and in the absence of MyoD and Myf5 no skeletal muscle develops. Absence of Lbx1 or Mox2 leads to loss of specific muscle groups.

#### 1.1.3 The neural crest

The neural crest is a specialised group of cells that arise in the lateral tip of the neural folds during the process of neurulation (Fig. 1.2) [19]. The importance of the neural crest stems from the variety of derivatives that this discrete group of cells yields during development. The majority of the peripheral nervous system, the entirety of the autonomic nervous system, the enteric nervous system and all the

melanocytes of the body, except those of the retina, are derived from neural crest origins [19-24]. In vertebrates the neural crest gives rise to most of the skeleton and connective tissue of the head, face and neck [19]. Neural crest derivatives are absolutely required for vertebrate otongeny and have evolved to take the role of mesoderm to provide a skull cover for the increasing size of the vertebrate brain [19, 25]. Cells destined to populate the neural crest can be identified within the developing neuroepithelium by the expression of specific genes [19]. As the embryonic ectoderm becomes subdivided into the neural plate and epidermis, cells within the boundary region (destined to become neural crest) express a range of transcription factors such as Slug, Snail, AP-2, Foxd3, PAX3 and Sox9 dependent upon species and their rostrocaudal position within the embryo [19]. These early neural crest markers are under the influence of BMP and Wnt signals from adjacent cells [26, 27]. The early development of the neural crest shows similarities to the development of skeletal muscle described previously, in that an extra-cellular spatial cue is required to drive early specification of cell fate. Specific genetic signals further govern ultimate neural crest cell fate by maintaining a pool of premigratory cells [28], controlling cell cycle progression [29], coordinating neural crest cell delamination and restricting the developmental potential of migratory cells through environmental signals encountered during migration [30]. In summary, the tightly controlled expression of transcriptionally active genes in response to spatial and temporal stimuli give rise to a population of cells that migrate widely throughout the embryo to give rise to a range of essential tissues.



#### Figure 1.2: Development of the neural crest

The neural crest is a specialised group of cells that arise in the lateral tip of the neural folds during the process of neuralation. After neural tube closure cells of neural crest origin migrate widely to populate diverse areas of the adult organism. Cells of neural crest origin become tissues as varied as melanocytes, glial cells and hormone releasing cells of the adrenal medulla.

Cells of neural crest origin can give rise to a range of solid tumours in the adult [21, 31]. It is possible that the development of the neural crest and malignant cells is related because of the number of cancers arising from neural crest lineages and the phenotypic similarity between neural crest migratory cells and metastasising cells [22, 32]. A comparison of gene expression between migratory neural crest cells and malignant melanoma cells reveals similar patterns of gene expression [22]. This evidence suggests that neural crest derived tumours may rely on the recapitulation of embryonic expression patterns to gain a selective advantage over their normal adult counterparts. Fundamental to tumourigenesis is the ability of the cancer cell to bypass important control mechanisms that exist to restrain undesirable proliferation [33]. Before considering how the expression of embryologically significant genes can have this effect in the adult I will describe some of the mechanisms that exist to prevent uncontrolled cell division.

#### 1.1.4 Cell cycle control in the adult

To maintain tissue homeostasis there is a constant balance between proliferation, differentiation and cell death [34]. These processes can be observed in the embryo and adult organism and are determined, in part, by the balance of positive and negative signals received by the cell [6, 11, 12, 29, 33-41]. This is not the only control of cellular turnover. Many intracellular control mechanisms have developed to regulate proliferation and differentiation; but, once committed to division the final common pathway for all cells is the cell cycle [34, 39, 40]. The cell cycle has evolved as a mechanism to ensure that cellular replication is achieved efficiently and with minimal copying error [40]. The transit of a cell through the cell cycle can be divided into four specific stages as illustrated in Figure 1.3 [40]. Upon receiving the appropriate stimuli to divide a cell enters a preparatory phase  $G_1$ . During this phase the cell is preparing for DNA replication. This involves the production of nucleotides and generation of the cellular machinery required for chromosomal duplication. During S phase the DNA replicates and the cell then enters a second gap phase  $G_2$  in preparation for mitosis, M phase. The majority of quiescent cells are in a separate stage named G<sub>0</sub>.



# Figure 1.3: A simplified schematic view of some steps in the regulation of the cell cycle

Induction of Cyclin D in response to a mitogenic stimulus leads to phosphorylation of pRb and entry to  $G_1$ . Release of the E2F protein stimulates Cyclin E binding of CDK2 and further phosphorylation of pRb. Phosphorylation of pRb allows entry to S phase by overcoming a critical restriction point (represented schematically above) and commits the cell to division.

Control of the cell cycle is intricate and involves the interaction of a number of cellular proteins [34, 39, 40, 42]. Important check points exist as the cell enters  $G_1$  and at the  $G_1$ -S boundary. The interplay between the cyclin and cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) family of proteins is key to this regulation [40]. The cellular levels of CDK does not change throughout the cell cycle but their activity as serine/threonine protein kinases is conferred by binding a specific cyclin protein, the level of which changes depending on the phase of the cell cycle [40]. An important restriction point exists at the  $G_1$  to S transition that is governed by phosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein (pRB). In the absence of mitogenic signals normal cells can not progress past this point [43]. It was believed that if the  $G_1$  to S restriction point is crossed, the cell is committed to divide whatever the extracellular conditions [40], but recent evidence suggests that a second restriction point exists during S phase, also

under mitogenic control [43]. Phosphorylation of pRB may be the final common action that allows cell cycle progression from G<sub>1</sub>, but many other proteins influence the G<sub>1</sub> to S transition. One such protein is p53 [34, 41, 42, 44-46]. The actions of p53 on the cell cycle are fundamental to its role as a tumour suppressor gene and will be examined in detail later. The primary role of p53 is to prevent the propagation of damaged DNA and in so doing p53 either acts to prevent cell cycle progression via the activity of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21<sup>WAF1</sup> [39], or commit the damaged cell to programmed cell death – apoptosis [39, 41, 44, 47-53].

#### 1.1.5 Apoptosis

Apoptosis exists as a genetically programmed system to dispose of cells [54]. It is a process that is intimately linked with proliferation as a means to control cell number and cell viability [54]. Indeed a number of the proteins indicated in cell cycle control are also involved in apoptotic signalling and the decision of the cell to commit suicide is based on a complex balance of interacting factors [43, 55, 56]. Initiation of apoptosis leads to the activation of caspase proteins. Caspases are a family of cysteine proteases that cleave target proteins at specific aspartate residues [57]. They are produced in cells as catalytically inactive zymogens and can be divided into two classes. The initiator caspases (2, 8, 9 and 10) are subject to autoactivation under apoptotic conditions and lead to the activation of effector caspases (3, 6 and 7) which begin the process of cellular degradation [57]. The caspase cascade can be initiated by two separate molecular pathways. The mitochondrial pathway involves the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria and the association of APAF-1 with procaspase-9 and formation of the apoptosome [57, 58]. It is the regulation of mitochondrial membrane permeability that governs the signal for apoptosis via this pathway [59]. Proteins such as p53, that respond to DNA damage, influence membrane permeability by increasing expression of the proapoptotic, pore-forming proteins such as BAX [50]. The second major pathway for apoptosis is via death receptor activation by ligand binding [60]. This leads to direct activation of caspase 8. There is also cross talk between the two activation pathways via BID [6]. BID is cleaved by caspase 8 and enhances cytochrome c release from the mitochondria. Once activated (by either pathway) the effector caspases are responsible for the

proteolytic cleavage of a wide spectrum of cellular targets and ultimately cell death [57].

In this section I have described how the diversity of cell phenotypes required in a complex organism, such as a human, is established during embryogenesis and how regulation of ongoing cell proliferation and cell death is fundamental for the prevention of an unwanted expansion in cell number – cancer. I will next describe how the genes implicated in the control of cell number and function in normal tissues can be affected to produce cancer and then describe in detail the activity of PAX3 and p53 and the evidence that suggests that there may be an important interaction between these two proteins in neural crest derived tumours.

# 1.2 Abnormal proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis - cancer

#### 1.2.1 Tumour suppressor genes and oncogenes

Cancer is a genetic disease [6, 33, 34, 38]. Tumour cells may exhibit a range of abnormalities, from single base mutations, through changes in the epigenetic environment, to changes in chromosome number [33]. Often multiple abnormalities will be apparent in a single tumour and more than one genetic aberration is required for tumourigenesis. The age-dependent incidence of a range of human tumours suggests that between four and seven independent rate-limiting events are necessary for tumour formation [61]. Whatever the biochemical basis the tumour cell will have gained a selective advantage over its normal counterparts. The cancer cell develops immortality, self sufficiency in growth signalling, resistance to antigrowth signals and the ability to promote angiogenesis and metastasize [33]. The cancer cell has established ways to bypass the normal control mechanisms governing proliferation, differentiation and programmed cell death [34].

Mutations occur mainly in two types of genes, (proto-) oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes [6]. Oncogenic products act along the pathways that drive cell proliferation [54]. Mutations lead to over activity often in a dominant fashion. Oncogenes have been described at all levels of the proliferative pathway from cell

surface related proteins such as HER-2 [62], to nuclear phosphoproteins such as C-MYC [63]. In contrast tumour suppressor genes act to inhibit cell proliferation, either by applying brakes or checks to the cell cycle or by stimulating cell death [64]. Usually both alleles will be mutated in a cancer cell (*TP53* being an important exception), for the product of one allele is normally sufficient for protein function [54].

In the majority of solid tumours there is a requirement for cooperation between oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes because a single genetic event is insufficient for tumour development. For example, the development of colonic adenocarcinoma follows a sequence from normal mucosa, through benign polyp to invasive carcinoma [65]. A similar sequence of genetic changes is often observed, involving the mutation of the mismatch repair gene *MSH2* or the *APC* gene [65]. This is followed by changes in methylation status and activation of *K*-*RAS* [65]. A common final pathway in the majority of colonic tumours is loss of p53 function [66, 67]. Taken together, evidence from human cancers and animal models suggest that tumour development proceeds via a process analogous to Darwinian evolution, in which a succession of genetic changes, each conferring a proliferative advantage, leads to the progressive conversion of normal human cells into cancer cells [33, 68].

#### 1.2.2 Embryonic genes as oncogenes

Oncogenes may have normal functions in the adult cell but in many cancers the activation of genes occurs that would not be normally observed in that tissue or at that stage in development [33]. Genes normally involved in embryological development can have potent oncogenic effects if expressed in the adult. An example is the commonest skin cancer in man, basal cell carcinoma (BCC). BCC is most often sporadic but a rare inherited disorder, Gorlin syndrome, predisposes individuals to BCC and a range of birth defects [69]. Gorlin syndrome is the result of a mutation in the human homologue of a Drosophila gene *patched* [35]. Genetic studies in Drosophila show that *patched* is part of the hedgehog signaling pathway, important in determining embryonic patterning and cell fate in multiple structures of the developing embryo [35]. Human *PATCHED* is mutated in sporadic as well as hereditary BCCs, and inactivation of this gene is probably a necessary, if not

sufficient, step for tumour formation [12, 35]. Another example of the aberrant activity of embryonic genes is observed in the Wnt signaling pathway. The highly regulated Wnt signaling cascade plays a decisive role during embryonic patterning and cell-fate determination [70]. The inappropriate expression of Wnt target genes, resulting from deregulation of this pathway, is also implicated in tumourigenesis [36, 71]. The Wnt canonical pathway regulates, through a core set of evolutionarily highly conserved proteins, the ability of the multi-functional protein and proto-oncogene  $\beta$ -*CATENIN* to activate the transcription of specific target genes [70]. In the absence of Wnt signals  $\beta$ -CATENIN is actively targeted for degradation. Mutations in *APC*, *AXIN* or  $\beta$ -CATENIN interfere with this targeted destruction, ultimately leading to cancer development [36, 71]. It is becoming clear that developmental genes are involved in the formation of many tumours, the *Wnt* family and *PATCHED* being two examples.

The PAX family of proteins are vital embryonic gene products that are also implicated in a range of solid tumours including renal cell carcinoma, malignant melanoma and neuroblastoma [10]. The *PAX* gene family is examined in detail in the following section.

#### 1.3 PAX3

#### 1.3.1 The PAX family

PAX proteins are defined by the presence of a 128 amino acid, DNA binding, paired domain (PD) [10, 72]. The PAX family includes 9 known proteins in mammals (Table 1.1) and homologues exist in worms, flies, frogs, fish and birds [10]. PAX family members are expressed throughout embryogenesis and play key regulatory roles in a number of developmental processes during mammalian ontogeny [72]. PAX6 is required for ocular development; heterozygous *PAX6* mutation in humans leads to blindness, aniridia, and cataracts. Homozygous *Pax6* mutation in mice leads to complete failure of ocular development [73, 74]. PAX6 and PAX4 are both involved in pancreatic endocrine cell development and loss of *Pax4* in mice leads to loss of insulin secreting  $\beta$  cells [10]. PAX5 is required for B-cell maturation and is capable of directly regulating transcription of several B-cell-specific genes. *Pax5* knockout mice have a block in B-cell development at the pro-B-cell stage [75]. Pax2 is expressed in the developing mouse kidney and neural structures. Pax2 associates with the Wilms tumour 1 gene and interplay between these two factors determines glomerular development. Loss of Pax2 leads to a variety of defects including absence of kidney, ureter and genital structures [76]. Conversely over expression of PAX2 in humans has been associated with multicystic dysplastic kidney disease, renal cell carcinoma and Wilms tumour [77]. In similar regulatory roles, PAX1 and PAX9 are associated with skeletal development and PAX8 with the thyroid gland [10].

*PAX* genes are also linked to cancer. Chromosomal translocations involving *PAX* genes have been described in a variety of cancers. A translocation involving *PAX5* results in large-cell lymphoma and a translocation involving *PAX8* and *PPAR gamma I* causes follicular carcinoma of the thyroid [10].

Gene	Stru	ictural domains <sup>a</sup>		I\$ <sup>0</sup>	Target organs/fissues	Chromosome	Associated human disease
	PD	OP	HDI	11D2/3	• • •		
PAXI	X	Х			Skeleton, thymus	20p11	
PAX9	X	X			Skeleton, cranio-facial,	14q12-q13	Oligodontia
לעות	v	v	v		CNR hideen	10	Dent dat mense
PAX2	X	Х	X		UND, KIDNEY	10q25	Renal-coloboma syndrome
PAX5	Х	Х	Х		CNS, B cells	9p13	Large cell lymphoma
PAXS	X	X	X		CNS, kidney, thyroid	2q12-q14	Thyroid dysplasia, thyroid follicu- lar carcinoma
PAX4	Х		Х	Х	Pancieas	7(	
PAX6	Х		Х	Х	CNS, eye, pancreas	11p13	Aniridia, cataracts
PAX3	X	X	X	X	CNS, neural crest, skeletal muscle	2q35	Waardenburg syndrome, ihabdomyosaicoma
PAX7	X	X	X	X	CNS, cranio-facial, skeletal muscle	1p36,2	Rhabdomyosarcoma

#### Table 1.1: The PAX gene family in mammals.

<sup>a</sup> Structural domains include the paired domain (PD), octapeptide motif (OP), the first helix of the homeodomain (HD1) and the helix-turn-helix motif of the homeodomain (HD 2/3). X denotes presence of the domain. <sup>b</sup> Human chromosome map position.

(Adapted from Chi and Epstein, Trends in Genetics Vol.18 No1 January 2002 [10])

#### 1.3.2 PAX3 structure and function

PAX3 is a key regulator of mammalian development. In mice Pax3 is expressed in the developing neural tube, neural crest and migrating myoblasts, suggesting a role for this transcription factor in neurogenesis and myogenesis [72]. This has been confirmed with the discovery that the *Pax3* gene is mutated in independent alleles of the mouse *Splotch* mutant [78, 79]. Homozygous *Splotch* mice suffer from a complete lack of limb musculature, severe neural tube defects and cardiac malformations in addition to an absent enteric nervous system that together lead to embryonic lethality by midgestation [10, 20, 80, 81]. Mutations in the human *PAX3* gene are associated with Waardenburg syndrome, a condition characterised by a sensorineuronal (cochlear) deafness and pigment disturbances with occasional limb deformity [82]. Pax3 is down-regulated in later development and its expression is restricted to a small number of highly specialised stem cells such as melanocytes in the bulge region of hair follicles [83]. In this setting Pax3 acts simultaneously to initiate a melanogenic cascade while acting downstream to prevent terminal differentiation, thus maintaining the undifferentiated phenotype of a lineage restricted stem cell [83].

Control of Pax3 expression in the embryo is complex and involves extracellular signaling pathways as well as networks of interacting transcription factors [84]. *In vitro* evidence suggests that Pax3 interacts with members of the Six, Eya and Dach family of transcriptional regulators in early muscle development. In *Drosophila* these genes form a complex regulatory network, including positive feedback regulation of each others' expression [84]. *In vivo* experiments have shown the expression of Pax3 in the somite to be dependent on ectodermal cell contact which can be rescued by ectopic expression of Dach2 [84]. Signaling from the overlying ectoderm in the form of Wnt ligand binding is responsible for Pax3 expression [85]. Extracellular signals are also required for Pax3 expression in the neural crest and recent evidence suggests that this may be mediated by the transcription factor Tead2 [86]. Tead2, and its co-activator Yap65, are co-expressed with Pax3 in the dorsal neural tube and mutation of the Tead2 binding site in the context of Pax3 transgenic constructs abolishes neural expression [86]. Although the number of recognized Pax3 regulatory proteins is limited it is likely that Pax3 transcription is under the influence of a much greater

number of factors, because the five prime Pax3 regulatory region contains multiple positive and negative *cis*-acting elements [87]. Expression of Pax3 in the developing embryo leads to the transcription of a range of target genes dependent on cellular context. In the skeletal muscle lineage Pax3 up-regulates c-Met and members of the MyoD family as previously discussed. In the context of the neural crest Pax3 has been shown to interact physically with Sox10 to transactivate a c-Ret promoter [88]. c-Ret is a protein required for enteric nervous system development, a tissue derived from the neural crest. Pax3 and Sox10 bind independently to a MITF enhancer but cause synergistic activation of MITF reporter constructs in vitro. Mutation of PAX3, SOX10 or MITF is sufficient to cause Waardenburg syndrome [88]. PAX3 activation of MITF is also required to maintain melanocytes stem cells in the adult [83]. Interogation of potential PAX3 target genes expressed during development and in the PAX3 associated paediatric malignancy alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma identified six genes that contain *cis*-regulatory elements bound by PAX3. TM2A, FATH, FLT1, *TGFA*, *BVES*, and *EN2*, were identified as part of the PAX3 regulatory circuitry during embryogenesis and tumour formation [9]. These genes vary in activity from cell surface receptors (FLT1), to other homeobox proteins (EN2) [89]. Over expression of PAX3 by stable transfection of a PAX3 expression vector in a medulloblastoma cell line caused a change in expression level of 270 possible target genes when assessed by microarray [90]. Using confirmatory molecular biology techniques STX, a gene required for neural cell adhesion, was identified as a significant biological downstream target of PAX3 [90]. Together these data suggest that the range of PAX3 targets is diverse and dependent on cell lineage and the expression of other transcription factors.

PAX3 consists of 479 amino acids and has a molecular weight of 52967 Da [82]. In addition to the paired domain, PAX3 is one of four PAX proteins (PAX3, 4, 6 and 7) to contain a second DNA-binding domain the paired-type homeodomain (HD) (Fig. 1.4) [91]. The two DNA-binding domains are separated by a linker segment that contains a highly conserved octapeptide motif of unknown function [92-94]. A proline-serine-threonine rich (PST-rich) transcriptional regulatory domain resides at the C-terminus of the protein [93] and together with the octapeptide motif this is responsible for protein-protein interactions to recruit additional transcription factors required for the transcription of target genes [95].

The high resolution crystal structures of the PD and HD have been solved for the closely related *Drosophila* Paired protein [96, 97]. The PD contains two structurally independent subdomains (PAI and RED), each comprising three  $\alpha$ -helices that can form a helix-turn-helix motif and can either act independently or cooperatively in the recognition of DNA [93]. A DNA recognition sequence for the PD has been identified as 5'- GTCAC – 3' [98]. The HD also comprises three  $\alpha$ -helices that form a helix-turn-helix motif [96]. Interaction of the HD with DNA occurs principally through the N-terminal arm and the third helix and paired type HDs are characterised by their ability to cooperatively dimerise on palindromic sites of the type 5' – TAAT(N)<sub>2-3</sub>ATTA -3' [99]. Both the PD and HD can bind to cognate DNA sequences when expressed individually, but genetic and biochemical data indicates that the two domains are functionally interdependent in the intact PAX3 protein [95]. The *Splotch-delayed* (Sp<sup>d</sup>) mouse mutant bears a single mutation in the PD (G42R) which, in addition to abrogating DNA binding by the PD, impairs DNA binding by the HD [100]. Deletion of helix 2 of the PAI subdomain on the background of the  $Sp^{d}$ mutation has been shown to restore DNA binding by the HD [93]. The PD has been shown to modulate DNA binding specificity and the dimerisation potential of the HD [93]. Cysteine scanning mutagenesis studies have shown that modification of a single cysteine within the PD (Cys-82) disables DNA binding by both the PD and HD [101]. Furthermore, modification of a single cysteine in the HD (V263C) abrogates binding by both domains; this led the authors to conclude that the PD and HD do not function as independent DNA binding molecules in PAX3 but seem functionally interdependent [101]. Investigation of point mutations in both the PD and HD observed in Waardenburg syndrome confirm this interdependency. Modelling of these mutations on the three-dimensional structure of the Drosophila Paired protein shows that these mutations cluster at the DNA interface, suggesting that a series of DNA contacts are essential for DNA binding by the PD and HD of PAX3 [102].



#### Figure 1.4: Structural organisation of PAX3

PAX3 consists of a number of structural domains as indicated; ID = inhibitiry domain, PD = paired domain, OM = octapeptide motif, HD = homeodomain, TA = Transactivation domain.

PAX3 has oncogenic potential and is able to transform fibroblasts in culture [14]. PAX3, or a PAX3-FKHR fusion protein that is expressed as a consequence of a chromosomal translocation t(2;13) (q35;q14), are involved in the suppression of apoptosis in embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma and paediatric alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma respectively [103]. The translocation identified in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma leads to the juxtaposition of PAX3 with a forkhead domain gene *FKHR* [94, 104]. This translocation leads to the expression of a fusion protein containing the N-terminal DNA binding domains of PAX3 and the C-terminal activation domain of FKHR [104]. Treatment of these cells with PAX3 specific antisense oligonucleotides (AS-ODN) leads to loss of cell viability via an apoptotic pathway [103]. Cell death in this system is also observed after down-regulation of wild type PAX3 or PAX7 implicating PAX proteins in tumour cell survival. PAX3 mRNA is detectable in 77% of cultured primary malignant melanomas, in which expression increases with advancing tumour stage, and treatment of these cells with PAX3 AS-ODN leads to apoptotic cell death [105]. A recent report by He et al. demonstrated that PAX3 also plays a role in resistance to chemotherapy in malignant melanoma [31]. PAX3 antisense resulted in a modest increase in the number of p53 immunoreactive cells, though whether p53 was required for the chemosensitisation was not investigated. PAX3 is expressed in neuroblastoma cells and expression is highest in cells that express the oncogene *N-MYC*, as *PAX3* is a direct transcriptional target of N-MYC [106]. Down-regulation of PAX3 in murine neuroblastoma cells leads to rapid morphological differentiation [107].

#### 1.4 p53

The *TP53* tumour suppressor gene is fundamental to our understanding of cancer. The p53 protein is a 393 amino acid protein that acts via transcription dependent and independent mechanisms to induce growth arrest and/or apoptosis in response to a range of cellular stresses [41, 108]. Ionising radiation, ultraviolet light, hypoxia, and aberrant growth signalling lead to rapid accumulation of p53 protein and activation of downstream targets such as BAX and p21<sup>WAF1</sup> [41, 46, 50]. In this way the p53 protein plays an important role in preventing cancer development by arresting or killing potential tumour cells [45]. During tumour development there is a high selection pressure for p53 network silencing; *TP53* being the most commonly inactivated gene in human cancer [41, 45, 109]. *TP53* is mutated in over 60% of human cancers and the p53 pathway is believed to be abrogated in most, if not all, of the remainder [41]. Suppression of p53 activity appears to be fundamental to tumour development.

The p53 protein has a defined structural organisation (Fig. 1.5) [110]. The aminoterminus contains the acidic transactivation domain and the HDM2 protein binding site. The central region (amino acids 100-300) contains the DNA binding domain. This is the target for 90% of p53 mutations found in human cancers [111]. The tetramerisation domain consists of a beta-strand, followed by an alpha-helix necessary for dimerisation [112]. A nuclear export signal is localized in this oligomerisation domain. The carboxy-terminus of p53 (356-393) contains a non-specific DNA binding domain that binds to damaged DNA [112]. This region is also involved in down-regulation of DNA binding by the central domain [110]. The p53 protein binds DNA as a homotetramer and this oligomerisation is required for the tumour suppressor activity of p53, as oligomerisation-deficient mutants of p53 cannot suppress the growth of tumour cell lines [113]. There is extensive post-translational modification of p53 with at least 24 recognised amino acids targeted for phosphorylation, acetylation, sumoylation or ubiquitination [110]. Distinct signal transduction pathways activate p53-dependent transcription through several common post-translational modifications yet the consequences of p53 activation are both damage dependent and cell-type dependent [110]. Recent studies indicate that several p53 post-translational modifications appear to modulate its transcriptional activity in a promoter and cell type specific manner [110]. It appears that multiple sites targeted by an integrated network of signaling pathways highly sensitive to genotoxic stresses must be modified to yield a functional p53 [110].



#### Figure 1.5: Structural organisation of p53

The p53 protein consists of an N-terminal transcription activation domain, a core DNA binding domain and a C-terminal tetramerisatioin domain, within which lie three nuclear localisation signals (NLS) and a nuclear export signal (not shown). HDM2 binds to p53 at the N-terminus, amino acids 18-23 forming the minimal binding site [114].

The p53 protein is a transcription factor that is normally present in very low levels in the cell but is able to respond rapidly to cellular stress [41, 45]. The level of p53 must be tightly regulated in the cell, for on the one hand it has to allow normal growth and proliferation, but on the other hand p53 is responsible for tumour suppression. While most tumour suppressor genes are inactivated by mutations leading to absence of protein synthesis (or production of a truncated product), more than 80% of TP53 alterations are missence mutations that lead to the synthesis of a stable full-length protein [115]. This selection to maintain mutant p53 in tumour cells is believed to be required for both a dominant negative activity, to inhibit wild-type p53 expressed by the remaining allele, and for gain of function that transforms mutant p53 into a dominant oncogene [116-118]. Although the majority of mutations are localised to the DNA binding domain of p53, mutant p53 proteins exhibit structural, biochemical and biological heterogeneity [111]. Certain p53 mutants are able to transactivate genes involved in proliferation or cell survival and these sites differ from those bound by wild-type p53 [111]. Other p53 mutants are able to interact directly with cellular proteins involved in tumour progression [119]. It is becoming increasing important to

know not only whether, but also how p53 has been disturbed in a cancer. Although p53 is directly altered in the majority of human tumours it remains as wild-type in up to 40% [41]. There is evidence that the p53 network is suppressed in these tumours and this can occur in a variety of ways. For example, it has recently been shown that a single nucleotide polymorphism in the *Mdm2* (the mouse homologue of *HDM2*) promoter leads to higher affinity for the transcription factor Sp1 leading to increased *Mdm2* RNA and protein. This results in both an increase in tumour incidence and lessening of the time to tumour onset in humans [120]. This strongly suggests that elevated levels of HDM2 expression can have a significant impact in dampening the efficiency of tumour suppression by p53. The p53 protein activity can be suppressed in many other ways including; binding to viral proteins (HPV E6 in cervical carcinoma) [121], deletion of genes involved in HDM2 suppression (p14<sup>ARF</sup> in breast, brain and lung tumours) and mislocalisation of p53 to the cytoplasm (breast cancer and neuroblastoma) [41]. In these circumstances the *TP53* gene is normal.

#### 1.4.1 Activation of p53

Although regulation of p53 at the level of transcription and translation is well documented [45], it is clear that these are not the most important points at which p53 protein levels are determined. The level of p53 in the cell is regulated most closely by control of the rate at which it is degraded, rather than the rate at which it is made [45, 122, 123]. This is mediated by a range of proteins including COP1 [124] and PIRH2 [125], but predominantly by the activity of the p53 transcriptional target HDM2 [126]. The HDM2 protein is a ubiquitin ligase that targets p53 for nuclear export and degradation by the proteasome [45, 127]. Thus a negative feedback loop is created, p53 promoting the transcription of its own negative regulator. Evidence for the importance of HDM2 as a p53 regulator is suggested from Mdm2 deficient mice; embryos die in early gestation in a manner that is p53 dependent [128, 129]. Degradation of p53 in response to HDM2 binding is preceded by ubiquitination of specific lysine residues in the C-terminus of the protein [130, 131]; although more recent data suggest that lysine residues within the DNA binding domain are also involved [132]. The ubiquitination of p53 by HDM2 assists in the nuclear export of the p53 protein by activation of the p53 nuclear export signal [133]. HDM2 does not

only negatively regulate p53 by its activity as an ubiquitin ligase enzyme. By virtue of the position of the binding site for HDM2 within the DNA transcription activation domain of p53, HDM2 can directly inhibit p53 dependent transcription [134]. Furthermore a putative inhibitory domain within HDM2 is able to repress basal transcription from p53 responsive promoters [135]. The fundamental interaction between p53 and HDM2; the up-regulation of p53 in response to cellular stress leading to direct transcriptional activation of HDM2 and the eventual destruction of p53 by the proteasome; is a target for the actions of many p53 activating cellular mechanisms.

The activation of p53 in response to cellular stress should be considered on the background of a complex interplay of cell signals and competing pathways. Many protein kinases have been shown to phosphorylate p53 in response to a variety of signals and may have a positive or negative effect on stabilisation depending on the site of phosphorylation [110]. Seven serines and two threonines in the N-terminal domain of p53, specifically Ser 6, 9, 15, 20, 33, 37, 46 and Thr18, and 81, are phosphorylated in response to exposing cells to ionizing radiation or UV light [110]. The N-terminus appears to be a hot spot of p53 modification as it contains the transcription activation domain and the HDM2 binding region of the protein. Although post-translational modifications at most sites occur in response to stress, clear differences in responses at individual sites to different agents have been observed. For Ser15, increased phosphorylation has been observed in response to a range of chemotherapeutic agents [110]. Moreover, in human fibroblasts undergoing replicative senescence or RAS-induced premature senescence, Ser15 phosphorylation was also significantly increased [136], suggesting that phosphorylation at this site may be one of the critical signals through which the p53 response to stress is regulated [110]. A model for stabilisation and activation of p53 via phosphorylation of the N-terminus has been proposed [45]. Phosphorylation in response to cellular stress disrupts HDM2 binding and also prevents p53 nuclear export and degradation. In addition disruption of HDM2 binding to p53 (in particular by Ser 15 phosphorylation) permits enhanced interactions with transcriptional co-activators such as p300/CBP which can acetylate residues in the C-terminus and promote activation of transcription [45]. It is well known that the last 30 amino acids of the Cterminal domain negatively regulate sequence-specific binding by the p53 central core

domain [137]. A range of post-translational modifications of the C-terminus of p53 may, directly or indirectly, relieve DNA binding inhibition by the C-terminus through changes in the binding of interacting proteins that alter p53 structure [110]. Loss of basic charges upon acetylation or sumoylation or addition of negative charges upon phosphorylation could disrupt nonspecific binding to DNA or induce conformational changes that prevent interactions between the C-terminus and the core DNA binding domain [110].

In response to DNA damage caused by ionising radiation the interaction between p53 and HDM2 is inhibited by phosphorylation of amino acids within the HDM2 binding region of p53 by the protein kinases ATM, CHK1 and CHK2 [41, 45, 122]. In this context a single break in DNA can be sufficient to trigger a rise in p53 levels [41]. The activity of ATM, CHK1 and CHK2 is not only confined to phosphorylation of p53. Phosphorylation of serine 20 of p53 by these proteins is important in disruption of HDM2-p53 binding but in addition phosphorylation of HDM2 also occurs [45].

Mechanisms also exist to prevent ubiquitin dependant degradation of p53 in response to cellular stress. The tumour suppressor genes *TSG101* and *c-ABL* both have a negative effect on ubiquitination [122]. Other proteins remove ubiquitin from the p53 protein directly; these include a herpes virus-associated ubiquitin-specific protease (HAUSP) [122]. HAUSP has a dynamic effect on the p53-HDM2 pathway for on the one hand HAUSP is responsible for direct deubiquitination of p53, but on the other it is required for HDM2 stability [138].

p53 is stabilised in response to the deregulated activity of many oncogenes via the nuclear protein ARF (p19<sup>ARF</sup> in mice/p14<sup>ARF</sup> in humans). The mechanism of action of the ARF protein is disputed, but there is evidence that ARF acts to sequester HDM2 to the nucleolus thus preventing binding to p53 [41]. This does not seem to be the only mechanism however, as ARF appears able to stabilise p53 without nucleolar sequestration [139]. The importance of the ARF protein has been established in *INK4α/ARF*-deficient mice (the p19<sup>ARF</sup> protein is transcribed from this locus) that develop a range of tumours [6].
The preceding examples are not the only mechanisms of p53 activation. Down regulation of *HDM2* expression, phosphorylation of HDM2, down-regulation of free ubiquitin and competition for the HDM2 binding site by transcriptional co-activators such as ASPPs [140] are examples of alternate mechanisms of activation. ASPP proteins associate with p53 via the DNA binding domain and influence sequence specific transcriptional regulation of p53 target genes [51, 52]. Other co-activators such as E2F1 and YB1 have been documented to have a similar effect [141, 142].

### 1.4.3 Localisation of p53

Localisation of p53 to the nucleus is fundamental to its activity as a transcription factor. The C-terminus of p53 contains a number of nuclear localisation signals (NLS) and these contribute to the active nuclear import of the protein [45, 127]. In addition there are two nuclear export signals (NES), one in the N-terminus as already described, and the other in the C-terminus tetramerization domain [112]. It is clear that p53 is exported back to the cytoplasm but the exact mechanism and purpose of this export remain controversial. HDM2 was originally considered necessary for nuclear export via ubiquitination of lysine residues in the C-terminus. These residues are masked when p53 is in its active tetrameric state and may be further concealed by binding of ZBP-89, a protein that inhibits nuclear export [143]. Thus the transcriptionally active p53 is protected from nuclear export. It is now clear that although important, nuclear export is not dependent on HDM2. HDM2 may only be responsible for mono-ubiquitination of p53 and therefore another factor may be necessary for poly-ubiquitination and recognition by the proteasome [45, 122, 127]. A p53-associated Parkin-like protein (PARC) has recently been put forward as a candidate for p53 polyubiquitinisation [144]. In addition, PARC has been implicated as a cytoplasmic anchor for p53 (in some tumours p53 is inactivated by cytoplasmic sequestration).

### 1.4.4 The cellular response to p53 – repair or apoptosis?

The active p53 protein has a range of biological functions, the best documented of which is the ability to bind specific DNA sequences and initiate gene

transcription. The majority of naturally occurring p53 mutants have mutations within this DNA binding region underlining the significance of this function [41]. The genes that are transcribed in response to p53 have a range of functions including cell cycle arrest, induction of apoptosis, inhibition of angiogenesis and influence on genetic stability [41, 137].

Cell cycle arrest precedes apoptosis and is one of the first effects of induction of p53. The p53 responsive gene p21<sup>WAF1</sup> is an inhibitor of CDKs [39]. p21<sup>WAF1</sup> is able to provide a block to the G<sub>1</sub>-S and S-M transitions of the cell cycle. Other genetic targets such as *REPRIMO* and *14-3-3* $\sigma$  help to maintain a block at the G<sub>2</sub> stage [41].

The induction of apoptosis by p53 follows expression of mitochondrial related proteins such as BAX (a pro-apoptotic member of the BCL-2 family), NOXA and P53AIPI [41, 45]. These genes possess direct p53 response elements and may induce apoptosis by altering mitochondrial membrane permeability. Recently the BAX related BH3 only protein PUMA (p53 up-regulated mediator of apoptosis) has been identified as a direct mediator of apoptosis in response to p53 activation [49].

It would seem logical that the cell would be forced directly from cell cycle arrest to apoptosis if all these p53 responsive genes were transcribed at similar rates upon p53 activation. The cell is able to modify these effects to produce an appropriate outcome. This is based in-part upon cell lineage, location and genetic history; however, other transcriptional cofactors modify the p53 response. The p53 protein is believed to cause the transcription of selected targets based on these associations. The ASPP family of cofactors interact with p53 within the DNA binding domain and enhance the affinity of p53 for apoptotic targets [45, 127]. There is direct competition for the ASPP binding site of p53 with the inhibitor of ASPP (iASPP) [141, 145]. They are supported in this role by E2F1 which, in addition to enhancing the affinity of p53 for pro-apoptotic target gene promoters, also leads to the phosphorylation of p53 [141]. Conversely expression of YB1 inhibits the ability of p53 to transactivate pro-death genes [141]. The availability of these cofactors may determine the response of the cell to p53 activation via cell cycle arrest and/or apoptosis.

36

### 1.5 PAX3 and p53

The induction of apoptosis in response to *PAX3* specific antisense oligonucleotides in melanoma and rhabdomyosarcoma suggests a link between PAX3 function and inhibition of apoptosis [31, 103, 105]. Further support for a direct link between PAX3 and apoptosis comes from *Splotch* mice; neural tube defects in *Sp/Sp* embryos are associated with neuroepithelial apoptosis [146]. The recent finding that the embryonic lethality seen in *Sp/Sp* embryos can be abrogated by crossing into a *TP53* null background or inhibiting p53 function via chemical inhibition has shown a direct link between PAX3 and p53 in embryology [20]. Indeed the sole function of PAX3 in the neural crest may be to keep p53 down-regulated and prevent apoptosis until a specific developmental program is completed [20].

Tumour cells gain a selective advantage over their normal counterparts as a result of mutations in a number to classes of genes. These genes often affect cell signalling, cell cycle progression and immune recognition [33]. One of the commonest abnormalities in human cancer is loss of p53 function [34, 41, 45, 111, 123, 147]. This is often a late occurrence in the malignant transformation of the cell. A lack of p53 function leads to loss of cell cycle arrest, the accumulation of further mutations and a failure to undergo apoptosis. In the majority of neural crest derived tumours p53 is not mutated [148-150]. In malignant melanoma p53 has been demonstrated to be wild type in 34 of 34 biopsy specimens by PCR [148] and in a study of malignant melanoma cell lines five out of six retained wild type p53 [47, 105]. Expression of wild-type p53 ranges from 35% in primary lesions to 70% in metastatic disease but the mutation rate remains low [149]. In neuroblastoma two separate studies have reported p53 mutations in 0 of 29 [151] and 0 of 38 [152] primary tumour specimens and a further study has shown significant p53 mutation at tumour relapse after combined chemo-radiotherapy [153]. Furthermore, perturbation of the p53 response has been observed in *N-MYC* amplified neuroblastoma cell lines [153]. In the absence of p53 inactivating mutations other mechanisms are likely to be involved in p53 suppression [41, 109]. The low frequency of TP53 mutation in melanoma and neuroblastoma tumours, which are derived from cells with a common origin in the neural crest [148, 152], is a striking example of the influence that cell type-specific

characteristics play in defining the selection pressure for *TP53* mutation during cancer development [109].

Other PAX proteins have been shown to inhibit p53 expression via transcriptional repression. PAX2, PAX5 and PAX8 inhibit p53 by binding to the *TP53* promoter [154]. In human astrocytoma the level of p53 correlates inversely with PAX5 expression via this mechanism. Transcriptional repression would not seem to be the mechanism of p53 down-regulation by PAX3. There is no identifiable PAX3 binding site in a 530 base pair (b.p.) upstream region of the murine *tp53* [20]. *Splotch* mice are observed to have high levels of p53 protein compared to their normal counterparts suggesting that PAX3 is able to repress p53 protein levels in the embryo [20]. Together, the experimental data from murine development and cancer cell lines raise the possibility that PAX3 may be promoting the survival of a defined subset of human tumours through the suppression of the p53 pathway. It remains unknown if PAX3 expression in neural crest derived tumours causes repression of p53 function.

### 2. Aims and objectives

This study is based on four key observations:

- 1. PAX3 inhibits p53 function in the embryo
- 2. PAX3 is a survival factor for neural crest derived tumours
- 3. Neural crest derived tumours undergo apoptosis when PAX3 is down-regulated
- 4. Neural crest derived tumours have low rates of p53 mutation.

These findings lead to the formulation of a working hypothesis:

The PAX3 proto-oncogene inhibits p53 function in neural crest derived tumors

At the outset of this project little was known about the relationship between PAX3 and p53. This meant that the initial aims of the project were broad but could be broken down into manageable sections for study. The aims were:

- 1. To determine whether PAX3 inhibits p53 function in an *in vitro* cancer cell model.
- 2. To define the regions of each protein required for this inhibition
- 3. To define the mechanisms of inhibition of p53 function by PAX3
- 4. To determine the biological significance of p53 repression by PAX3 in neural crest derived tumours

### 3. Methods

### 3.1 Cell lines, culture conditions and cell passage

Cells were cultured at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5-10% CO<sub>2</sub> depending on the cell line. H1299 and UACC-62 cells were grown in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% v/v foetal bovine serum and 1% v/v penicillin /streptomycin /glutamine. All other cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% v/v foetal bovine serum and 1% v/v penicillin /streptomycin /glutamine. Medium was prewarmed to 37 °C before use. Culture medium was renewed every 48 hours.

Cell passage was performed by removing the existing medium and washing the cells with a calcium and magnesium free Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS). A solution of Trypsin / EDTA was applied and the cells were incubated at 37 °C for 3-5 minutes or until all the cells had become detached. Cells were typically replated in growth medium at 1:10 dilution.

Greiner UK supplied all tissue culture plastic ware

From Invitrogen life technologies UK:	
Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS)	Cat. No. 14170088
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM)	Cat. No. 41966029
RPMI 1640 Medium	Cat. No. 21875-034
Trypsin-EDTA	Cat. No. 25300054
Penicillin-Streptomycin-Glutamine	Cat. No. 10378016
-(100X) Liquid with 10000 U Penicillin, 100	000 μg Strepromycin, 29.2 g L-
Glutamine/ml	

From Autogen Bioclear UK: Foetal Bovine Serum

Cat. No. 12230687

Freezing mixture:

Name	ECACC No.	ATCC No.	Tissue	Reference
IMR 32	-	CCL-127	Human	[155]
			neuroblastoma	
Kelly	92110411		Human	[156]
			neuroblastoma	
NIH3T3		CRL-1658	Mouse	[157]
			embryonic	
			fibroblast	
H1299	-	CRL-5803	Human non-	[158]
			small cell lung	
			cancer	
UACC-62	C-62 Available from the DCTDC repository of the National Cancer Institute U.S.A	Human	[159]	
		malignant		
			melanoma	

20% v/v Dimethyl Sulphoxide (DMSO) in Foetal Bovine Serum

### Table 3.1: Cell lines used in this study

ECACC = European Collection of Cell Cultures ATCC = American Type Culture Collection

### 3.2 Mutagenesis

PAX3 deletion mutants were constructed by inserting stop codons in the coding sequence of the PAX3 bacterial expression vector pJ7PAX3. Nucleotide mutations were inserted into the same vector to produce PAX3 protein mutants corresponding to the known amino acid changes observed in Splotch delayed mice (SD42) and Waardenberg syndrome in humans (WS265 and N47H). Mutagenesis was conducted using the QuikChange XL Site-Directed mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene, UK) according to the manufacturers' instructions using the primers shown in Table 3.2.

PAX3 mutant name	Primer sequence
PAX3 Stop34	CCACCCCTCTTGGCtagGGCCGAGTCAACC
PAX3 Stop222	CAGCGCAGGAGCtgaACCACCTTCACGGC
PAX3 Stop281	CTGGAGCCAATtagCTGATGGCTTTCAACC
PAX3 SD42	CGAGTCAACCAGCTCcGAGGAGTATTTATC
PAX3 WS265	GAGGCCCGAGTGCAGtTCTGGTTTAGCAAC
PAX3 N47H	GGAGGAGTATTTATCcACGGCAGGCCTCTGCC

## Table 3.2: Oligonucleotide primers designed to generate specificPAX3 mutations

A series of oligonucleotide primers were designed from the published PAX3 nucleotide sequence to generate specific PAX3 mutations as shown. Nucleotides shown in lower case indicate stop codons for Stop 34, Stop 222 and Stop 281 and single nucleotide substitutions for SD42 and WS265. Only the forward primer is shown. The other primer used was reverse complement to that shown.

### 3.3 Small-scale preparation of plasmid DNA (minipreps)

Selected bacterial colonies were picked in sterile conditions and inoculated into 5 ml of LB medium containing the appropriate antibiotic. The cultures were incubated at 37 °C overnight with vigorous shaking (220r.p.m). The QIAprep Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, UK) was used for purification of plasmid DNA as per manufacturers' instructions.

Luria-Bertani (LB) broth

25 g/L LB-Broth powder (Merck)

LB plate media

37 g/L LB-plate powder (Merck)

### 3.4 Large-scale preparation of plasmid DNA (maxipreps)

The QIAGEN Plasmid Maxi kit (Qiagen, UK) was used for large-scale purification of plasmid DNA from bacterial cultures (100 ml-500 ml). The concentration of DNA was determined by standard UV spectrophotometry.

### 3.5 Transfection method

The cationic lipid Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) was used for both transient and stable transfections. Cells were plated the day before transfection or grown to 90% confluency in the appropriate sized dish. Growth medium was changed the day before transfection in all cases. A ratio of 1:2.5, DNA (in  $\mu$ g) to Lipofectamine (in  $\mu$ l), was used for all transfections. On the day of transfection the appropriate amount of DNA was suspended in Opti-MEM reduced serum medium. In a separate tube the appropriate amount of Lipofectamine 2000 was also suspended in Opti-MEM. After 5 minutes the DNA and Lipofectamine 2000 mixtures were combined and incubated for a further 20 minutes at room temperature. The mixture was then added to the cells.

### 3.6 Reporter gene assay

Reporter gene assays were based on the transfection of the firefly luciferase gene under the control of a test promoter. Changes in transcription of the firefly luciferase gene were measured as changes in light production compared with an internal control plasmid. Cells were plated the day before transfection at a density appropriate to achieve 90% confluency on the day of transfection in 96 well plates. Cells were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). A constant amount of reporter gene (100 ng per well for most experiments) was transfected into the cells with varying amounts of p53 and PAX3 expression plasmids. The total amount of plasmid transfected was normalised with an empty vector construct such as pJ7. A constant amount (20 ng per well) of the renilla control plasmid pRLSV40 was included in each transfection to control for transfection efficiency and non-specific effects on transcription. 48 hours post transfection luciferase and renilla activity were determined using the Dual-Glo system (Promega) as per manufacturers instructions and a Topcount microplate luminometer (Packard). Figure 3.1 demonstrates validation of the use of the renilla internal control plasmid under experimental conditions. There is no significant repression of renilla activity in the presence of PAX3 plasmid up to 100ng (the highest amount used in any reporter assay).



## Figure 3.1: Renilla activity is not altered by addition of up to 100ng PAX3 plasmid under test conditions

Human neuroblastoma IMR 32 cells were transfected with 100 ng of Baxluc or pGL3Basic as indicated, 20 ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection. Increasing amounts of pJ7 PAX3 was added as shown. Total amounts of transfected plasmid were equalized using empty pJ7 vector.

### 3.7 Preparation of cell pellets for protein and RNA extraction

Plates of cells were removed from the incubator and placed on ice. The growth medium was removed and the cells were washed with ice cold PBS. The PBS wash was removed and 1ml per plate ice cold PBS placed on the cells. The cells were scraped into suspension using a disposable cell scraper or the plunger from a sterile syringe of the appropriate size. The suspension was removed to a 1ml eppendorf and centrifuged at 1000 r.p.m at 4 °C for 4 minutes to pellet the cells. The supernatant was then removed and the cell pellets either snap frozen or immediately subjected to the appropriate assay. Pellets were placed at -70 °C for long term storage

Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) 30X concentrate (2.5 L)

600 g NaCl 15 g KCl 108 g Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 18 g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 2.5 l H<sub>2</sub>O

### 3.8 Urea whole cell lysis

Urea lysis was used to extract total cellular protein from mammalian cells for western blotting. Cell pellets were prepared as previously described. The cell pellets were resuspended in two volumes of urea lysis buffer and allowed to lyse for 15 minutes on ice. The mixture was then centrifuged at 11000 r.p.m at 4 °C for 10 minutes. The supernatant (containing cellular protein) was transferred to a 0.5 ml eppendorf and snap frozen and stored at -70 °C or analysed immediately.

### 3.9 Protein quantitation

Total protein quantitation was estimated by comparison of sample protein light absorbance at 595 nm using Bio-Rad protein quantitation reagent (Bio-Rad, UK) against known BSA standards. A 1 in 5 dilution of Bio-Rad reagent was made and aliquoted into 1 ml plastic cuvettes (BDH Laboratory supplies). 1  $\mu$ l of the protein sample was then added to each cuvette and mixed thoroughly. Each sample was quantified in duplicate. Absorbance was measured in a spectrophotometer and protein concentration calculated against a BSA standard curve.

# 3.10 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Protein separation was conducted by SDS-PAGE prior to further analysis. Pre-cast 4-15% polyacrylamide gels were used throughout (Bio-Rad, UK). Protein concentration was estimated using Bio-Rad's protein assay reagent as described. SDS-PAGE sample buffer was then added to each sample to standardised concentration between samples. Samples were heated to 95 °C for 5 minutes and equal volumes loaded into individual wells. Electrophoresis was conducted at 175 V for 50 minutes or until the dye front had reached the bottom of the gel.

4X SE	OS-PAGE sample buffer	Final concentration
	EDTA	10 mM
	SDS	4% w/v
	Glycerol	20% v/v

Tris pH 6.0	20 mM
Bromophenol Blue	to colour
DTT	200 mM
Dithiothreitol (DTT)	
1 M stock made in 0.01 M Sodium Acetate pH 5.2	
10X Running Buffer	
Tris Base	30 g
Glycine	1 <b>44</b> g
SDS	10 g
H <sub>2</sub> O	to 1 L

### 3.11 Western blotting

Proteins separated by SDS-PAGE were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Hybond-C, Amersham) using a mini-protean II transfer unit at 100 V for 1 hour according to the manufacturers instructions. The membrane was then rinsed with Tween 20 0.1% v/v/PBS and transfer efficiency checked by Indian ink staining. The membrane was rinsed again in Tween 20 0.1% v/v/PBS and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature (or overnight at 4 °C) with gentle rolling in 5% non-fat milk (Marvel) in Tween 20 0.1% v/v/PBS to block any subsequent non-specific antibody binding. The blocking mixture was discarded and the membrane incubated with primary antibody at the appropriate concentration in 3% w/v milk/Tween 20 0.1%v/v/PBS at room temperature (or 37 °C for anti PAX3 antibody) for 1 hour with gentle rolling. The membrane was then washed in Tween 20 0.1% v/v/PBS 3 times for 5 minutes. The membrane was then incubated with the appropriate secondary horse radish peroxidase conjugated antibody in 3% w/v milk/ Tween 20 0.1% v/v/PBS for 1 hour at room temperature with gentle rolling. The membrane was then washed once for 15 minutes and then twice for 10 minutes with Tween 20 0.1% v/v/PBS. The membrane was then incubated with SuperSignal West Pico Substrate Chemiluminescent working solution (Pierce) for 10 minutes. The membrane was blotted dry and wrapped in parafilm. Chemiluminescence was detected using a Bio-Rad Flour-S Multimager and Quantity One software.

Transfer Buffer

10X Tris-Glycine(TG)

100 ml

H <sub>2</sub> O	700 ml
Methanol	200 ml
10XTG	
Tris Base	29 g
Glycine	145 g
H <sub>2</sub> O	to 1 L

Antibody	Antigen	Antibody type	Dilution	Source
PAX3	PAX3	Rabbit	1:2000	Active Motif
		polyclonal		
DO-1	P53	Mouse	1:1000	Serotec
		monoclonal		
Ab290	GFP	Rabbit	1:2500	Clontech
		polyclonal		
PAb-421	P53	Mouse	1:250	T.R. Hupp
		monoclonal		
2A9	HDM2	Mouse	1:100	A.J. Levine
		monoclonal		
Bax	BAX	Mouse	1:1000	Santa Cruz
		monoclonal		
P21	P21 <sup>WAF1</sup>	Mouse	1:1000	Calbiochem
		monoclonal		
A5060	ACTIN	Rabbit	1:2000	Sigma
		polyclonal		
AM30	PARP	Rabbit	1:100	Calbiochem
		polyclonal		
P0448	Rabbit IgG	Goat	1:2000	DAKO
		polyclonal		
SAM	Mouse IgG	Sheep	1:2000	Amersham
		polyclonal		Biosciences

### Table 3.3: Antibodies used in this project

### 3.12 RNA extraction

Total RNA was extracted from cell pellets using RNeasy Mini Columns (Qiagen) with on-column DNase treatment using the RNase-Free DNase Set (Qiagen) as per manufacturers instructions. RNA was quantified by spectrophotometry and stored at -80 °C for future use.

### 3.13 Synthesis of cDNA

First Strand cDNA synthesis was conducted using Superscript II RT (Invitrogen) as per manufacturers' instructions. A typical reaction would contain the following:

Oligo (dT)12-18 (500 µg/ml)	1 µl
10 mM dNTP mix	1 µl
500 ng RNA	
Sterile water	to 12 μl

This was heated to 65 °C for 5 min and quick chilled on ice. The contents of the tube were collected by centrifugation and the following added:

5X First-Strand buffer	4 µl
0.1 M DTT	2 µl
RNaseOUT	1 µl
Superscript II RT	1 µl

The mixture was incubated for 50 min at 42 °C and the reaction inactivated by heating at 70 °C for 15 min.

### 3.14 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) – Taqman

Changes in gene expression were detected by measuring the relative abundance of mRNA for specific genes by quantitative RT-PCR. cDNA produced using Superscript II RT was used for all experiments. Reactions were conducted in 96 well plates using an ABI PRISM 7500 Real-Time PCR system and software (PerkinElmer Life Sciences). Primers and probe for *gapdh*, which was used as an endogenous control gene, were purchased as a Pre-Developed TaqMan® reagent assay (PerkinElmer Life Sciences). Primer and probe for all other genes were purchased as a pre-designed, pre-optimised TaqMan® gene expression assay (Applied Biosystems), except PAX3 and HDM2 which were designed using Primer Express, Version 2.0 (PerkinElmer Life Sciences) or Primer3 (MIT) and were synthesized by MWG Biotech: *HDM2*-coding sequence F (TCTACAGGGACGCCATCGA) and *HDM2*-coding sequence R (CTGATCCAACCAATCACCTGAA) and *HDM2*-coding sequence probe (FAM-TTCACTTACACCAGCATCAAGATCCGGA-TAMRA). *PAX3* F (GAGCGAGCGAGCCTCAGCAC) and *PAX3* R (AGGTGGTTCGGCTTCTGCG) and *PAX3* probe (FAM-AGGCTCTGATATTGACTCTGAACCAGATTTACC-TAMRA). qRT-PCR was performed in 20 µl reaction volumes containing 1x qPCR<sup>™</sup>; Mastermix (Eurogentec), cDNA (from 5 ng of RNA), and the appropriate sets of primers and probes. Threshold cycle values were converted to relative transcript levels using a standard curve.

### 3.15 In vivo ubiquitination assay

Cell pellets were prepared as described with 20% separated for direct western analysis. The remaining pellet was lysed on ice for 10 mins in 40  $\mu$ l lysis buffer and passed through an 8 gauge needle 7 times before being transferred to a falcon tube containing a further 4 ml of lysis buffer. 75  $\mu$ l Ni<sup>2+</sup> - agarose beads (Qiagen) were added to each tube and placed on a rotating table at 4 °C overnight. The next day beads were collected by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 3 mins and the supernatant aspirated off. The beads were then washed for 10 mins in 750  $\mu$ l of buffers 1-5 at room temperature. 75  $\mu$ l of elution buffer was added and incubated for 30 mins at room temperature. Eluates were collected by centrifugation at 11000 rpm for 5 mins at 4 °C before being mixed with an equal volume of sample buffer and analysed by SDS-PAGE.

In vivo ubiquitination assay reagents

Buffer 1

Guanidinium-HCl	114.6 g
0.2 M Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	94.7 ml
0.2 M NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	5.3 ml
1 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.0	2 ml

14.3 M  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol

Adjusted to pH 8.0 and made up to 200 ml with  $H_2O$ 

### Lysis Buffer

100 ml Buffer 1 with 500 µl 1 M Imidazole (fresh)

#### Buffer 2

Urea	48 g
0.2 M Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	47.35 ml
0.2 M NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	2.65 ml
1 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.0	1 ml
14.3 M $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol	70 µl
Adjusted to pH 8.0 and made up to $100 \text{ ml}$ with H <sub>2</sub>	0

Buffer 3

Urea	96 g
0.2 M Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	22.5 ml
$0.2 \text{ M NaH}_2\text{PO}_4$	77.5 ml
1 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.3	2 ml
14.3 M $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol	140 µl
Adjusted to pH 6.3 and made up to 200 ml with $H_2$ C	)

#### Buffer 4

10 ml of buffer 3 with 200  $\mu l$  of 10% v/v Triton X-100

#### Buffer 5

10 ml of buffer 3 with 100  $\mu l$  of 10% v/v Triton X-100

#### Elution Buffer

1 M Imidazole	$200\;\mu l$
10% w/v SDS	500 µl
1 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.7	150 µl
Glycerol	100 µl
14.3 M $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol	50 µl

## 3.16 Preparation of cells for Fluorescence In-Situ Hybridisation (FISH)

1% v/v colcemid was added to cells in culture and incubated at 37 °C for 30 minutes to 2 hours. Cells were lifted into suspension using a sterile cell scraper and collected by centrifugation for 3 minutes at 1100 rpm. The supernatant was discarded and 10ml potassium chloride added before incubation at 37 °C for 10 minutes. The cells were collected by centrifugation at 1000 rpm for 3 minutes, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet vortexed. 1 ml of fixative (3:1 methanol: acetic acid) was added 1 drop at a time whilst vortexing, then topped up to 5 ml. The sample was centrifuged at 1,100 rpm for 3 minutes, the supernatant was discarded and the sample was topped up with fresh fixative. Fixed cells were then processed by The Wessex Regional Cytogenetics Laboratory.

### 3.17 Statistical analysis

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's HSD post-hoc testing using SPSS for Windows version 12 was used for all experiments except cell viability assays in chapter 7 where paired T-tests were conducted. Statistical significance is represented for each experiment using the following: \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.001 and is measured against the appropriate untreated control. For example; 2.5 ng p53, 100 ng PAX3 has been compared against 2.5 ng p53, 0 ng PAX3 in figure 4.2.

# 4. The role of PAX3 in repression of p53 dependent transcription

### 4.1 Introduction

The critical role of p53 in mediating stress-induced cell cycle arrest or apoptosis results in a strong selection pressure for tumour cells with an attenuated p53 pathway [34]. The documented low frequency of TP53 mutation in neural crest derived tumours suggests that these cells are able to by-pass p53 tumour suppression [148, 152, 160]. In addition, malignant melanoma cells have been shown to undergo apoptosis in response to p53 [47]. In humans, PAX3 is frequently expressed in cancers derived from cells of neural crest origin, notably neuroblastoma and melanoma [8]. PAX3 mRNA is detectable in 77% of cultured primary malignant melanomas in which expression increases with advancing tumour stage [105]. In neuroblastoma cell lines it is expressed due to transcriptional up regulation by N-MYC [106]. PAX3 is also expressed in myogenic cell lineages as PAX3, or a PAX3-FKHR fusion protein in embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma and paediatric alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma respectively [103]. Treatment of neural crest and myogenic derived tumour cell lines with PAX3 antisense leads to apoptosis [103, 105]. One possible explanation for these findings is that p53 function is inhibited by PAX3. Support for this interaction comes from work on *Splotch* embryos. Homozygous Splotch embryos develop open neural tube defects by day ten and show high levels of neuroepithelial apoptosis [20, 81]. Splotch embryos exhibit increased levels of p53 protein, but not mRNA compared to their normal litter-mates [20]. When crossed into a TP53 null background neural tube defects in Splotch embryos are abolished and the Splotch embryos are indistinguishable from their litter mates. A partial rescue from NTD is seen when the mothers of *Splotch* embryos are treated with the chemical p53 inhibitor pifithrin- $\alpha$  [20]. PAX proteins have been documented to inhibit p53 transcription directly [154]. No such evidence exists for PAX3.

The collected experimental data from murine development and cancer cell lines has raised the possibility that PAX3 may be promoting the survival of neural crest derived

52

tumours and myogenic tumours through the suppression of the p53 pathway [8-10, 20, 31, 80, 94, 103-105, 149, 161, 162]. This chapter describes the investigation of this hypothesis. I initially describe the creation of a model system to study p53 activity and the effects of PAX3 in this system. Later the creation of a series of mutant PAX3 proteins is documented and the ability of these proteins to repress p53 function is tested.

### 4.2 Results

# 4.2.1 Generation of a model system to study p53 dependent transcription

The tumour suppressor protein p53 acts on a range of cellular effectors to produce cell cycle arrest and/or apoptosis [41]. p53 is a transcription factor; the ability of p53 to influence cell fate relies on its ability to modulate target gene transcription [41, 45, 46, 50, 110, 112, 137]. To study the biological activity of p53 it is therefore necessary to examine the ability of p53 to act as a transcription factor. To do this a number of specific p53 targets were selected. The ability of p53 to induce transcription from the promoter region of each target was then measured using a reporter gene assay. A reporter gene consists of the promoter region from the gene of interest fused to the coding region of a gene that when transcribed can be measured in an *in vitro* system e.g. the firefly luciferase protein. In the case of luciferase, stimulation of the promoter is detected as emitted light in the presence of the appropriate luciferase substrate. Prior to my arrival, our laboratory had been using  $\beta$ galactosidase as an internal control in a 60mm dish format but this had the drawback of being relatively time consuming and offering no real way of comparing results between experiments. I conducted an initial optimisation of this system and moved to a 96 well format. This enabled high throughput of samples with relatively few cells (as little as 2500 per well) for each experiment. I also decided to use the renilla internal control plasmid pRLSV40 and the Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assay system (Promega). The pRLSV40 plasmid contains the constitutively active renilla luciferase protein under the control of the SV40 promoter. The inclusion of pRLSV40 controls for variations in transfection efficiency and the possibility of general transcriptional repression by PAX3. This form of internal control also makes it possible to compare results between separate experiments. For each experiment duplicate wells were transfected with the appropriate reporter gene and pRLSV40. Firefly luciferase activity relative to renilla luciferase activity was calculated for each well and a mean relative luciferase unit (RLU) figure was generated for each duplicate set. For comparison between experiments the sum of the means for duplicate wells was calculated for all experiments. These were then used to calculate a conversion factor between plates using the plate with the highest overall mean total as a reference.

Initial experiments were conducted using the promoter region from the BCL-2 family protein BAX. The *BAX* gene is a direct transcriptional target of p53 and contains a direct p53 response element [41, 45]. Increased transcription of *BAX* is one of the first steps in the p53 induced apoptosis pathway, changing the balance between proand anti-apoptotic BCL-2 protein family members. BAX is therefore a biologically relevant p53 target for study. Baxluc contains a 369 b.p. fragment of the *BAX* promoter region, retaining the p53 response element, in pGL3Basic [50].

Figure 4.1 shows the optimisation of p53 induced *BAX* transcription in three separate cell lines. For each cell line the experiment was conducted at least twice. In Figure 4.1A the human neuroblastoma cell line IMR 32 was used. This is a cell line known to express PAX3 and have wild type p53 [106, 163]. The relative luciferase activity at all amounts of p53 is high, possibly reflecting endogenous p53 activity. Sequential induction of BAX is observed as the quantity of p53 expression vector is increased. At 2.5 ng of p53 expression vector, BAX reporter induction is seventeen times that of baseline. Inclusion of the pGL3Basic plasmid controlled for any non-specific induction of reporter activity. Figure 4.1B shows the results of similar experiments in the mouse embryonic fibroblast cell line NIH3T3. This cell line is not known to express PAX3 and has wild type p53. Relative luciferase activity in this system was somewhat lower than in IMR 32 cells. It is possible that the endogenous p53 was not as active in this cell line, or that the endogenous mouse p53 protein was unable to bind the human *BAX* promoter. Once again sequential induction of the Bax reporter was observed with increasing levels of p53. Induction eleven times that of baseline was observed at 5 ng of p53. In Figure 4.1C the human non-small cell lung cancer cell line H1299 was used. H1299 cells have a homozygous partial deletion of the p53 gene and lack expression of p53 but retain intact downstream p53 pathways [164, 165]. In this cell system it is possible to study the relationship between PAX3 and p53 without the potential influence of endogenous proteins. The lack of endogenous p53 activity in H1299 cells has meant that the relative luciferase activity observed was much less than in IMR 32 or NIH3T3 cells. Titration of reporter activity was still observed in the H1299 system with induction of BAX reporter activity at 5 ng of p53 expression plasmid twelve times that of base line levels.

55

These experiments established the reporter gene assay as a reliable and reproducible system in which to study the effects of PAX3 on p53 dependent transcription.



## Figure 4.1: p53 expression induces transcription of Baxluc in three different cell lines in a dose dependent manner

Human neuroblastoma IMR 32 cells (A), mouse fibroblast NIH3T3 cells (B) and human non-small cell lung cancer H1299 cells (p53 null) (C) were transfected with 100 ng of Baxluc or pGL3Basic as indicated, 20 ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=4). All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.E.M.

# 4.2.2 PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of a Bax reporter gene

Having established that p53 caused a reproducible induction of Baxluc in the cell lines of interest the ability of PAX3 to inhibit this induction was tested. Figure 4.2 shows the effects of varying concentrations of PAX3 expression vector in the Baxluc reporter system. Figure 4.2A shows the effect of PAX3 expression in IMR 32 cells. There was clear induction of Bax reporter transcription in the presence of p53 (seventeen times relative luciferase activity at 2.5 ng p53 compared to baseline). Upon the addition of PAX3 to the system two observations can be made. Firstly, there is an apparent repression of reporter gene induction caused by endogenous p53 (open bars). However when the raw data for this experiment was assessed it became clear that this was due to effects of PAX3 on the renilla control plasmid (data not shown). The second and more striking observation is the repression of p53 mediated reporter induction observed with increasing levels of exogenous p53 in the presence of PAX3. At 2.5 ng of p53 mean relative BAX reporter activity is 97.67; this falls to 26.22 with 50 ng of PAX3 and falls further to 20.46 in the presence of 100 ng of PAX3. There is a reduction in activity of 79% (p<0.01). At these higher levels of BAX reporter induction the non-specific effects of PAX3 on renilla transcription were not observed. Figure 4.2B shows the results of the same experiment conducted in NIH3T3 cells. There is marked repression of p53 dependent reporter activity with both 50 ng and 100 ng of PAX3. Maximal inhibition of reporter activity is seen with the higher dose of PAX3 and amounts to a repression of 77% (comparison between 2.5 ng p53, no PAX3 and 2.5 ng p53, 100 ng PAX3) (p<0.001). In Figure 2.2C the observations have been extended to the H1299 cell line. This system was chosen because there is no endogenous p53 activity. The low level baseline activity of the BAX reporter gene is not affected by the addition of PAX3 to this system (open bars). This suggests that PAX3 has a specific effect on p53 dependent transcription and is not simply acting to shut down transcription in general. This possibility is further controlled for by the inclusion of the renilla plasmid. Repression of p53 dependent *BAX* reporter activity by PAX3 is seen with all doses of PAX3 but is best observed by comparing the levels of activity observed at 5 ng of p53 expression vector (black bars). Maximal repression of p53 dependent transcription is 74% at this dose of p53

with 100 ng of PAX3 (p<0.001).

Taken together the results from all three cell lines show that PAX3 specifically represses p53 dependent transcription from a *BAX* reporter construct. The repression is PAX3 dose-dependent and not due to a general shut down of transcription. *BAX* is only one target of p53 and to confirm these initial observations it was important to test other p53 targets in the same assay. To do this I used the H1299 cell line. This cell line enabled the study of the p53/PAX3 interaction without the confliction of endogenous protein activity and allowed investigation of protein levels and p53 activity in subsequent experiments (described later).



## Figure 4.2: PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of a Baxluc reporter gene in three different cell lines

Human neuroblastoma IMR 32 cells (A), mouse fibroblast NIH3T3 cells (B) and human non-small cell lung cancer H1299 cells (p53 null) (C) were transfected with 100 ng of Baxluc or pGL3Basic as indicated, 20 ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=4). Increasing amounts of pJ7 PAX3 was added as shown. Total amounts of transfected

plasmid were equalized using empty pJ7 vector. All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.E.M.

## 4.2.3 PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of an HDM2 reporter gene

One of the best described targets of p53 is the p53 ubiquitin ligase HDM2 [120, 126, 130, 137, 147, 166-168]. The major cellular mechanism for p53 protein regulation is via HDM2 mediated ubiquitination, leading to nuclear export and proteasomal degradation. The rate of HDM2 protein synthesis in response to rising p53 levels is rapid leading to tight control of p53 activity [45, 147, 169]. HDM2 expression is regulated by transcription from two distinct promoters, P1 and P2 [170]. Transcription from P1 is constitutive at low levels in most cells, whereas P2 is highly induced by p53 because of the presence of two conserved p53-REs in both the murine Mdm2-P2 [126, 168] and human HDM2-P2 promoters [170]. Studies dissecting the mechanisms that control transcription of *Mdm2* and *HDM2* have focused on the P2 promoter, primarily because the human P1 promoter-dependent transcript is poorly translated [171]. The HDM2-P2 promoter is therefore an excellent target for use in a reporter assay because it requires minimally toxic, low levels of p53 to be activated. The Hdm2luc03 reporter construct used throughout this study contains 165 b.p. (-132 to +33) of the P2 promoter region including both p53-RE's. Before considering the effects of PAX3 on the HDM2 reporter it was necessary to titrate the level of induction of HDM2 by p53 to a level comparable with the BAX construct. Figure 4.3 shows the results of titrating p53 to achieve induction of the HDM2 reporter gene. As expected the relative activity of the HDM2 reporter is much higher than the BAX reporter gene as evidenced by the small quantities of p53 required to produce a similar level of luciferase activity. Using the *BAX* reporter 5 ng of p53 is required to achieve a relative luciferase activity of 0.02 (Fig. 4.2). In the same cell line only 0.015 ng of p53 is required to achieve the same level of activity when using the HDM2 reporter gene (Fig. 4.3). This is likely to be due to the additional p53 binding site present in the HDM2 promoter. To enable comparison between p53 reporter targets p53 at 0.015 ng and 0.0625 ng was used for further experiments with HDM2 in H1299 cells.

59



## Figure 4.3: Titration of p53 dependent induction of an Hdm2 reporter gene in H1299 cells

H1299 cells were transfected with 100 ng of the p53 reporter construct Hdm2luc03, 20 ng of control renilla plasmid pRLSV40 and increasing amounts of p53 wild type expression vector as indicated. pGL3Basic at 10 ng was transfected as a negative control in a separate well. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=2). All data are mean RLU <u>+</u> S.D.

Having titrated p53 to achieve appropriate levels of induction with the *HDM2* reporter I next tested the ability of PAX3 to inhibit p53 dependent transcription from the *HDM2-P2* promoter. Figure 2.4 represents the data from four separate experiments (n=8). There is a significant (p=0.001) inhibition of Hdm2luc03 reporter activity with the addition of PAX3 at 100 ng at the highest concentration of p53 tested (black bars). This inhibition represents a fall in HDM2 promoter activity of 57%. There is a more modest, but significant, inhibition of p53 dependent Hdm2luc03 activity at 0.015 ng of p53 (p<0.05). PAX3 is observed not to affect basal transcription (open bars).



## Figure 4.4: PAX3 inhibits p53 dependent transcription of a Hdm2luc03 reporter gene

H1299 cells were transfected with 100 ng of Hdm2luc03 or pGL3Basic as indicated, 20 ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=8). Increasing amounts of pJ7 PAX3 was added as shown. Total amounts of transfected plasmid were equalized using empty pJ7 vector. All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.E.M.

I extended this finding by examining the role of PAX3 in suppression of p53 dependent transcription from an endogenous promoter by performing a quantitative RT-PCR for the level of *HDM2-P2* transcript in H1299 cells in the presence or absence of PAX3. PAX3 also suppressed p53-dependent expression of the endogenous *HDM2-P2* transcript (Fig. 4.5), suggesting that the suppression of p53-dependent transcription by PAX3 is not restricted to synthetic reporter gene assays.



## Figure 4.5: PAX3 reduces the relative abundance of p53 dependent HDM2 transcripts

The abundance of endogenous HDM2-P2 mRNA transcripts was determined by qRT-PCR in H1299 cells transfected with increasing amounts of p53 expression vector and pJ7PAX3 as indicated. Total plasmid concentrations were normalized with pJ7. Data is normalised to *GAPDH*, is mean  $\pm$  SD for duplicate qRT-PCR assays, and is representative of two independent experiments (Transfections were in 60 mm dishes. For ease of comparison the amounts of plasmids shown are the equivalents by surface area of a 96 well plate transfection).

To prove that the effects observed on the Hdm2luc03 reporter gene were due to p53dependent transcription a further control experiment was conducted (Fig. 4.6). The reporter construct Hdm2luc13 contains 616 b.p. (-583 to +33) of the *HDM2-P2* promoter region, with two recognised p53 response elements [172]. Hdm2luc17 was derived from Hdm2luc13 by site directed mutagenesis to generate two independent 2 b.p. substitutions in the two p53-response elements. PAX3 is clearly observed to inhibit transcription from Hdm2luc13 that is p53 dose dependent (p<0.05), whereas Hdm2luc17 has no activity.



## Figure 4.6: PAX3 inhibition of Hdm2 reporter gene transcription is p53 dependent

H1299 cells were transfected with 100 ng of Hdm2luc13, Hdm2luc17 or pGL3Basic as indicated, 20 ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=2). Increasing amounts of pJ7 PAX3 was added as shown. Total amounts of transfected plasmid were equalized using empty pJ7 vector. All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.E.M.

# 4.2.4 PAX3 promotes transcription of *WAF1* and *PUMA* reporter genes independently of p53

PAX3 has been shown to inhibit the p53 dependent induction of two p53 target genes using the reporter assay system, *BAX* and *HDM2*. Both BAX and HDM2 are important p53 targets responsible for significant cellular events but they are not the only targets of p53. BAX is a pro-apoptotic protein that acts in the mitochondrial death pathway [45]. Another effector of p53 stimulated apoptosis is PUMA (p53 upregulated mediator of apoptosis). PUMA is a BH3 only protein that may act as a direct p53 mediator of apoptosis [49]. PUMA was therefore considered as a possible target for PAX3 mediated transcriptional repression. To consider the range of effectors involved after p53 stimulation one must consider cell cycle arrest as well as apoptosis. One of the critical p53 responsive cell cycle arrest proteins is the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21<sup>WAF1</sup> [46]<sup>•</sup> I tested a *PUMA* and a *WAF1* reporter alongside the Hdm2luc03 reporter to determine if PAX3 inhibited p53 dependent transcription from these promoters (Fig. 4.7). In the absence of PAX3, reporter gene

induction is observed with increasing amounts of p53. This finding replicates the observations for both *BAX* and *HDM2*. Interestingly for both *WAF1* and *PUMA* it appears that PAX3 is able to induce transcription independently of p53. At the highest levels of p53 used (0.3125 ng, black bars) there is an increase in reporter activity of 70% for *WAF1* and 60% for *PUMA* in the presence of 100 ng of PAX3 compared to no PAX3. I was confident that the induction of transcription from these promoters was not p53 related as an increase in luciferase activity is seen with increasing doses of PAX3 in the absence of p53 (open bars). This finding made it impossible to use the *PUMA* and *WAF1* reporter genes to further study the inhibition of p53 function by PAX3, but is an interesting finding in its own right. It suggests the possibility that PAX3 has promoter specific effects on p53 targets.



## Figure 4.7: PAX3 induces transcription of p21 Luc and PUMA Luc independently from p53

H1299 cells were transfected with 100ng of p21luc or PUMAluc or the appropriate empty vector as indicated, 20ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=4). Increasing amounts of pJ7 PAX3 was added as shown. Total amounts of transfected plasmid were equalized using empty pJ7 vector. All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.E.M.

### 4.2.5 Generation of mutant PAX3 proteins

PAX3 is a transcription factor. PAX family proteins bind to specific DNA sequences and may cooperate with other DNA binding proteins to regulate transcription [173]. The protein structure of PAX3 has been resolved [21]. The full length PAX3 protein consists of 479 amino acids and contains a number of specialised domains that are required for its transcriptional activity (Fig. 4.8). Using the published nucleotide sequence for *PAX3*, and with the help of  $4^{th}$  year medical student Mr. Jay Amin, I generated a series of mutations in the PAX3 coding sequence to create proteins with altered structure. This was performed by site directed mutagenesis. Initially a series of truncations were generated by inserting stop codons into the *PAX3* coding sequence (Fig. 4.8). The position of each stop was carefully designed to remove each active domain of PAX3 in turn from the Cterminus. The largest mutant PAX3 protein Stop281 contains 281 amino acids of the full length protein but lacks the C-terminal transactivation domain. Both the DNA binding paired domain and homeodomain are intact. The next largest mutant PAX3 protein, Stop 222 consists of 222 amino acids and lacks both the transactivation domain and the homeodomain but retains the paired domain and octapeptide motif. Stop 34 is the shortest mutant PAX3 protein generated and only retains a part of the N-terminal inhibitory domain.



#### Figure 4.8: Mutant PAX3 proteins

PAX3 protein structure, and a description of some of the mutant proteins used in this study. ID = inhibitory domain, PD = paired domain, OM = octapeptide motif, HD = homeodomain, TA = transactivation domain. Three truncations of PAX3 were generated using site directed mutagenesis. Each one in turn removes a domain implicated in transcriptional activity. The point mutants SD42 and WS265 mimic disease specific mutations in mouse and human respectively.

In addition to the truncation mutants generated we also constructed two disease specific point mutants. The mutant PAX3 protein SD42 corresponds to a documented mutation leading to the *Splotch delayed* (SpD) phenotype in mouse [79, 100, 174]. A single base substitution, glycine to arginine substitution at amino acid 42 within the DNA binding paired domain, leads to a 17-fold reduction in paired domain binding to a paired domain specific oligonucleotide [100]. The SpD mutation also decreases homeodomain binding by 21-fold *in vitro* [100]. The mutant PAX3 protein WS265 is taken from the human PAX3 related disease Waardenburg syndrome. A single nucleotide substitution leads to a valine to phenylalanine substitution at amino acid 265 within the homeodomain [93, 95]. The generation of single point mutants allowed both of the DNA binding domains to be altered at sites documented to affect DNA binding function without changing the conformation of the entire protein.

Each of the mutants generated was validated by DNA sequencing. Plasmids containing the correct mutation and with no other mutations in the PAX3 coding sequence were further validated by western blotting (Fig. 4.9). It is clear that the mutants are well expressed in this system and the truncations are at a size corresponding to their expected size based on the DNA sequence. The shortest mutant Stop 34 produces a relatively weak signal. This may be because an important antibody epitope is contained in the deleted C-terminal region (the PAX3 antibody used is polyclonal and was raised against a synthetic peptide representing amino acids 1-347) or because the mRNA or protein is less stable. Differences in expression are unlikely given the similarity of the expression vector. The point mutants SD42 and WS265 run at the same size as the full length PAX3 protein and their expression has not been affected by the changes in amino acid sequence generated.



## Figure 4.9: Validation of mutant PAX3 protein expression by western blot

Representative western blots showing a number of the PAX3 mutant proteins generated. Equal amounts of each PAX3 mutant was transfected into H1299 cells in 60mm dishes. pJ7 = empty vector.

## 4.2.6 PAX3 must retain transcriptional integrity to repress p53

### dependent transcription

The panel of mutant PAX3 proteins generated by site directed mutagenesis were tested for their ability to inhibit p53 dependent transcription in H1299 cells.

Experiments were conducted in the same way as described in the previous sections with the effect of mutant PAX3 proteins being tested against full length PAX3. Initially the Hdm2luc03 reporter construct was used. The *HDM2* reporter was chosen because it requires the least p53 for activation and therefore any subtle changes in the ability of the mutant PAX3 proteins to inhibit transcription would be most easily detected. As previously demonstrated, PAX3 significantly represses p53 dependent transcription from the Hdm2luc03 construct by approximately 50% (p<0.001) (0.0625 ng p53 vector) (Fig. 4.4 and 4.9). None of the mutant PAX3 proteins have this effect (Fig.4.9).



### Figure 4.10: PAX3 must retain transcriptional integrity to inhibit p53 dependent transcription from an *HDM2* promoter

Mutant PAX3 proteins were tested for repression of p53 dependent transcription in a reporter assay in H1299 cells in a 96 well format. Cells were transfected with 20 ng pRLSV40, 100 ng pJ7 empty vector or the indicated PAX3 mutant and 100 ng Hdm2luc03 or pGL3Basic. Open bars = 0 ng p53 plasmid, closed bars = 0.0625 ng p53 plasmid. All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.E.M (n=8).

The mutant PAX3 proteins were unable to repress p53-dependent transcription from the *HDM2* promoter. The mutant PAX3 proteins were next tested against the *BAX* reporter construct. PAX3 represses p53 dependent transcription from the *BAX* promoter by over 45% in all experiments at 2.5 ng of p53 (p<0.05) (Fig. 4.2 and Fig.

4.11). Figure 4.11 shows that only the transcriptionally competent PAX3 protein represses p53 dependent transcription and none of the mutant PAX3 proteins generated have this effect.



## Figure 4.11: PAX3 must retain transcriptional integrity to inhibit p53 dependent transcription from a *BAX* promoter

Mutant PAX3 proteins were tested for repression of p53 dependent transcription in a reporter assay in H1299 cells in a 96 well format. Cells were transfected with 20 ng pRLSV40, 100 ng pJ7 empty vector or the indicated PAX3 mutant and 100 ng Baxluc or pGL3Basic. Open bars = 0 ng p53 plasmid, closed bars = 2.5 ng p53 plasmid. All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.E.M (n=8).

### 4.2.7 DNA binding by both the paired domain and homeodomain of PAX3 is required for inhibition of p53 dependent transcription

The mutant PAX3 proteins SD42 and WS26 were generated due their disease specificity in mice and humans respectively. This strategy enabled the results obtained with these mutants to be interpreted with a degree of biological significance. These two mutants did not, however, provide information that would allow one to attribute the specific domains of PAX3 responsible for its effect on p53 transcription. More specifically, the G>R mutation in the PD of SD42 causes a 17-fold decrease in

its ability to bind to a PD consensus sequence as well as a 21-fold decrease in the ability of the unmutated HD to bind onto a P2 site [100]. This means that the SD42 mutant is unable to efficiently bind DNA by either DNA binding motif. The possibility remained that DNA binding by either the paired domain or homeodomain in isolation (but within the context of the full length protein) was sufficient to generate inhibition of p53 function by PAX3. To test this possibility I generated a further PAX3 mutant N47H (Fig.4.11), that has been shown to abrogate DNA binding by the PD but increase HD binding activity [102]. I confirmed the expression of N47H in H1299 cells and it was tested for repression of p53 dependent activity of the *HDM2* promoter. Once again wild-type PAX3 was observed to repress p53 dependent transcription (p<0.05) but the N47H mutant did not have this effect (Fig. 4.12B).



# Figure 4.12: The mutant PAX3 protein N47H is expressed in H1299 cells and is unable to repress p53 dependent transcription from an *HDM2* promoter

(A) The PAX3 mutant protein N47H was generated by site directed mutagenesis and expressed in H1299 cells. N47H mutant was tested for repression of p53 dependent transcription in a reporter assay in H1299 cells in a 96 well format. Cells were transfected with 20 ng pRLSV40, 100 ng pJ7 empty vector or the N47H mutant and 100 ng Hdm2luc03 or pGL3Basic. Open bars = 0 ng p53 plasmid, closed bars = 0.0625 ng p53 plasmid. All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.D (n=2).
### 4.3 Discussion

A growing body of evidence suggests a link between PAX3 expression and inhibition of p53 function [20, 44, 47, 103]. Much of this evidence relates downregulation of PAX3 with apoptosis, although only recently has a direct link with p53 been suggested [20]. The actions of p53 in the cell are predominantly mediated via its transcriptional activity. I have optimised a model system to study the ability of p53 to function as a transcription factor, making use of well characterised p53 target genes. The reporter assay system created allows rapid analysis of p53 transcriptional behaviour using a small number of cells. Reproducible induction of the p53 targets BAX and HDM2 has been demonstrated in the cell lines IMR 32, NIH3T3 and H1299 in response to p53. Induction is dependent on the amount of p53 expression vector transfected. The three cell lines used differ in their species of origin and p53 status. IMR 32 cells are derived from a neuroblastoma cell line demonstrated to express PAX3 [106]. This cell line retains the cellular machinery necessary for PAX3 expression and would be expected to be a cellular environment conducive to the expression of potential PAX3 target genes. The mouse fibroblast cell line NIH3T3 is not known to express PAX3 and has intact p53 [157]. H1299, a non-small cell lung cancer cell line does not express p53 by virtue of a homozygous partial deletion and has not been demonstrated to express PAX3 [158]. H1299 cells therefore represent a "cellular test-tube" to allow the study of two completely exogenous proteins.

I have shown for the first time in an *in vitro* model that PAX3 inhibits the p53 dependent induction of reporter constructs containing elements of the *HDM2* and *BAX* gene promoter regions. This finding is reproducible between cell lines. Results from the p53 null H1299 cells show that PAX3 represses p53 function in the absence of endogenous PAX3 or p53 expression. PAX3 has been documented to possess a transcriptional repressive function and can alter the epigenetic environment through association with the co-repressor KAP1 [175, 176]. To control for the possibility of overall transcriptional inhibition masking a specific effect on p53 dependent transcription the renilla internal control plasmid was use in all transfections. While there was some evidence of transcriptional shut-down with very high amounts of PAX3 expression vector this was not observed within the experimental range

71

presented in this study. The possibility that the observed effects of PAX3 on p53 targets were independent of p53 was examined by experiments using the Hdm2luc13 and Hdm2luc17 constructs. These experiments confirm that PAX3 acts on transcription driven from the recognised p53 response elements in the *HDM2* promoter.

Interestingly PAX3 is shown to induce transcription from the promoters for *WAF1* and *PUMA* independently of p53. This is likely to be due to promoter specific effects of PAX3 on p53 target genes as these experiments were conducted in the H1299 cell line that does not express p53. A recent report supporting this possibility has shown that  $p21^{WAF1}$  is up-regulated by the PAX3 transcriptional target MITF [177]. To date there have been no studies to examine the relative levels of specific p53 targets in tumours that express PAX3 and this is an area of study that should be explored.

These experiments were conducted in a transient transfection setting in relatively artificial cellular systems. There are significant drawbacks of using transient expression systems that make it hard to extrapolate these results to endogenous genes. For example, the regulatory context of endogenous protein interactions may differ in terms of gene dosage, chromatin formation, local gene effects and the presence of gene regulatory elements not on the reporter gene construct. However, I have demonstrated that PAX3 suppressed p53-dependent expression of the endogenous *HDM2-P2* transcript, demonstrating that the suppression of p53-dependent transcription by PAX3 is not restricted to synthetic reporter gene assays and may be equally relevant to *in vivo* regulation of p53 function in neural crest derived tumours.

The establishment of a robust model that clearly shows PAX3 inhibition of p53 dependent transcription was the first step in understanding the mechanisms involved in the PAX3/p53 interaction. To investigate the structural elements of PAX3 required for inhibition of p53 dependent transcription a panel of PAX3 mutants were generated with the assistance of Mr. Jay Amin. Each mutant protein was designed to specifically alter a region of the PAX3 protein known to play a role in PAX3 transcriptional control. None of the mutant PAX3 proteins are able to inhibit p53 dependent transcription in H1299 cells. This finding suggests that PAX3 must retain transcriptional integrity in order to inhibit p53 function. By introducing disease

72

specific point mutations into the paired domain and homeodomain I have shown that these DNA binding motifs must be fully intact for p53 functional repression to occur. Moreover, it is only necessary to disrupt one of the DNA binding domains to completely inhibit PAX3 repression of p53 dependent transcription. There is evidence that binding by one domain causes a conformational change in the other, altering its ability to bind DNA [95, 178]. The reporter assay data presented here lends support to this observation. The loss of p53 inhibition observed with the truncation mutant Stop281 suggests that PAX3 must not only be able to bind DNA, but also the recruitment of other transcription factors is required to affect p53 function. The C-terminal deletion of the transactivation domain is enough to abrogate PAX3 inhibition of p53 function. Together these findings suggest that PAX3 may drive the expression of another, as yet undefined, protein (or proteins) in order to inhibit p53 transcriptional function. In neural crest derived lineages PAX3 has been shown to be not only required for tumour cell survival [31, 105], but also to prevent terminal differentiation and this is likely to require the regulation of a number of target genes [83].

The generation of the H1299 cell model system described in this chapter has been used to further study the mechanisms of PAX3 inhibition of p53 function. The findings from these experiments are described in the next chapter.

### 5. The effect of PAX3 on p53 protein abundance

### 5.1 Introduction

The primary cellular mechanism for regulation of p53 protein level is via degradation of p53 [41, 45, 122, 128, 129, 139, 147, 169]. HDM2 is the key regulator of p53 in the majority of cellular systems; p53 is targeted for nuclear export and proteasomal degradation by HDM2 binding leading to C-terminal ubiquitination. In response to cellular stress p53 can be stabilised and degradation prevented. Stabilisation of p53 can occur via phosphorylation of key amino acids within the HDM2 binding domain [110] or by the inhibition of HDM2 by stress response proteins such as ARF [41]. The balance between p53 and its direct transcriptional target HDM2 is the key to p53 activity. Any rise in the cellular level of p53 protein will lead to the appropriate p53 response for that cell.

I have established in the previous section that p53 is able to induce promoter activity of selected target genes in a model system and that this induction is repressed by the addition of PAX3. The mechanism of PAX3 repression of p53 dependent transcription is unknown but may be due to a direct effect of PAX3 on p53 protein levels. This theory is supported by evidence from the mouse embryo [20]. No studies have directly examined the effect of PAX3 on p53 protein level or stability. This chapter outlines the findings from a series of experiments designed to investigate the effects of PAX3 on p53 protein levels.

### 5.2 Results

# 5.2.1 Adaptation of the H1299 reporter assay system for p53 protein analysis

The H1299 cell line was used for all work involving p53 protein levels because it does not express endogenous p53. This meant that small changes in the levels of observed p53 would be easily detectable. The levels of p53 and PAX3 required for significant repression of p53 dependent transcription had been defined using the reporter assay system. The quantities of reagents used in the 96 well format were scaled up for use in 60mm dishes based on relative surface area, to a maximum of 4µg of transfected DNA per plate. The use of 60mm dishes was required to enable enough cells to be transfected for protein analysis by SDS-PAGE and western blotting. The first step in producing a meaningful protein assay was detection of p53 at the appropriate levels. Figure 5.1A shows a western blot for p53 protein using the DO-1 mouse monoclonal antibody. The amount of p53 transfected in each lane in Figure 5.1A corresponds to the level used to achieve induction of the BAX reporter gene in the 96 well format. At these levels of p53 there is no increase in expressed p53 quantity despite an increase in p53 plasmid. It is possible that the transcriptional machinery is saturated at this level of p53. It was therefore important to titrate the level of p53 downwards toward the range used for HDM2 induction in the reporter assays. Figure 5.1B shows the results of such a titration experiment. It can be seen that p53 is detectable using the DO-1 antibody when transfected at amounts known to induce HDM2 reporter activity (1.13 to 18 ng of p53 plasmid).



**Figure 5.1: Titration of p53 in H1299 cells for detection with DO-1** H1299 cells were transfected in 60mm dishes with p53 at varying amounts as indicated. Transfected cells were analysed by western blotting at 48 h.

#### 5.2.2 PAX3 decreases p53 protein abundance in H1299 cells

p53 was transfected into H1299 cells in 60mm dishes in the presence or absence of PAX3 (Fig. 5.2). Care was taken to ensure that the ratio of p53 to PAX3 corresponded to that used in the reporter assay experiments. In all experiments a small amount (5ng per plate) of the green fluorescent protein (GFP) plasmid EGFPN1 was added to control for differences in transfection efficiency between plates and to control for the possibility that PAX3 would act as a transcriptional repressor on the CMV promoter of the p53 expression vector. If this were the case the level of GFP would be expected to be reduced by a similar amount, as it is driven by the same promoter. The quantity of expressed p53 was estimated based on the band intensity observed in each lane. A Bio-Rad Fluor-S Multimager and Quantity One software was used for all experiments to estimate band intensity and protein abundance relative to GFP. Figure 5.2 shows that PAX3 represses the expression of p53 in H1299 cells at all levels of p53 tested. The western blot in Figure 5.2A clearly shows repression of p53 expression in the lanes where PAX3 is also present. This observation is most marked at the 0.3ng p53 level. Figure 5.2B shows the relative level of p53 repression by PAX3 as a percentage of the p53 alone band. PAX3 represses p53 protein level by 90% at 0.3ng of transfected p53.



#### Figure 5.2: PAX3 represses p53 protein abundance in H1299 cells

(A) H1299 cells in 60mm dishes were transfected with EGFPN1 at 5ng per plate, pGL3 Basic at 1.8µg per plate and the indicated amount of p53. PAX3 or empty vector was added at 1.8 µg per plate as indicated. Total transfected plasmid was equalized with pJ7. Cells were harvested at 48 h. (B) Quantification of (A) showing relative abundance of p53 protein. (C) Cells were transfected as in (A). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed on duplicate samples transfected with the indicated expression plasmid (control = not transfected) and harvested at 48 h. *TP53* mRNA levels were normalised to *GAPDH* housekeeping gene expression and are expressed as a mean relative abundance  $\pm$  S.D. of duplicate assays.

In an attempt to confirm that PAX3 was suppressing p53 protein expression and not inhibiting *TP53* gene transcription I performed a quantitative RT-PCR on samples prepared in an identical manner to those assessed for p53 protein. Figure 5.2C indicates a modest fall (~30%) in *TP53* mRNA in the presence of PAX3, although the effect that this would have on p53 protein expression is unclear. This modest fall in *TP53* mRNA in the presence of PAX3 should be considered in conjunction with the observed fall in EGFP protein expression used as a control for p53 protein expression. Although the level of EGFP mRNA in the presence of PAX3 has not been measured directly the fall in EGFP protein in the presence of PAX3 suggested that the observed changes in p53 protein abundance in the presence of PAX3 were due to posttranscriptional repression of p53.

### 5.2.3 PAX3 increases the turnover of p53 in H1299 cells

The major degradation pathway for p53 is via the proteasome. It is possible that the repression of p53 protein level observed in the presence of PAX3 is mediated through increased p53 breakdown. To test this hypothesis I decided to block new protein synthesis and observe the time taken for p53 to be degraded in the presence or absence of PAX3. From this an estimate of the half-life of p53 could be made. Cycloheximide inhibits peptidyl transferase at the ribosome and effectively blocks all new protein synthesis [179]. Figure 5.3 shows the results of an initial experiment using cycloheximide. The half-life of p53 in most systems is short, between 15 and 45 minutes [180]. The initial time span for the experiment shown in Figure 4.3 extends beyond this period but it is clear that levels of p53 protein have not begun to reduce at 90 minutes. In addition, there is no change in the relative levels of p53 in the presence of PAX3.



## Figure 5.3: Relative p53 protein levels do not fall up to 90 minutes after cycloheximide treatment in H1299 cells

H1299 cells were transfected in 60mm dishes with 1.125ng p53, 1.8 $\mu$ g pGL3 Basic, 5ng EGFPN1 and 1.8  $\mu$ g PAX3 or empty vector as indicated. At 48Hrs cycloheximide 100  $\mu$ g/ml was added and the cells harvested for western blot at the times indicated.

The p53 protein appeared to be stable in H1299 cells for longer than expected. There is some support for this finding in the literature [181]. Yamauchi et al have found that p53 is stable for up to six times longer in H1299 cells than normal fibroblasts. The authors found no abnormality in phosphorylation or ubiquitination of p53 expressed in H1299 cells compared to normal human cells, but did observe a defect in

proteasomal degradation of p53 [181]. Having made this finding the time course of the cycloheximide chase experiment was extended overnight. Figure 5.4 shows a representative result of three separate experiments. In the absence of PAX3 (left hand panel) relative p53 levels decline to 50% of their staring point at eight hours. The decay kinetics of p53 in this experiment are not constant and there appears to be a rise in relative p53 abundance between 2 to 4 hours after the addition of cycloheximide. In the right hand panel, with the addition of PAX3, p53 abundance has fallen to 50% of staring levels by 2 hours. In this experiment the level of PAX3 added to each plate was critical; any increase in PAX3 led to total repression of p53 expression. Equally the amount of p53 half life by using less p53 but in each case p53 expression was totally abolished in the presence of PAX3. These experiments confirm that PAX3 increases the turnover of p53 in H1299 cells.



#### Figure 5.4: PAX3 increases p53 turnover in H1299 cells

H1299 cells were transfected in 60 mm dishes with 1.125 ng p53 plasmid, 1.8  $\mu$ g pGL3 Basic, 5 ng EGFPN1 and 0.9  $\mu$ g pJ7PAX3 or empty vector as indicated. At 48 h post transfection, 100  $\mu$ g/ml cycloheximide (CHX) was added to block new protein synthesis and cells harvested for western blotting at the times indicated. The bar charts show the abundance of p53 protein relative to EGFP as a percentage of time zero (solid line = 50%). Representative of three independent experiments.

# 5.2.4 The effects of mutant PAX3 proteins on p53 protein levels

The series of experiments described so far in this chapter have shown that PAX3 represses p53 protein levels in H1299 cells by increasing p53 turnover. To define the elements of PAX3 required for these effects the panel of mutant PAX3 proteins described in the previous chapter were tested for their effect on p53 protein levels. Figure 5.5 shows the composite results for two separate experiments. The blots on the left hand site are representative of both experiments. There is a clear reduction in p53 protein abundance in the presence of PAX3 compared to the empty vector control (over 75% comparing pJ7 and PAX3). Repression is not observed with the mutant Stop 281 and there is partial recovery of p53 abundance with the other mutant PAX3 proteins. One would expect complete recovery of expression with the shortest truncation mutant Stop34 but this is not observed; repression of 37% is still seen. The point mutants SD42 and WS265 appear to be able to repress p53 protein levels but not to the extent of full length PAX3 (56% for SD42 and 52% for WS265).



## Figure 5.5: Mutant PAX3 proteins have varying affects on p53 protein abundance

(A) H1299 cells were transfected in 60mm dishes with 1.125ng p53, 1.8 $\mu$ g pGL3 Basic, 5ng EGFPN1 and 0.9  $\mu$ g PAX3, empty vector or PAX3 mutant protein as indicated. Blots were quantified and relative p53 level calculated. (B) Mean relative levels of p53 protein from two separate experiments  $\pm$  S.D.

### 5.3 Discussion

Protein function can be regulated at a variety of levels from transcription through translation and post-transational modification to degradation. The regulation of p53 takes place to some extent at every level and factors have been found to influence p53 regulation at every step [41]. One of the most important determinants of p53 function is regulation of p53 degradation. In this chapter I have addressed the regulation of p53 protein levels by PAX3. Initially a system based on the reporter assay experiments of the previous chapter was optimised for western blotting p53 and PAX3 proteins. p53 could be detected using the DO-1 mouse monoclonal antibody at levels comparable with those used in the *HDM2* reporter assay experiments. This was important as low levels of p53 protein are less likely to cause cellular toxicity. It also meant that any small changes in p53 protein abundance could be detected.

p53 was found to be very stable in H1299 cells, another group has shown this to be despite normal expression of HDM2 [181]. A possible explanation of this finding is that a mediator exists between p53 ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation and this is defective in H1299 cells [181]. Full length PAX3 was observed to repress p53 protein levels in H1299 cells. PAX3 is able to increase the turnover of p53. It is possible that this increased turnover is observed in the presence of PAX3 simply because the starting amount of p53 at time zero is much less than in the absence of PAX3 (Figure 4.4). However, PAX3 is also responsible for the reduction in the starting level of p53. These findings are dependent on exact concentrations of both p53 and PAX3. When PAX3 is expressed at higher levels p53 expression is totally repressed. This makes it difficult to interpret these findings in terms of endogenous function as the relative levels of PAX3 and p53 in neural crest derived tumours is unknown.

The experiments in this chapter that raise a number of potential problems that could provide alternative explanations for the finding of decreased p53 protein abundance and increased p53 turnover in the presence of PAX3. It is clear from figure 5.2 that the EGFP control protein abundance is repressed by PAX3 and this is presumably through an inhibitory effect on the CMV promoter. This is a reproducible effect in these assays and validated the use of EGFP as the internal control as the p53

81

expression plasmids is driven by a similar CMV promoter. PAX3 probably causes a small reduction in p53 transcription but the relative reduction in p53 protein levels in the presence of PAX3 is far greater than EGFP. To further define this phenomenon I conducted an analysis of p53 transcript levels in the presence of PAX3 and there was a modest fall in p53 mRNA. However, this is much less than the effects on p53 protein levels suggesting that the predominant effect of PAX3 on p53 is post-transcriptional. The experiments concerning p53 turnover did not provide evidence of classical protein degradation kinetics. There appears to be a small increase in p53 protein abundance up to four hours after new protein synthesis is blocked by cycloheximide. This implies a lag in the termination of new protein synthesis or that there is differential destruction kinetics for p53 and EGFP (used as a control for gene expression and transfection efficiency). Furthermore, the documented deficit of p53 degradation in H1299 cells could also have a significant effect on degradation dynamics for p53 [181].

Having established not only that PAX3 represses p53 function, but represses p53 protein levels as well, the panel of mutant PAX3 proteins generated in Chapter 3 were tested for their ability to repress p53 protein abundance. It is clear that full length PAX3 is required for maximal repression of p53 protein abundance. Loss of the transactivation domain of PAX3 (Stop 281) leads to total loss of p53 protein repression. This suggests that PAX3 is stimulating the transcription of other, as yet unidentified, proteins to enable p53 repression. Although disruption of either the paired domain or homeodomain is sufficient to rescue from PAX3 inhibition of p53 dependent transcription this is not the case for repression of p53 protein levels. Both SD42 and WS265 exhibit some ability to repress p53 protein levels, although not to the same extent as PAX3. It is possible that some variation in repressive activity is caused by variable expression of the PAX3 mutants. I am unable to be confident about this because the only effective PAX3 antibody available at the time these experiments were conducted was raised as a polyclonal against a very large polypeptide. Therefore it is likely that the individual clones within the PAX3 antiserum recognise diverse epitopes on the PAX3 protein.

The findings in this chapter show that PAX3 is able to repress p53 protein levels and increase p53 protein turnover and in the next chapter I have considered the role of HDM2 in this process.

-

# 6. The role of HDM2 and ubiquitination in repression of p53 function by PAX3

### 6.1 Introduction

The importance of the HDM2/p53 interaction to both normal proliferating cells and tumours has been documented extensively and described in previous chapters[45, 120, 123, 127-130, 147, 166, 167, 169, 182, 183]. A crucial step in the targeting of p53 for nuclear export and eventual degradation is binding of p53 by HDM2 [167, 184]. Indeed inhibition of HDM2 binding to p53 by a mini-protein [185] or a chemical inhibitor of HDM2 [183] leads to p53 activation. Binding of HDM2 to p53 is dependent upon the integrity of amino acids F19, W23 and L26 of p53 and L66, Y67 and E69 of HDM2 [184]. The phenylalanine residue at position 19 of the amino terminus of p53 is critical for HDM2 binding and substitution by alanine (p53 F19A) prevents HDM2 dependent ubiquitination of p53 despite adequate induction of HDM2 transcription [186, 187]. N-terminal binding of p53 by HDM2 promotes ubiquitination of specific lysine residues at the C-terminus (370, 372, 373, 381, 382, and 386) [169, 188]. Mutation of these residues to arginine (6KR) or alanine (6KA) has been shown to significantly reduced ubiquitination in comparison to wild-type p53 [133]. Furthermore the 6KR mutant is unable to be exported from the nucleus [133]. In this chapter I have made use of the p53 F19A and p53 6KR mutant proteins to dissect the mechanism of p53 protein turnover in the presence of PAX3. I also show the results of a series of experiments investigating the ubiquitination of p53 in the presence of PAX3. I have attempted to answer two broad questions; firstly, is HDM2 required for inhibition of p53 function by PAX3, and secondly, does PAX3 expression lead to increased ubiquitination of p53?

### 6.2 Results

# 6.2.1 Titration of p53 mutant proteins F19A and 6KR in a 96 well format

Initial experiments using the F19A and 6KR mutant proteins were designed to take place in the 96 well reporter assay format to assess the ability of PAX3 to repress p53 dependent transcription. Plasmids expressing the mutant proteins were first titrated into H1299 cells to assess their relative transcriptional activity on the Hdm2luc03 construct. Scaling up for direct assessment of p53 protein could then be calculated from the levels required to generate similar reporter induction as with wild type p53. Figure 6.1 shows the titration results for both mutant proteins. For all future reporter experiments F19A was used at 0.5 ng per well and 6KR at 0.25 ng per well.



## Figure 6.1: Induction of an *HDM2* reporter gene in H1299 cells by F19A and 6KR

H1299 cells were transfected with 100 ng of the p53 reporter construct Hdm2luc03, 20 ng of control renilla plasmid pRLSV40 and increasing amounts of p53 mutant expression vectors as indicated. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=2). All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.D.

# 6.2.2 HDM2 binding is not required for inhibition of p53 dependent transcription by PAX3

Using p53 F19A the requirement for HDM2 activity in PAX3 inhibition of p53 transcriptional function was tested (Fig. 6.2). Figure 6.2A shows that PAX3 caused a 6 fold reduction in activation of an HDM2 reporter construct by 0.5 ng of p53 F19A (p<0.001). While an interesting result in its own right further confirmation of the integrity of the F19A mutant was required. In figure 6.2B the ability of p53 F19A to transactivate the same HDM2 reporter construct has been tested in the presence of a ten-fold excess of HDM2. In this experiment HDM2 was unable to down-regulate p53 F19A activity. The same ten-fold excess of HDM2 expression vector was observed to significantly inhibit the activity of wild type p53 (p<0.05 at 0.0625 ng p53) (Fig. 6.2C). Further confirmation that HDM2 was not required for PAX3 inhibition of p53 transcriptional activity was obtained using the HDM2 chemical inhibitor Nutlin-3 [183] (Fig. 6.2D). There is a >40% (p<0.05) decrease in p53 transcriptional activity in the presence of PAX3 despite Nutlin-3 at a dose known to cause HDM2 inhibition [183] (comparison between 0.0625 ng p53, 0 ng PAX3 and 0.0625 ng p53, 100 ng PAX3).



## Figure 6.2: Analysis of the requirement for HDM2 in repression of p53 function by PAX3.

H1299 cells were transfected with 100 ng of Hdm2luc03 or pGL3Basic as indicated, 20 ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid or p53 F19A plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (A-C, n=4; D n=2). Increasing amounts of pJ7 PAX3 or Hdm2 plasmid was added as indicated. Total amounts of transfected plasmid were equalized using empty pJ7 vector. (D) Nutlin-3 5 $\mu$ M was added at 3 hr after transfection. Data are mean RLU + S.E.M.

# 6.2.3 PAX3 represses p53 F19A protein abundance in H1299 cells

PAX3 has been shown to lower the protein levels of wild type p53 in Chapter 5. Having shown that PAX3 was able to suppress transcriptional activation by p53 F19A it was interesting to consider whether or not PAX3 was able to suppress the level of F19A protein. A direct scale-up from the 96 well plate format to 60mm dishes allowed analysis of total cellular protein from H1299 cells transfected with p53 F19A with or without PAX3. Figure 6.3 shows that despite the documented resistance to HDM2 mediated degradation of p53 F19A the observed protein levels are lowered by PAX3. In this experiment expression of the EGFP control protein is unaffected.



**Figure 6.3: PAX3 represses p53 F19A protein levels in H1299 cells** H1299 cells in 60mm dishes were transfected with EGFPN1 at 5ng per plate, pGL3 Basic at 1.8µg per plate and 1.125 ng of p53 F19A. PAX3 or empty vector was added at 1.8 µg per plate as indicated. Cells were harvested at 48 h and western blotting performed with PAb-421.

Careful consideration of the anti-p53 antibody used in this experiment had to be made. Initial experiments indicated that DO-1 (used in all previous experiments) could not be used to accurately quantify p53 F19A expression. The C-terminal binding antibody PAb-421 (epitope, a.a 372-382) was therefore used.

### 6.2.4 PAX3 expression does not promote ubiquitination of p53

Having established that HDM2 was not required for PAX3 to inhibit p53 transcriptional activity and protein expression, I considered whether or not ubiquitination of p53 was taking place in this process. I first made use of the C-terminal lysine mutant p53 6KR. Figure 6.4A shows that PAX3 is able to repress p53 6KR dependent transcription from an *HDM2* reporter (p<0.001 at 0.25 ng p53 6KR). Transfection of a ten fold excess of HDM2 expression vector sufficient to significantly inhibit the activity of wild type p53 (Fig. 6.3C p<0.05) had no effect on the p53 6KR mutant (Fig. 6.4B).



## Figure 6.4: Analysis of the role of C-terminal ubiquitination of p53 in repression of p53 by PAX3.

(A, B & C) H1299 cells were transfected with 100 ng of Hdm2luc03 or pGL3Basic as indicated, 20 ng pRLSV40 and the indicated amount of p53 plasmid or p53 6KR plasmid in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=4). Increasing amounts of pJ7 PAX3 or Hdm2 plasmid was added as indicated. Total amounts of transfected plasmid were equalized using empty pJ7 vector. Data are mean RLU + S.E.M. (D) H1299 cells in 60mm dishes were transfected with EGFPN1 at 5ng per plate, pGL3 Basic at 1.8µg per plate and 1.125 ng of p53 F19A. PAX3 or empty vector was added at 1.8 µg per plate as indicated. Cells were harvested at 48 h and western blotting performed with DO-1.

Panel D shows that expression of p53 6KR is suppressed in the presence of PAX3 in H1299 cells to a similar extent to wild type p53 (Fig. 5.2).

The preceding experiments confirmed that the 6 C-terminal lysine residues of p53 established as targets for ubiquitination by HDM2 are not required for PAX3 suppression of p53 function or expression. These are not the only possible targets for ubiquitination of p53 by HDM2 or other E3-ligases. Recent evidence has suggested that the C-terminal lysines may not be absolutely required for p53 ubiquitination and residues within the DNA binding domain fulfil this role [132]. To investigate the

overall requirement for ubiquitination of p53 in PAX3 mediated repression of p53 function a direct measure of p53 ubiquitination was used. The addition of ubiquitin to p53 can be detected by expressing His-6 tagged ubiquitin and p53 in H1299 cells. His-6 tagged ubiquitin is subsequently bound to Ni<sup>2+</sup> agarose beads and associated proteins defined by western blotting. Using this protocol Xirodimas et al. have shown that the tumour suppressor p14<sup>ARF</sup> inhibits the ability of HDM2 to promote p53 ubiquitination [189]. Figure 6.5 shows the results of a similar experiment to test the ability of PAX3 to promote p53 ubiquitination. In H1299 cells there is little evidence of ubiquitination of p53 without the expression of exogenous HDM2 (lane 1). Upon the addition of an HDM2 expression vector to the system ubiquitinated p53 is observed (lane 2 upper panel) that is also evident in the western blot for total p53 (lower panel). Use of the proteasome inhibitor MG132 further enhances ubiquitinated p53 accumulation (lane 3). PAX3 is observed to have no effect on p53 ubiquitination above baseline (lane 5).



Figure 6.5: An *in vivo* assay for p53 ubiquitination

H1299 cells were transfected with 1µg p53 expression plasmid, 2µg Histagged ubiquitin, 2µg Hdm2 (Mdm2) expression plasmid and 2µg PAX3PJ7 as indicated. 24 h after transfection 25 µM MG132 was added for 3 h where indicated. Ubiquitinated products were separated and analyzed with the DO-1 antibody against p53 (upper panel). Total p53 levels are shown in the lower panel.

The apparent lack of endogenous ubiquitination of p53 by HDM2 in this experiment could have been due to lack of sensitivity in the assay and not a failure of p53 ubiquitination. To test this possibility a similar experiment was conducted with all samples exposed to MG132, a proteasome inhibitor. By blocking proteasomal degradation of p53 I expected any ubiquitinated p53 to accumulate. This, in theory, would lead to any low level activity of either HDM2 or PAX3 as p53 ubiquitin ligases being detected. Figure 6.6 clearly shows that PAX3 does not stimulate p53 ubiquitination in this system. Low level ubiquitination of p53 is observed in the absence of exogenous HDM2 or PAX3 (lane 1 lower panel – arrows). This is unchanged with the addition of PAX3 (lanes 2 lower panel - arrows). The addition of

exogenous HDM2 promotes enhanced ubiquitination of p53 (lane 3 upper and lower panels).



#### Figure 6.6: PAX3 does not stimulate p53 ubiquitination

H1299 cells were transfected with 1µg p53 expression plasmid, 2 µg Histagged ubiquitin, 2µg Hdm2 (Mdm2) expression plasmid and 2 µg PAX3PJ7 as indicated. 24 h after transfection 25 µM MG132 was added for 3 h. Ubiquitinated products were separated and analyzed with the DO-1 antibody against p53 (upper panel). Total p53 levels are shown in the lower panel.

# 6.2.5 PAX3 does not stimulate degradation of p53 by the proteasome

The findings of Chapter 5 showed that degradation of p53 is enhanced in the presence of PAX3. It has been demonstrated in this chapter that the major p53 negative regulator HDM2 is not required for this process and furthermore, that ubiquitination of p53 is not a requirement for PAX3 inhibition of p53 protein levels. Figure 6.7 extends this finding to suggest that the proteasome may not be required at all for p53 degradation in the presence of PAX3.



## Figure 6.7: Analysis of the requirement of the proteasome in PAX3 inhibition of p53 protein levels

H1299 cells in 60mm dishes were transfected with EGFPN1 at 5ng per plate, pGL3 Basic at  $1.8\mu$ g per plate and 0.5625 ng of p53. PAX3 or empty vector was added at 0.9  $\mu$ g per plate as indicated. 50 $\mu$ M MG132 was added at 48 h and cells harvested at the times indicated before analysis by western blotting with DO-1, 2A-9 and Ab290.

A number of interesting conclusions can be drawn from this experiment. Firstly, endogenous HDM2 protein levels (in H1299 cells) are subject to repression by PAX3. At time zero the relative abundance of HDM2 falls by 84% in the presence of PAX3. Secondly, inhibition of proteasomal degradation with MG132 leads to HDM2 accumulation (the relative level of HDM2 rises to 83% of control in the presence of PAX3) indicating that this is the primary route of HDM2 degradation in this assay. Finally, and most importantly, inhibition of p53 protein expression by PAX3 is not rescued by MG132, suggesting that PAX3 is stimulating degradation of p53 via an alternative pathway.

### 6.3 Discussion

In this chapter I have addressed the requirement for HDM2 and ubiquitin-proteasomal degradation of p53 in the PAX3 mediated repression of p53 protein expression. Using a p53 mutant protein that prevents HDM2 binding (p53 F19A) I have shown that HDM2 binding is not required for repression of p53 dependent transcription. Furthermore, the p53 F19A mutant protein is subject to the same repression of expression in response to PAX3 as observed with wild-type p53. This suggests that the accepted predominant negative regulator of p53, HDM2, is not required for PAX3 stimulated turnover of p53 protein. A number of other proteins have been identified as negative regulators of p53 including PIRH2 [125], COP-1 [124], and CHIP [190]. These proteins share E3 ligase activity and mediate ubiquitination of p53. This meant that before investigating the contribution of PIRH2, COP-1 and CHIP to PAX3 mediated p53 turnover it was prudent to assess the role of ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation in general. Using the 6 C-terminal lysine residue p53 mutant p53 6KR I have demonstrated that ubiquitination of these residues is not required for PAX3 inhibition of p53 expression. This finding implicates a novel mechanism for PAX3 stimulated p53 degradation but does not rule out proteasomal degradation of p53 altogether. Although the 6 C-terminal lysine residues mutated in p53 6KR have been shown to be important for p53 turnover, p53 transcriptional activity [131] and p53 sub-cellular localization [133], more recent reports have suggested other amino acids within the DNA binding domain as targets for ubiquitination by p53 negative regulators [132]. Confirmation that ubiquitination is not required for PAX3 mediated p53 degradation was obtained by performing direct assessment of p53 ubiquitination. The direct assessment of ubiquitination demonstrated in figures 6.5 and 6.6 were based on the published methods of Xirodimas et al. [189]. In their paper the authors demonstrated strong ubiquitination of endogenous p53 that was clearly enhanced with the addition of an HDM2 expression construct. Despite several attempts I was unable to demonstrate clear p53 ubiquitination by endogenous proteins and the possibility remains that PAX3 is able to promote the ubiquitination of p53 in H1299 cells but I am unable to detect this low level activity in my assays. However, the lack of ubiquitination of p53 in the presence of PAX3 after addition of the proteasome inhibitor MG132 (Fig. 6.6) argues against this possibility. In this assay a low level of

p53 ubiquitination by endogenous pathways is observed in the western blot of total cellular p53 that is not enhanced by PAX3.

Proteasomal degradation of p53 does not necessarily require ubiquitination; a ubiquitin-independent mechanism of proteasomal degradation has been suggested regulated by NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) [191]. PAX3 recruitment of NQO1 for p53 degradation is made less likely by the finding that proteasomal inhibition using MG132 failed to rescue p53 protein levels from PAX3 induced downregulation. Together these findings provide evidence that p53 is not being downregulated by the conventional ubiquitin-proteasome system of protein degradation in the presence of PAX3. This statement must be considered on the background of work that has shown that H1299 cells exhibit a deficiency in p53 turnover despite normal levels of HDM2 and adequate p53 ubiquitination [181]. The apparent lack of proteasomal degradation of p53 in H1299 cells has also been demonstrated in some neuroblastoma cell lines. Over-expression of HDM2 in neuroblastoma cell lines fails to decrease the high steady state levels of endogenous p53. Moreover, exogenous p53, when introduced into these cells, is also resistant to HDM2-directed degradation. This resistance is believed not due to a lack of HDM2 expression in NB cells or a lack of p53-HDM2 interaction, nor is it due to a deficiency in the ubiquitination state of p53 or proteasome dysfunction [192]. Instead, HDM2-resistant p53 from neuroblastoma cells is associated with covalent modification of p53 and masking of the modificationsensitive PAb-421 epitope [192]. The covalent modification of p53 in H1299 cells is a possible mechanism for the observed resistance to proteasomal degradation of p53 and should be considered with future experiments.

If the proteasome, the final common pathway for the majority of protein degradation within the cell, is not being utilized to promote p53 turnover in the presence of p53, what is? Another potential mechanism for p53 negative regulation has been documented in the literature and relies on the activity of the nonlysosomal calcium-activated neutral protease, or calpain [193-195]. Calpain belongs to the family of cysteine proteases and calpains are part of a regulatory proteolytic system [194]. Calpain cleaves p53 within the DO-1 antibody epitope into a 46 kDa form in vitro [194]. The cleaved fragment of p53 is believed to be unstable *in vivo* and cleavage fragments are not detectable in cell based assays [194, 195], however inhibition of

95

calpain activity with calpastatin *in vivo* provides good evidence for calpain activity. The DO-1 antibody used throughout this project fails to recognize calpain cleaved p53 and only loss of the full-length protein can be detected. To determine the role of calpain cleavage in PAX3 mediated degradation of p53 an experiment to block calpain activity using calpastatin should be conducted.

### 7. The biological effects of PAX3 repression in neural crest derived tumours

### 7.1 Introduction

The ability of PAX3 to repress p53 expression and function in an artificial system has been clearly demonstrated in the previous chapters. PAX3 is expressed in the neural crest where the primary role of PAX3 may be to keep p53 down-regulated and prevent apoptosis until a specific developmental programme is completed [20]. PAX3 is down-regulated in later development and its expression is restricted to a small number of highly specialised stem cells such as melanocytes in the bulge region of hair follicles [83]. In this setting Pax3 acts simultaneously to initiate a melanogenic cascade while acting downstream to prevent terminal differentiation, thus maintaining the undifferentiated phenotype of a lineage restricted stem cell [83]. PAX3 is frequently re-expressed in cancer cells of neural crest origin, PAX3 mRNA is detectable in 77% of cultured primary malignant melanomas, expression increasing with tumour stage [105]. PAX3 is also expressed in neuroblastoma cell lines due to transcriptional up-regulation by N-MYC [106]. Evidence from the myogenic cell lineage supports a role for PAX3 in tumourigenesis. PAX3 is over expressed in embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma and a PAX3:FKHR fusion protein resulting from chromosomal translocation occurs in a high proportion of alveolar rhabdomyosarcomas [103]. This combination of evidence suggests that PAX3 is promoting survival of tumours of neural crest and myogenic origin. Indeed, antisense depletion of PAX3 in melanoma and rhabdomyosarcoma cells leads to loss of cell viability by an apoptotic pathway [103, 105]. More recently it has been demonstrated that PAX3 may play a role in resistance to chemotherapy in malignant melanoma cells [31]. A modest increase in p53 immunoreactive cells was demonstrated after PAX3 antisense treatment, though whether p53 was required for the chemosensitisation was not examined [31].

In this chapter I describe experiments conducted to further examine the role of PAX3 in p53 functional inhibition in cell lines of neural crest origin. Initially I attempted to repeat the published antisense down-regulation of PAX3 and extend these

experiments to the neuroblastoma cell line Kelly. This was followed by targeted down-regulation of PAX3 to define the cellular response to PAX3 suppression in two biologically relevant cell lines, the malignant melanoma cell line UACC-62 and the neuroblastoma cell line IMR 32.

### 7.2 Results

# 7.2.1 Down-regulation of PAX3 in Kelly cells leads to loss of cell viability

A report by Bernasconi et al. [103] had shown that treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma with specific PAX3 antisense oligonucleotides (AS-ODN) leads to loss of cell viability. Using commercially generated oligonucleotides of identical sequence to those used by Bernasconi et al. [103] (Table 7.1) the requirement for PAX3 expression in the survival of the neuroblastoma cell line Kelly was tested. Kelly was chosen as the initial target cell line as it has previously been shown to express high levels of PAX3 as a direct target of amplified N-Myc [106].

Oligonucleotide	Sequence
Antisense	5'-gcgtggtcatcctgggggc-3'
Missense	5'-gcgaggacaacgagggggc-3'

#### Table 7.1: Oligonucleotides used to test PAX3 knock-down in Kelly cells

Initial experiments indicated that a dose of 0.5  $\mu$ M PAX3 AS-ODN was optimal for suppression of cell viability in Kelly cells. Subsequent experiments were therefore conducted at this dose. Figure 7.1 is representative of three separate experiments and shows that the findings made by Bernasconi et al. [103] can be extended to a neuroblastoma cell line. Background cell death of 20% is observed with transfection reagent alone (lipofectamine 0.5  $\mu$ M); there is a non-statistically significant rise in cell death to 30% with transfection of 0.5  $\mu$ M missense ODN. A significant increase in the number of non-viable cells as a percentage of the total cell population is observed with PAX3 specific AS-ODN transfection (>3 fold increase between

lipofectamine alone and antisense; p<0.001 and >2 fold increase between missense and antisense; p<0.001). Addition of the chemical inhibitor of p53 pifithrin- $\alpha$  leads to a fall in the number of non-viable cells compared to antisense treatment alone from 67% to 46.8% (p=0.008).



## Figure 7.1: PAX3 AS-ODN treatment of Kelly cells leads to loss of cell viability that is rescued by pifithrin- $\alpha$

Kelly cells in 60 mm dishes were transfected in anti-biotic free medium with 0.5  $\mu$ M missense or antisense oligonucleotides or lipofectamine alone as indicated. Every 24 h Pifithrin- $\alpha$  (20  $\mu$ M) or DMSO was added as indicated and the number of non-viable cells counted at 72 h using trypan blue exclusion (n=3). All data are non-viable cells as percentage of total cell population  $\pm$  S.E.M.

# 7.2.2 Characterisation of the neural crest derived tumour cells lines IMR 32 and UACC- 62

Although Kelly cells seemed a good initial target for study of PAX3 downregulation there was considerable concern about the high background levels of cell death with transfection and their slow growth in cell culture. A more robust cell line was required that grew quickly in culture and could be relied upon for reproducibility between assays. Two biologically relevant, neural crest derived cell lines, IMR 32 (neuroblastoma) and UACC-62 (melanoma) were therefore considered. The cell lines IMR 32 and UACC-62 are known to express PAX3 and possess wild-type p53 protein [106, 196, 197]. In the case of IMR 32, expression of PAX3 has been shown to be under the direct control of N-MYC [106]. MYC transactivation of PAX3 promoter activity is dependent upon a non-canonical E box site in the 5' promoter region of PAX3 [106]. No such regulatory mechanism has been documented for UACC-62. Further characterisation of the genetic basis of expression of PAX3 and N-MYC in IMR 32 and UACC-62 was conducted using fluorescence in-situ hybridisation (FISH). Cells were arrested in metaphase by exposure to the spindle disturbing agent colcimid before being fixed and processed by Lisa Russell of the Wessex Regional Cytogenetics Laboratory.







**Figure 7.2: FISH analysis of N-MYC and PAX3 genes in IMR-32** IMR32 cells were grown in T125 flasks and treated with colcimid prior to fixing with methanol. FISH staining was conducted by Lisa Russell of the Wessex Regional Cytogenetics Laboratory.

Figure 7.2 shows that there is amplification of *N-MYC* gene copy number in IMR 32 cells. This corresponds with data showing that *N-MYC* is amplified in IMR 32 and N-MYC protein is up-regulated in this cell line leading to up-regulation of PAX3 protein expression [106, 156]. *PAX3* gene copy number is normal (i.e. 2 copies per cell). While these findings are not novel they confirm that the IMR 32 cells in the laboratory have not differed significantly from those in the literature.

A similar experiment was then conducted with the melanoma cell line UACC-62. Figure 7.3 shows that although UACC-62 cells are tetraploid, there is no further amplification of either *N-MYC* or *PAX3* genes.

**Metaphase PAX3** 







**Figure 7.3: FISH analysis of N-MYC and PAX3 genes in UACC-62** UACC-62 cells were grown in T125 flasks and treated with colcimid prior to fixing with methanol. FISH staining was conducted by Lisa Russell of the Wessex Regional Cytogenetics Laboratory.

# 7.2.3 Down-regulation of PAX3 in IMR 32 leads to decreased cell viability

A high level of background cell death was observed using AS-ODN in Kelly cells. All previous reports of PAX3 down-regulation have used AS-ODN [31, 103, 105, 197]. To extend and complement these findings commercially available short interfering RNA (siRNA) was used to target *PAX3* mRNA for destruction. The use of siRNA offers a number of benefits over AS-ODN mediated mRNA suppression in the cytoplasm. Gene silencing with siRNA is achieved at concentrations lower than those required for other agents [198, 199] and siRNA is believed to produce fewer off-target effects [200]. RNA interference can be delivered by multiple vectors and has potential for *in vivo* use as the interferon pathway induced by AS-ODN is bypassed [200]. To measure the effects of siRNA mediated gene silencing a cell counting assay was developed for use in 24 well and 6 well plate formats. Cells were grown to near

confluency in 24 well plates prior to transfection with gene specific siRNA or control non-silencing siRNA (scrambled) at day 0. Optimisation had shown that IMR 32 cells could not be transfected at lower densities due to non-specific siRNA toxicity. This meant that the cells had to be transferred to 6 well plates at 24 hours before the growth suppressive effects of over-confluency were observed. Cells were counted at days 0, 1, 3 and 5 by trypsinisation and resuspension in medium before being mixed 50:50 with trypan blue. This enabled a count of the total cell population of the well to be made. Down-regulation of PAX3 using specific siRNA led to a decrease in cell viability in IMR 32 cells of over 50% compared to scrambled at day 5 (Fig. 7.4). This loss of cell viability was equivalent to that observed by down-regulating HDM2.



## Figure 7.4: Down-regulation of PAX3 leads to decreased cell viability equivalent to down-regulation of HDM2 in IMR 32 cells

IMR 32 cells were transfected at c. 90% (to minimize the non-specific toxicity of siRNA in this cell line) in 24 well plates at day 0 with 20 pmol per well gene specific siRNA as indicated. Cells were transferred to 6 well plates at 24 h. Viable cells were counted at the times indicated using trypan blue exclusion. Triplicate wells were counted for each data point and represent mean cell count  $\pm$  S.E.M. Data is representative of three separate experiments.

Despite showing that PAX3 was required for maintained cell viability in IMR 32 cells, further experiments with this cell line proved problematic. IMR 32 cells adhered poorly to plastic and were slow growing. They also required to be maintained at high density for transfection in order to minimise non-specific toxicity of siRNA. This meant that they had to be transferred to 6 well plates at 24 h adding a

further insult to already stressed cells. Therefore, subsequent attempts to rescue the effects of PAX3 down-regulation with p53 knock-down were unsuccessful. I was also unable to demonstrate PAX3 knock-down using either western blotting for protein or qRT-PCR for PAX3 message. This is likely to be because PAX3 expression under the influence of N-MYC is cell cycle time specific. In addition, cells at near confluency are less likely to be actively dividing and therefore will not express PAX3. Further experiments using siRNA were therefore conducted in the melanoma derived cell line UACC-62 and are described in the following sections.

# 7.2.4 Down-regulation of PAX3 in UACC-62 leads to decreased cell viability

The faster and more reliable growth characteristics of UACC-62 cells meant that they could be cultured at less density and therefore removed the requirement for replating at 24 h. As a positive control for p53 activation PAX3 siRNA was compared to the down-regulation of the major p53 negative regulator HDM2. Figure 7.5A shows that the growth of UACC-62 cells transfected with scrambled siRNA is normal after day 2. There is significant loss of cell viability observed at day 4 that persists up to day 8 for cells transfected with *HDM2* specific (p<0.001 at day 6) and *PAX3* specific (p<0.001 at day 6) siRNA. Confirmation that the siRNA is having on-target effects is observed in Figure 7.5B. In the presence of scambled siRNA HDM2 and PAX3 protein are expressed and can be detected by western blotting. *HDM2* specific siRNA caused a marked reduction in HDM2 protein expression and PAX3 protein was below the levels of detection after PAX3 specific siRNA down-regulation.



#### Figure 7.5: Effects of gene specific siRNA in UACC-62 cells

(A) UACC-62 cells were transfected in 24 well plates with 20 pmol siRNA per well as indicated. Medium was changed every 48 h and viable cells were counted at the times indicated using trypan blue exclusion. Triplicate wells were counted for each data point and represent mean cell count  $\pm$  S.E.M. Data is representative of three separate experiments. (B) UACC-62 cells in 60 mm dishes were transfected with 200 pmol siRNA as indicated and target proteins analysed at 48 h by western blotting.

# 7.2.5 Down-regulation of PAX3 causes cell death and not cell cycle arrest in UACC-62 cells.

Having established that PAX3 knock-down in UACC-62 caused loss of cell viability it was important to define if this was due to cytostasis or cell death. In Figure 7.6A the number of viable cells per well as a percentage of the total cell population is shown at day 6 after transfection with siRNA. There is a significant loss of cell viability between scrambled and *PAX3* siRNA (p<0.05), indicating cell death. Furthermore, *PAX3* siRNA did not cause cell cycle arrest when the cells were analysed for DNA content by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry (Fig. 7.6B).



## Figure 7.6: Differential effects of gene specific siRNA on UACC-62 cell viability

(A) UACC-62 cells were transfected in 24 well plates with 20 pmol siRNA per well as indicated. Medium was changed every 48 h and viable cells as a percentage of the total cell population were counted at day 6 using trypan blue exclusion. Triplicate wells were counted for each data point and represent mean cell count  $\pm$  S.E.M. Data is representative of three separate experiments. (B) UACC-62 cells were transfected in 60mm dishes with 200 pmol siRNA as indicated. 3 days post-transfection, cells were fixed in ethanol, stained with propidium iodide, and DNA content was determined by flow cytometry.

In contrast, transfection with HDM2 specific siRNA caused an increase in the number of cells in G<sub>1</sub> from 61.9% to 77.8% (Fig. 7.6B), but HDM2 siRNA did not cause a significant decrease in the number of viable cells (Fig. 7.6A). In this assay PAX3 specific siRNA would be expected to show an increase in the number of cells in sub-G1. This was not observed.

To investigate the mechanistic basis for the difference in cellular response to p53 activation by HDM2 or PAX3 down-regulation the major transcriptional targets of p53 were examined. Figure 7.7 shows that in response to HDM2 knock-down there is accumulation of p53 protein (relative levels increase by over 100%). This accumulation of p53 does not lead to apoptosis as evidenced by lack of PARP cleavage. PARP (Poly(ADP-Ribose)Polymerase) is a nuclear protein involved in DNA repair and is one of the earliest targets for caspase cleavage to a signature 89 kDa fragment during apoptosis [201]. Interestingly these cells do not undergo

apoptosis, despite accumulation of the pro-apoptotic p53 target protein BAX. The cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor  $p21^{WAF1}$  is seen to accumulate after HDM2 down-regulation. In contrast, suppression of PAX3 expression causes PARP cleavage despite lesser accumulation of p53 (on average 25% over 3 experiments). Accumulation of BAX is clearly evident but there is no evidence of  $p21^{WAF1}$  induction.



## Figure 7.7: Analysis of p53 pathway proteins in response to Hdm2 and PAX3 down-regulation in UACC-62 cells

UACC-62 cells in 60 mm dishes were transfected with 200 pmol siRNA as indicated and p53 pathway proteins analysed at 48 h by western blotting.

# 7.2.6 The cell death observed after PAX3 knock-down in UACC-62 cells is p53 dependent

Previous reports have shown that UACC-62 cells show significant loss of viability and undergo apoptosis following the transfection of *PAX3* specific antisense oligonucleotides [31, 197]. The findings presented so far in this chapter support these observations and extend them to include PAX3 knock-down with siRNA. Comparison with down-regulation of the p53 major negative regulator HDM2 has indicated a differential response in terms of cell death or cell cycle arrest. Given this difference in response it was important to define whether the cell death observed after
*PAX3* siRNA was p53 dependent. To test this hypothesis UACC-62 cells were exposed to *PAX3* or *HDM2* siRNA in the presence or absence of *TP53* siRNA. As expected the decrease in cell viability after HDM2 knock-down is rescued by *TP53* siRNA (Fig. 7.7A). The growth inhibitory effects of *HDM2* siRNA are observed at day 2 and persist up to day 6. Addition of *TP53* specific siRNA leads to complete rescue of growth inhibition at every time point. More strikingly the growth inhibitory effects of *PAX3* siRNA are completely rescued by the addition of *TP53* siRNA at every time point to day 6 (Fig. 7.7B) (p=0.001 between *PAX3* and Scrambled and between *PAX3* and *PAX3* + *TP53* siRNA at day 4).



### Figure 7.8: Down-regulation of p53 rescues UACC-62 cells from Hdm2 or PAX3 siRNA mediated loss of cell viability

UACC-62 cells were transfected in 24 well plates with 20 pmol gene specific siRNA as indicated. Total siRNA was equalised to 40 pmol with scrambled siRNA. Medium was changed every 48 h and viable cells were counted at the times indicated using trypan blue exclusion. Triplicate wells were counted for each data point and represent mean cell count  $\pm$  S.E.M. Data is representative of three separate experiments.

A possible explanation for the apparent rescue of PAX3 siRNA mediated cell death by p53 down-regulation was an interaction between siRNA oligonucleotides, leading to incomplete PAX3 suppression. To investigate this possibility the relative levels of PAX3 mRNA were measured using quantitative RT-PCR. Transfection of PAX3 specific siRNA caused a 3 fold reduction in relative PAX3 mRNA abundance (p=0.001), this was not significantly affected by addition of TP53 siRNA (Fig. 7.8).



## Figure 7.9: Down-regulation of PAX3 mRNA is not affected by p53 siRNA

To confirm *PAX3* mRNA knockdown quantitative RT-PCR was performed on duplicate samples transfected with the indicated siRNA and harvested at day 3. Total siRNA was equalized with Scrambled siRNA. *PAX3* mRNA levels were normalised to *GAPDH* housekeeping gene expression and are expressed as a mean relative abundance  $\pm$  S.D. of duplicate assays.

### 7.2.7 Down-regulation of PAX3 in UACC-62 induces apoptosis

I have demonstrated in this chapter that suppression of PAX3 expression in a melanoma cell line leads to p53 activation and cell death. The tumour suppressor function of p53 is in part due to induction of apoptosis in response to ongoing cellular stress [41, 45]. To establish that an apoptotic programme was occurring after PAX3 suppression in UACC-62 cells, PARP cleavage, a marker of active apoptosis was used. At 48 h after transfection of *PAX3* siRNA the amount of cleaved PARP as a percentage of the total cellular PARP is approaching 20% (Fig. 7.10). This is reduced to less than 10% (and below the level observed with control non-silencing siRNA) with the co-transfection of *TP53* specific siRNA. Transfection of Hdm2 specific siRNA does not cause PARP cleavage. This supports the finding shown in figure 7.6, that p53 activation in response to HDM2 down-regulation induces cell cycle arrest.



# Figure 7.9: PAX3 siRNA induces p53 dependent apoptosis in UACC-62 cells

UACC-62 cells were transfected in 60 mm dishes with 200 pmol gene specific siRNA as indicated. Total transfected siRNA was equalized to 400 pmol with scrambled siRNA. At 48 h PARP cleavage was analysed by western blotting. Representative of 3 independent experiments.

### 7.3 Discussion

In previous chapters I have made use of artificial cellular systems to study the relationship between over-expressed exogenous proteins. While this has led to many novel and important findings they provide little insight into the biological significance of PAX3 expression in neural crest derived tumours. To address this question I have used targeted down-regulation of endogenously expressed PAX3 in biologically relevant cell lines to further examine PAX3 function. Characterisation of IMR 32 and UACC-62 using FISH has confirmed the many-fold amplification of *N-MYC* in IMR 32 cells, previously shown to influence PAX3 expression [106]. N-MYC is not amplified in UACC-62 cells, a finding unsurprising as UACC-62 cells are of melanocyte origin. An alternative mechanism driving aberrant PAX3 expression in these cells remains to be elucidated. PAX3 has been shown to be required for the survival of two cell lines derived from primary neuroblastoma tissue (Kelly and IMR 32) and one malignant melanoma cell line (UACC-62). Further investigation of the mechanistic basis of PAX3 dependent cell survival in the neuroblastoma cell lines was limited by their poor growth characteristics. In addition I was unable to demonstrate PAX3 expression in these cells by either western blotting or qRT-PCR (data not shown). This may be because PAX3 is expressed at levels below the threshold of detection in my assays. PAX3 expression in neuroblastoma cell lines is cell cycle stage dependent [106], but I was unable to successfully transfect either Kelly or IMR 32 cells at low density, due to siRNA toxicity, when they would exhibit the greatest proliferative capacity.

I have shown for the first time that the apoptosis observed after knockdown of PAX3 expression in melanoma cells is p53-dependent. I have demonstrated clear on-target effects of gene specific siRNA leading to loss of cell viability in UACC-62 cells (Fig. 7.5). The loss of cell viability observed after knock-down of both HDM2 and PAX3 is rescued by co-transfection of *TP53* specific siRNA (Fig. 7.7). It is clear in this experiment that the effects of both HDM2 and PAX3 siRNA on cell viability are not as dramatic or long-lasting as that observed in figure 7.5. This is likely to be because the amount of siRNA used in figure 7.7 (40 pmol) is double that used in figure 7.5 (20

pmol), the optimum dose of siRNA in this assay. The 40 pmol concentration is suboptimal when effects on proliferation and PARP cleavage are assessed.

PAX3 knockdown in melanoma cells leads to the induction of the pro-apoptotic p53 target gene *BAX*. The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor  $p21^{WAF1}$  is not induced by PAX3 knockdown. This is in contrast to the induction of  $p21^{WAF1}$  protein observed after HDM2 knockdown, which appears to lead to cell cycle arrest rather than apoptosis. Using propidium iodide staining and analysis of cellular DNA content by FACS, I was able to show that *HDM2* specific siRNA caused a G<sub>1</sub> arrest in UACC-62 cells. In the same experiment I was unable to see evidence of apoptosis in response to *PAX3* siRNA. This is at odds with the PARP cleavage experiments that clearly show caspase activation in response to PAX3 down-regulation. It is possible that an increase in the sub-G<sub>1</sub> cellular population is being masked by the high background rate of cell fragmentation in control-transfected cells. The literature clearly supports apoptosis in response to PAX3 down-regulation in melanoma cells [31, 105, 197].

Evidence to support the induction of cell cycle arrest in response to HDM2 suppression comes from recent reports using Nutlins, chemical inhibitors of HDM2 [182, 183]. Nutlins have been observed to specifically promote wild-type p53 dependent cell cycle arrest via WAF1 [182, 183]. It appears that induction of the p21<sup>WAF1</sup> cell cycle check point is critical in determining the response of UACC-62 cells to p53 activation. PAX3 down-regulation activates p53 but promotes apoptosis rather than cell cycle arrest. There are two possible explanations for this phenomenon. Firstly, PAX3 down-regulation activates p53 in a target specific manner, causing the preferential induction of pro-apoptotic genes. PAX3 may affect the cellular activity of apoptosis regulatory p53 co-factors such as ASPP [145]. The ASPP family consists of two pro-apoptotic members ASPP1 and ASPP2 and one antiapoptosis member iASPP [51]. ASPP1 and ASPP2 bind to the DNA binding domain of p53 and specifically stimulate the transactivation function of p53 on pro-apoptotic genes [52]. iASPP competes directly with the other ASPP family members for the DNA binding domain of p53 [202]. Studies have confirmed the biological relevance of these proteins by showing down-regulation of ASPP1 and ASPP2 and upregulation of iASPP in a range of tumours [52, 140]. Further complexity in control of the p53 response is provided by proteins such as E2F1 [142] and YB1 [141], both of

which are potential targets for PAX3 activity. E2F1 interacts directly with p53 to enhance the apoptotic activity of p53 in response to DNA damage [203]; in addition E2F1 can phosphorylate p53 to stimulate apoptosis [53]. YB1 inhibits the ability of p53 to cause cell death and transactivate pro-apoptotic targets but does not interfere with transactivation of p21WAF1 [141]. PAX3 could be stimulating YB1 expression in neural crest derived tumours and withdrawal of the protective effects of YB1 could lead to apoptosis after PAX3 knock-down. Secondly, p53-independent activation of the WAF1 promoter by PAX3 or PAX3-regulated genes such as microphthalmiaassociated transcription factor (*MITF*), a known regulator of p21<sup>WAF1</sup> expression may be involved [177]. This possibility is supported by the evidence that PAX3 induces activity from a *p21* reporter gene (Fig. 4.6). The mechanisms underlying this differential effect on p53 target genes remain to be identified. Defining the molecular basis for this will be important, as an ability to promote apoptosis rather than cell cycle arrest in response to p53 activation has potential therapeutic implications [42, 145]. The findings presented in this and previous chapters support the growing body of evidence that PAX3 provides a promising target for the therapy of malignant melanoma, and potentially also neuroblastoma and rhabdomyosarcoma in which *PAX3* expression and retention of wild-type p53 are common events [31, 103, 105]. Previous studies have shown not only that ablation of PAX3 expression in cancer cells potently activates pro-apoptotic pathways [31, 103, 105], but also that the expression of PAX3 is essentially restricted to tumour tissue in the adult [105], providing the potential for a high degree of tumour specificity. PAX3 has been suggested as a target for the development of novel anti-cancer therapies [8]. I have identified the transcription factor activity of PAX3 as critical for its role in repression of p53-dependent pro-apoptotic pathways, information that will assist in the development of therapeutic strategies for the treatment of melanoma and other PAX3dependent tumours. I have begun this process and in the next chapter I detail preliminary experiments to develop a cell-based screen to identify compounds that inhibit endogenous PAX3 transcription factor activity in melanoma cells.

### 8. Development of a cell based screening assay to identify compounds that inhibit PAX3 function in melanoma cells

#### 8.1 Introduction

Skin cancer is common with over 73000 new cases recorded each year in the UK [204]. Malignant melanoma is the least common skin cancer but the most serious, responsible for over 1800 deaths each year in the UK [204]. The number of melanoma cases worldwide is increasing faster than any other cancer; rates of increase in the order of 3-7% per year have been recorded [205]. Estimates suggest a doubling of melanoma incidence every 10-20 years [206]. Survival is strongly associated with thickness of tumour at the time of diagnosis. Surgery for tumours less than 1.5 mm thick offers a greater than 90% survival at five years, but for tumours thicker than 3.5 mm five year survival is only 47% for men and 55% for women [204]. Melanoma cells exhibit an intrinsic resistance to chemotherapy and the five year survival rate for stage IV disease treated with dacarbazine is only 6% [207]. In addition only high does interferon has been shown to confer a modest long term survival advantage when used as systemic adjuvant therapy for patients at high risk of recurrent malignant melanoma [208]. Malignant melanoma cells may exhibit a range of genetic lesions including activating mutations of NRAS and BRAF leading to selfsufficiency in growh factor signalling, activation of AKT by PTEN deletion causing cell survival signalling and deregulation of cell cycle control proteins [209]. Notably amplification of the PAX3 target MITF occurs most frequently in tumours that have a poor prognosis and is associated with resistance to chemotherapy [210]. MITF may act as a melanoma oncogene and interference with MITF function increases chemosensitivity of a melanoma cell line [210]. The role of PAX3 has not been extensively documented in melanoma but studies that have been performed confirm PAX3 as critical to the survival and chemo-resistance of these tumours [31, 105]. I have extended these findings to show that PAX3 inhibits p53 function in melanoma cells and that the transcriptional integrity of PAX3 is an absolute requirement for this effect *in vitro*. Furthermore the tumour specific expression of PAX3 makes it an

113

excellent target for therapy. In this chapter I set out the design and initial optimisation of an assay to identify compounds that inhibit PAX3 transcriptional function. I also describe how this assay could be used in future work to dissect further the mechanistic basis of p53 functional inhibition by PAX3.

۰,

### 8.2 Results

# 8.2.1 Designing an assay to interrogate PAX3 transcriptional function

The detailed description of the design of a cell based high throughput screen is out-with the scope of this thesis and has been reviewed in detail by Johnston and Johnston [211]. In principle a cell based screening assay offers a number of benefits over other assays for lead generation, including removal of the requirement for protein isolation and purification and the ability to assay the function of transcriptionally active proteins in the presence of native co-activators and corepressors [211]. I have established that the transcriptional activity of PAX3 is fundamental to its ability to repress p53 function in melanoma cells. This finding, coupled with the relatively low expression of PAX3 make a cell based screen the most likely to generate potentially useful chemical agents. In the long term I aim to interrogate large chemical collections to accurately identify active compounds able to repress PAX3 transcriptional function. To do this I needed to develop an assay that provides a robust, reproducible signal with adequate throughput to screen large compound libraries [212]. In addition the assay signal window must provide adequate separation between the maximum and minimum responses to allow confident identification of potential "hits" [212]. The initial considerations to generate such an assay were assay target design, capture of assay signal, optimisation of an appropriate cell model and production of enough cells for screening. Given my previous experience in generating a small scale assay for p53 transcriptional function using a dual luciferase reporter I decided to use this format to generate a PAX3 responsive screen. The use of a dual reporter system controls for the generation of false positive hits due to loss of cellular proliferation or chemical cytotoxicity.

PAX3 has been shown to directly transactivate the MITF promoter and the specific binding sites have been demonstrated [213]. Furthermore a MITF reporter construct has been shown to be efficiently activated in melanoma cells by endogenous PAX3 [213]. Watanabe et al. also demonstrated that disease causing mutations of PAX3 prevented MITF promoter activation by completely inhibiting PAX3 binding to the

consensus sequence <u>ATTAATACTACTGGAAC</u> [213]. The MITF promoter was therefore chosen as the PAX3 responsive target for assay optimisation.

### 8.2.2 Development of a transient transfection reporter assay to assess PAX3 transactivation of the MITF promoter

The MITF promoter contains a PAX3 response element responsible for over 80% of promoter activity in 624-mel melanoma cells [213]. This activity has been confirmed to reside within a PAX3 consensus binding sequence between positions - 263 and -238 of the MITF promoter P1 [213]. In addition a second PAX3 response element, P2, has been identified between positions -40 and -26 [214]. The relative role of these binding sites in PAX3 dependent MITF activity is cell line dependent [214]. I have therefore used a minimal MITF promoter construct consisting of bases - 382 to + 96 of the MITF promoter in pGL3Basic for optimisation of PAX3 response elements and also contains binding sites for the transcription factor SOX10, shown to act synergistically with PAX3 to promote MITF transactivation [214].

The ability of PAX3 to transactivate MITF has been reported to be cell line dependent [213, 214], therefore the melanoma cell line UACC-62, which I have shown to express PAX3 was tested for MITF reporter activation. Watanabe et al., in the report first describing the relationship between PAX3 and the MITF promoter, had used relatively large amounts of reporter construct to produce increased relative luciferase activity from the MITF reporter gene [213]. With this in mind a complex titration experiment was conducted to find the conditions best suited to maximal MITF reporter activation. This was important because to produce a robust assay for high throughput screening a large difference between the minimum and maximum response is required.



## Figure 8.1: Optimization of MITF reporter induction in UACC-62 cells

UACC-62 cells were transfected with the indicated amounts of MITF-luc, pGL3 Noluc or pGL3 Basic as indicated in the presence of varying amounts of pRLSV40 as indicated in 96 well plates. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=2). All data are mean RLU  $\pm$  S.D.

In figure 8.1 the relative amount of MITF reporter has been varied on the background of different total plasmid transfection and different amounts of renilla plasmid. It can be observed that variation between 20 ng and 10 ng renilla plasmid has little effect on MITF activity. In both cases the optimum conditions are 200 ng of MITF reporter with no carrier plasmid. This gives a >50 fold induction of reporter activity compared to pGL3 Basic. By doubling the amount of reporter construct transfected the response has been increased by over 6 times (comparison between MITF-luc 200 ng and MITF-luc 100 ng with 20 ng pRLSV40). This experiment defined the optimum conditions for MITF induction in UACC-62 cells to be carried forward into the next stage of assay optimization.

### 8.2.3 Transactivation of the MITF promoter can be repressed by PAX3 inhibitors

The development of a high throughput screen to test possible inhibitors of PAX3 transcriptional function is dependent on hit compounds producing significant

down-regulation of the MITF reporter signal. Before trial compounds could be assessed evidence was required that demonstrated that transactivation of MITF in UACC-62 cells was PAX3 dependent and that inhibition of PAX3 transactivation of MITF was possible. In order to demonstrate these effects I used two strategies. Firstly, I have shown that PAX3 specific siRNA has on-target effects in UACC-62 cells. Therefore PAX3 siRNA was used to repress PAX3 expression and any effects on MITF reporter activity observed. Secondly a presentation at the American Association for Cancer Research 97<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting had suggested that the transcriptional activity of PAX3 is in part regulated by phosphorylation [215]. Furthermore, use of a kinase inhibitor PKC412, a staurosporine derivative originally developed against protein kinase C (PKC), was demonstrated to produce caspase-3 dependent apoptosis in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cells via PAX3/FKHR inhibition [216]. I therefore tested the effect of two kinase inhibitors on PAX3 activation of MITF; UO126 a potent mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK) inhibitor [217, 218] and LY294002 a specific phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) inhibitor [219]. Figure 8.2 shows the result of an experiment to test both strategies for suppression of PAX3 transactivation of the MITF reporter. There is clear transactivation of the MITF reporter with an over 48 fold increase in relative luciferase activity (comparison between pGL3Basic and control (p<0.001)). Addition of the chemical carrier DMSO does not cause any diminution of the MITF reporter activity. UO126 is demonstrated to significantly inhibit MITF reporter induction when compared to control (p=0.001). The PI3K inhibitor LY294002 has been excluded from analysis as it inhibited expression of the control renilla luciferase plasmid (fig. 8.2B). Increasing doses of PAX3 specific siRNA are also shown to inhibit MITF transactivation when compared to control (p<0.004 for all doses). Optimum inhibition is observed with 0.1  $\mu$ l siRNA per well (2 pmol). This demonstrates that activity of the MITF reporter construct is repressed by PAX3 inhibitors.



### Figure 8.2: PAX3 inhibition represses MITF transactivation in UACC-62 cells

UACC-62 cells were transfected with 200 ng MITF-luc (bars 1-8), or pGL3 Basic (bar 9), 20 ng pRLSV40 and PAX3 siRNA as indicated in 96 well plates. DMSO, or kinase inhibitors UO126 ( $25\mu$ M) or LY294002 ( $10\mu$ M) were added at 24 h where indicated. Dual-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reporter assays were performed 48 h after transfection (n=2). (A) Data are mean RLU ± S.E.M. (B) Data are renilla luciferase ± S.E.M.

### 8.3 Discussion

PAX3 has been identified as a potential target for therapy in a range of tumours including malignant melanoma [8]. I have demonstrated that the transcriptional integrity of PAX3 must be retained for it to have this effect. The design and optimisation of a cell based screening assay using UACC-62 cells will allow further investigation of PAX3 transcriptional function and may identify potential lead compounds for therapeutic use. I have demonstrated that the MITF promoter is a valid target for PAX3 transcriptional activity and can be used in a dual reporter assay system. The use of a dual luciferase transient reporter system has a number of advantages including: avoidance of the problems associated with stable reporter cell lines (development time, integration effects and promoter silencing), a reduction in assay variability due to internal normalisation and reduced false positive hits due to non-specific effects of transcription and cell viability.

The activity of PAX3 on the MITF promoter appears to be cell line dependent and this may in part be due to the presence or absence of other transcription factors such as SOX10 [214]. The interaction between PAX3 and SOX10 is not straightforward; the proteins are required to interact physically to transactivate a c-RET enhancer but must bind DNA independently on the MITF promoter to achieve synergy [88, 214]. The expression of SOX10 is limited in the adult [214]. MITF promoter activity is clearly demonstrable in UACC-62 cells and this has previously been shown to be dependent on PAX3 in another melanoma cell line [213]. Optimisation of the assay yielded a low background reporter activity with over 50 times activity of the MITF reporter in the presence of PAX3. This should give a wide enough response window to enable testing of chemical compounds for their effects on PAX3 transcription. Use of genetic and chemical inhibitors of PAX3 has further demonstrated the validity of the assay for interrogating PAX3 function. The kinase inhibitor UO126 repressed MITF reporter activity in this assay, however it has been shown previously that UO126 can also inhibit p53 dependent transcription [220] and will not be taken further into lead generation.

The findings presented in this chapter have shown that the MITF promoter offers a good target to study PAX3 transcriptional activity. The assay will require further optimisation before it can be used for high throughout compound screening. I have shown that PAX3 is required for survival of UACC-62 cells and this occurs by inhibiting p53. Therefore potentially active compounds may be discarded because they decrease overall cell viability and therefore renilla luciferase. To overcome this problem of false negatives the screen will be optimised by co-expression of a dominant negative fragment of p53. It may also be possible to enhance the specificity of MITF reporter activity by using a minimal promoter linked to multiple PAX3 response elements [213]. The final assay will be scaled-up for use in multiple plates and will have to fulfil the criteria of all high throughput screens including optimum Z' score and minimal cross plate and plate to plate variability [212]. This will generate a primary screen for identification of potentially active compounds (Fig. 8.5). The compound libraries available for screening are the NCI challenge set (57 compounds), the NCI mechanistic and diversity sets (~3000 compounds) and a ~1000 compound kinase target-directed library (Biofocus). Positive hits (producing >50% reduction in MITF reporter activity) will be subjected to further analysis to establish PAX3 dependent transcription specificity. Functional analysis of PAX3 inhibition in the form of cell viability and apoptosis assays will be conducted in UACC-62 cells, the PAX3 null melanoma cell line A375 and telomerase-immortalised fibroblasts at IC<sub>50</sub> concentrations for PAX3 transcriptional repression. This will lead to identification of confirmed hits for further analysis of structure activity relationships and medicinal chemistry (Fig. 8.5).



**Figure 8.5: High throughput screening to drug discovery** (Adapted From Malo et al. Nature Biotechnology, Volume 24, 167-175, 2006 [221])

The use of screening methods to identify small molecules with a desired biological activity from compound libraries is an approach with many advantages [222]. The regulatory pathways that control PAX3 and p53 activity are not completely understood so a purely rational approach to drug design is limited by current biological understanding [223]. A cell based screening approach, as described here, pre-selects compounds with the desired activity in a cellular context. Such compounds can be used as tools to study the mechanism of p53 functional inhibition by PAX3 and may also have therapeutic potential as lead compounds for medicinal chemistry.

### 9. Summary of findings and future work

#### 9.1 Summary of findings

PAX proteins are conserved between species and act as master regulators of vital embryological programmes [10, 224]. Aberrant expression of embryological genes is well documented in tumours [70, 224] and many are required for tumour cell survival [8, 10, 35]. A number of PAX family proteins have been documented to inhibit p53 via direct transcriptional repression [10]. This has not been shown for PAX3. PAX3 has been implicated as a survival factor for a range of neural crest derived tumours [103, 105]. These tumours possess wild type p53 but do not undergo spontaneous apoptosis. Inhibition of PAX3 in these tumours leads to cell death via an apoptotic pathway [103, 197]. Work by Pani et al showed that PAX3 inhibited p53 function in the neural crest of mouse embryos [20]. This combination of evidence suggested a role for PAX3 in the inhibition of p53 function in neural crest derived tumours. This became a working hypothesis for study in this project.

The initial objective of this study was to develop a robust and reproducible system in which to investigate p53 function. I made an initial attempt to generate a stable, inducible PAX3 expressing cell line, based on IMR32, using the TET-off system. This system would have been used to assess the effect of PAX3 expression on endogenous p53. Although I was able to achieve stable integration of the TET responsive plasmid, despite many attempts, I was unable to achieve integration of the PAX3 antisense expressing secondary vector. A transient transfection assay was therefore developed to study p53 function in the presence of absence of PAX3. This was achieved by optimisation of a reporter assay system that uses a small number of cells in a 96 well format. I have optimised this system for use in three separate cell lines, using a number of p53 target genes. I have shown for the first time that PAX3 represses p53 transcriptional function. PAX3 was also shown to have direct effects on the promoters of two p53 targets, *PUMA* and *WAF1*.

To further dissect the mechanism of p53 repression by PAX3 a number of mutant PAX3 proteins were generated using site directed mutagenesis. These proteins were carefully designed to determine the role of each active domain of PAX3 in p53

inhibition. The mutant PAX3 proteins became vital tools, not only to study activity of PAX3 in the reporter assay setting, but also later when the effect of PAX3 on p53 protein level was considered. Data from reporter assay experiments shows that PAX3 must retain full transcriptional activity in order to inhibit p53 function. This data also confirms previous findings of interdependence between the DNA binding domains of PAX3 [93, 95, 178].

To study the effects of PAX3 on p53 at the protein level the reporter assay system was scaled up for use in 60mm dishes. Initial observations showed that p53 could be detected at very low levels when expressed in H1299 cells. This meant that small changes to p53 expression in the presence of PAX3 could be detected. PAX3 was observed to repress expression of p53 and furthermore PAX3 was seen to shorten the half life of p53 significantly. Co-expression of PAX3 mutant proteins and p53 showed that PAX3 must retain full transcriptional integrity to have this effect. Indeed, loss of the transactivation domain of PAX3 abolished its ability to repress p53 protein expression, suggesting the involvement of other proteins in PAX3 repression of p53. Further examination of the mechanistic basis of increased p53 turn-over in the presence of PAX3 produced surprising results. Not only was HDM2 not required for increased p53 breakdown, but PAX3 was observed not to induce ubiquitination or proteasomal degradation of p53 protein. This leads to the consideration of other potential mechanisms for p53 degradation in the presence of PAX3 including calpain cleavage [194].

I used a panel of phosphospecific antibodies to interrogate the post-translational modifications of p53 in the presence or absence of p53 (data not shown). These results were inconclusive and this may in part be due to the reduction in p53 levels observed in the presence of PAX3.

The majority of the reporter assay and p53 protein regulation work was conducted in a p53-null, human non small cell lung cancer cell line H1299. This cell line proved to be a reliable vehicle to study the interaction between over-expressed plasmid derived proteins which achieved substantial results. To complement these findings I made use of physiologically relevant cell lines to study the effects of PAX3 down-regulation. I have shown that PAX3 can be targeted efficiently by siRNA technology and that

124

knock-down of PAX3 causes loss of cell viability in both neuroblastoma and malignant melanoma cells. Furthermore I have shown for the first time that the apoptosis observed in melanoma cells after PAX3 down-regulation is p53 dependent. This is in striking contrast to the effects of down-regulating HDM2 when cell cycle arrest is observed. This finding is supported by data from small molecule inhibitors of HDM2 [183]. The differential activation of the p53 response in UACC-62 cells between PAX3 and HDM2 knock-down is likely to be dependent on the differential expression of the p53 target p21<sup>WAF1</sup>.

The restricted expression of PAX3 in adult tissues [83] and the requirement for expression of PAX3 in tumour survival [31, 103, 197] has led to suggestions for therapeutic down-regulation of PAX3 using antisense or siRNA technology [8]. In vivo delivery of siRNA has so far proved most efficacious as a local rather than systemic therapy to sites such as the eye and lungs [225]. Therefore, in an attempt to develop a therapeutic PAX3 inhibitor I have designed and tested a cell-based screening assay for PAX3 transcriptional function. The promoter of the PAX3 target gene MITF has been shown to be significantly transactivated in UACC-62 cells and this is repressed by PAX3 specific siRNA. The selective MEK inhibitor UO126 was also demonstrated to down-regulate PAX3 induced activity of the MITF reporter; although UO126 will not be examined further due to its documented ability to inhibit p53 dependent transcription [220]. It has been suggested that PAX3 transcriptional function is dependent on kinase activity and a number of potential phosphorylation sites have been identified [215]. Screening compound libraries for PAX3 inhibitors will not only lead to new potential therapies for neural crest derived tumours but will yield useful tools to further investigate the mechanism of PAX3 repression of p53 function.

#### 9.2 A model for PAX3 inhibition of p53 function

The exact mechanistic basis of PAX3 repression of p53 function remains to be elucidated. Findings from this project have shed considerable light on the role of PAX3 in neural crest derived tumours and have defined the transcriptional integrity of PAX3 as fundamental to its p53 repressive activity. PAX3 clearly causes increased p53 turn-over; this is supported by data from Pani et al showing that the level of p53

protein expressed in the presence of PAX3 is significantly decreased when compared with embryos with the homozygous Splotch deletion [20]. In a melanoma model the number of p53 immunoreactive cells is increased by down-regulation of p53 [31], suggesting that PAX3 does indeed suppress p53 protein levels in these tumours. Increased p53 turn-over is by a novel mechanism but this is unlikely to be the only activity of PAX3 on the p53 network. For example, I have presented evidence that PAX3 may have direct effects on down-stream p53 targets and this is supported by data showing that p21<sup>WAF1</sup> is a direct transcriptional target of MITF [177]. It is likely that one or many intermediary proteins are responsible for the overall effect of PAX3 on p53 activity. Direct evidence for this comes from my work with PAX3 mutant proteins showing that PAX3 must be transcriptionally active to inhibit p53. A range of genes have been shown to be up regulated in response to PAX3 expression in micro-array experiments but they appear disparate in function and a clear candidate for repression of p53 function does not stand out [90]. Analysis of the genes regulated by endogenous PAX3 has not been reported.

In addition to its direct effect on p53 protein, it is possible that PAX3 competes with p53 for p53 specific binding sites, causing promoter selective activation or repression of p53 target genes (Fig 9.1A). This mechanism is supported by my data showing PAX3 stimulation of p21<sup>WAF1</sup> and inhibition of p53 dependent BAX and HDM2 activity. Up-regulation of p21<sup>WAF1</sup> is potentially protective to tumour cells and may provide a mechanism to bypass stress induced apoptotic pathways [42]. If this is the case in neural crest derived tumours down-regulation of p21<sup>WAF1</sup>, leading to accumulation of p53 but will also cause decreased expression of p21<sup>WAF1</sup>, leading to apoptosis (Fig. 9.1B). It is this effect that I have observed in UACC-62 cells upon down-regulation of PAX3 and strengthens the case for targeted suppression of PAX3 in neural crest derived tumours. In melanoma PAX3 has been shown to be required for tumour cell survival and in the melanocyte lineage PAX3 is responsible for preventing terminal differentiation [83]. PAX3 is therefore likely to be responsible for providing two essential functions required by a tumour; prevention of apoptosis by inhibition of p53 function and maintenance of a dedifferentiated phenotype.



# Figure 9.1: A model for PAX3 suppression of p53 function in neural crest derived tumours

(A) In a resting cell p53 is maintained at low levels by the activity of its major negative regulator HDM2. In neural crest derived tumours aberrant

expression of PAX3 causes direct suppression of p53 protein levels via increased turnover. In addition PAX3 may have promoter selective effects on p53 target genes, such as *BAX*, to inhibit apoptosis (1). In addition PAX3 may directly activate the p21WAF1 promoter leading to protection from stress induced apoptosis (2). (B) Down-regulation of PAX3 causes increased p53 protein and withdrawal of p21<sup>WAF1</sup> activation. The pro-apoptotic p53 target BAX is up-regulated leading to cell death.

#### 9.3 Future work

The further optimisation of the high throughput screen for PAX3 inhibitors has been discussed in chapter 8. Any active compounds will be characterised for their effect on PAX3 and p53 dependent transcriptional control. This work will form part of a PhD studentship. At the time of writing a grant application is being considered for funding by Cancer Research UK. The proposal was drafted in collaboration with my PhD supervisors Dr Jeremy Blaydes and Dr Karen Lillycrop and Cancer Research UK Professor of Medical Oncology Peter Johnson. I am a co-investigator in this proposal. We aim to build on the findings presented in this study to further investigate the role of PAX3 in neural crest derived tumours. Specifically we aim to probe the molecular basis for the suppression of p53-dependent apoptosis by PAX3. We plan to analyse mRNA from UACC-62 cells 48 h post-siRNA transfection (control vs. PAX3) for global changes in gene expression using micro-arrays. Following q RT-PCR validation we will identify candidate genes involved in the upstream regulation of p53 activity. This will define the molecular pathways regulated by PAX3 that are responsible for p53 attenuation. Changes in expression of known p53 target genes will also be considered and tested for p53 dependency. We also hope to define the basis for p53 promoter specific effects of PAX3 observed in this study. We will examine the sequence specific DNA binding of p53, the regulation of p53 co-factors that confer promoter specificity and p53 independent effects of PAX3 on p53 dependent promoters. This can be achieved using the optimised experimental systems described in this thesis.

There is no doubt that PAX3 inhibits p53 function in neural crest derived tumours, whether or not manipulation of PAX3 expression in these cancers leads to therapeutic success remains to be seen.

### 10. References

- Revilla-i-Domingo, R., and Davidson, E.H. (2003). Developmental gene network analysis. Int J Dev Biol 47, 695-703.
- 2. Rougvie, A.E. (2005). Intrinsic and extrinsic regulators of developmental timing: from miRNAs to nutritional cues. Development *132*, 3787-3798.
- Tapscott, S.J. (2005). The circuitry of a master switch: Myod and the regulation of skeletal muscle gene transcription. Development 132, 2685-2695.
- Young, H.E., Duplaa, C., Katz, R., Thompson, T., Hawkins, K.C., Boev, A.N., Henson, N.L., Heaton, M., Sood, R., Ashley, D., Stout, C., Morgan, J.H., 3rd, Uchakin, P.N., Rimando, M., Long, G.F., Thomas, C., Yoon, J.I., Park, J.E., Hunt, D.J., Walsh, N.M., Davis, J.C., Lightner, J.E., Hutchings, A.M., Murphy, M.L., Boswell, E., McAbee, J.A., Gray, B.M., Piskurich, J., Blake, L., Collins, J.A., Moreau, C., Hixson, D., Bowyer, F.P., 3rd, and Black, A.C., Jr. (2005). Adult-derived stem cells and their potential for use in tissue repair and molecular medicine. J Cell Mol Med *9*, 753-769.
- Leedham, S.J., Brittan, M., McDonald, S.A., and Wright, N.A. (2005).
   Intestinal stem cells. J Cell Mol Med 9, 11-24.
- 6. Corn, P.G., and El-Deiry, W.S. (2002). Derangement of growth and differentiation control in oncogenesis. Bioessays *24*, 83-90.
- Buckingham, M., Bajard, L., Chang, T., Daubas, P., Hadchouel, J., Meilhac, S., Montarras, D., Rocancourt, D., and Relaix, F. (2003). The formation of skeletal muscle: from somite to limb. J Anat 202, 59-68.
- 8. Robson, E.J., He, S.J., and Eccles, M.R. (2006). A PANorama of PAX genes in cancer and development. Nat Rev Cancer *6*, 52-62.
- Barber, T.D., Barber, M.C., Tomescu, O., Barr, F.G., Ruben, S., and Friedman, T.B. (2002). Identification of target genes regulated by PAX3 and PAX3-FKHR in embryogenesis and alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Genomics 79, 278-284.
- Chi, N., and Epstein, J.A. (2002). Getting your Pax straight: Pax proteins in development and disease. Trends Genet 18, 41-47.

- Giles, R.H., van Es, J.H., and Clevers, H. (2003). Caught up in a Wnt storm: Wnt signaling in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1653, 1-24.
- 12. Saldanha, G. (2001). The Hedgehog signalling pathway and cancer. J Pathol *193*, 427-432.
- Roth, J.F., Shikama, N., Henzen, C., Desbaillets, I., Lutz, W., Marino, S., Wittwer, J., Schorle, H., Gassmann, M., and Eckner, R. (2003). Differential role of p300 and CBP acetyltransferase during myogenesis: p300 acts upstream of MyoD and Myf5. Embo J 22, 5186-5196.
- Epstein, J.A., Lam, P., Jepeal, L., Maas, R.L., and Shapiro, D.N. (1995). Pax3 inhibits myogenic differentiation of cultured myoblast cells. J Biol Chem 270, 11719-11722.
- Molkentin, J.D., and Olson, E.N. (1996). Combinatorial control of muscle development by basic helix-loop-helix and MADS-box transcription factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 9366-9373.
- Molkentin, J.D., and Olson, E.N. (1996). Defining the regulatory networks for muscle development. Curr Opin Genet Dev 6, 445-453.
- Pownall, M.E., Gustafsson, M.K., and Emerson, C.P., Jr. (2002). Myogenic regulatory factors and the specification of muscle progenitors in vertebrate embryos. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 18, 747-783.
- Puri, P.L., and Sartorelli, V. (2000). Regulation of muscle regulatory factors by DNA-binding, interacting proteins, and post-transcriptional modifications. J Cell Physiol *185*, 155-173.
- Kalcheim, C., and Burstyn-Cohen, T. (2005). Early stages of neural crest ontogeny: formation and regulation of cell delamination. Int J Dev Biol 49, 105-116.
- Pani, L., Horal, M., and Loeken, M.R. (2002). Rescue of neural tube defects in Pax-3-deficient embryos by p53 loss of function: implications for Pax-3dependent development and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev 16, 676-680.
- Gershon, T.R., Oppenheimer, O., Chin, S.S., and Gerald, W.L. (2005). Temporally regulated neural crest transcription factors distinguish neuroectodermal tumors of varying malignancy and differentiation. Neoplasia 7, 575-584.
- 22. Gammill, L.S., and Bronner-Fraser, M. (2002). Genomic analysis of neural crest induction. Development *129*, 5731-5741.

- 23. Wada, H. (2001). Origin and evolution of the neural crest: a hypothetical reconstruction of its evolutionary history. Dev Growth Differ *43*, 509-520.
- 24. Sarnat, H.B., and Flores-Sarnat, L. (2005). Embryology of the neural crest: its inductive role in the neurocutaneous syndromes. J Child Neurol *20*, 637-643.
- 25. Northcutt, R.G., and Gans, C. (1983). The genesis of neural crest and
  epidermal placodes: a reinterpretation of vertebrate origins. Q Rev Biol 58, 128.
- Bronner-Fraser, M. (2002). Molecular analysis of neural crest formation. J Physiol Paris 96, 3-8.
- 27. Knecht, A.K., and Bronner-Fraser, M. (2002). Induction of the neural crest: a multigene process. Nat Rev Genet *3*, 453-461.
- 28. Mujtaba, T., Mayer-Proschel, M., and Rao, M.S. (1998). A common neural progenitor for the CNS and PNS. Dev Biol *200*, 1-15.
- 29. Burstyn-Cohen, T., and Kalcheim, C. (2002). Association between the cell cycle and neural crest delamination through specific regulation of G1/S transition. Dev Cell *3*, 383-395.
- 30. Wakamatsu, Y., Maynard, T.M., and Weston, J.A. (2000). Fate determination of neural crest cells by NOTCH-mediated lateral inhibition and asymmetrical cell division during gangliogenesis. Development *127*, 2811-2821.
- He, S.J., Stevens, G., Braithwaite, A.W., and Eccles, M.R. (2005).
   Transfection of melanoma cells with antisense PAX3 oligonucleotides additively complements cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity. Mol Cancer Ther 4, 996-1003.
- Erickson, C.A., Tosney, K.W., and Weston, J.A. (1980). Analysis of migratory behavior of neural crest and fibroblastic cells in embryonic tissues. Dev Biol 77, 142-156.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100, 57-70.
- 34. Evan, G.I., and Vousden, K.H. (2001). Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer. Nature *411*, 342-348.
- 35. Bale, A.E., and Yu, K.P. (2001). The hedgehog pathway and basal cell carcinomas. Hum Mol Genet *10*, 757-762.
- Bienz, M., and Clevers, H. (2000). Linking colorectal cancer to Wnt signaling. Cell 103, 311-320.

- Blaydes, J.P., and Wynford-Thomas, D. (1998). The proliferation of normal human fibroblasts is dependent upon negative regulation of p53 function by mdm2. Oncogene *16*, 3317-3322.
- Pompetti, F., Pilla, D., and Giancola, R. (2003). Cancer therapy: switching off oncogenes. Bioessays 25, 104-107.
- 39. Vermeulen, K., Berneman, Z.N., and Van Bockstaele, D.R. (2003). Cell cycle and apoptosis. Cell Prolif *36*, 165-175.
- Vermeulen, K., Van Bockstaele, D.R., and Berneman, Z.N. (2003). The cell cycle: a review of regulation, deregulation and therapeutic targets in cancer.
   Cell Prolif *36*, 131-149.
- 41. Vogelstein, B., Lane, D., and Levine, A.J. (2000). Surfing the p53 network. Nature 408, 307-310.
- 42. Waldman, T., Zhang, Y., Dillehay, L., Yu, J., Kinzler, K., Vogelstein, B., and Williams, J. (1997). Cell-cycle arrest versus cell death in cancer therapy. Nat Med 3, 1034-1036.
- 43. Foijer, F., and Te Riele, H. (2006). Restriction beyond the restriction point: mitogen requirement for G2 passage. Cell Div 1, 8.
- McKenzie, P.P., Guichard, S.M., Middlemas, D.S., Ashmun, R.A., Danks,
  M.K., and Harris, L.C. (1999). Wild-type p53 can induce p21 and apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells but the DNA damage-induced G1 checkpoint function is attenuated. Clin Cancer Res 5, 4199-4207.
- 45. Vousden, K.H. (2002). Activation of the p53 tumor suppressor protein.Biochim Biophys Acta *1602*, 47-59.
- 46. Waldman, T., Kinzler, K.W., and Vogelstein, B. (1995). p21 is necessary for the p53-mediated G1 arrest in human cancer cells. Cancer Res *55*, 5187-5190.
- 47. Yamashita, T., Tokino, T., Tonoki, H., Moriuchi, T., Jin, H.Y., Omori, F., and Jimbow, K. (2001). Induction of apoptosis in melanoma cell lines by p53 and its related proteins. J Invest Dermatol *117*, 914-919.
- Oda, E., Ohki, R., Murasawa, H., Nemoto, J., Shibue, T., Yamashita, T., Tokino, T., Taniguchi, T., and Tanaka, N. (2000). Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-induced apoptosis. Science 288, 1053-1058.

- 49. Yu, J., Zhang, L., Hwang, P.M., Kinzler, K.W., and Vogelstein, B. (2001).
  PUMA induces the rapid apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cell 7, 673-682.
- 50. Miyashita, T., and Reed, J.C. (1995). Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. Cell *80*, 293-299.
- 51. Liu, Z.J., Lu, X., and Zhong, S. (2005). ASPP--Apoptotic specific regulator of p53. Biochim Biophys Acta *1756*, 77-80.
- Samuels-Lev, Y., O'Connor, D.J., Bergamaschi, D., Trigiante, G., Hsieh, J.K., Zhong, S., Campargue, I., Naumovski, L., Crook, T., and Lu, X. (2001). ASPP proteins specifically stimulate the apoptotic function of p53. Mol Cell 8, 781-794.
- 53. Rogoff, H.A., Pickering, M.T., Debatis, M.E., Jones, S., and Kowalik, T.F.
  (2002). E2F1 induces phosphorylation of p53 that is coincident with p53 accumulation and apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 22, 5308-5318.
- 54. Kumar, V., Cotran, R., and Robbins, S. (1997). Basic Pathology, 6 Edition (Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders).
- 55. Foijer, F., and te Riele, H. (2006). Check, double check: the G2 barrier to cancer. Cell Cycle *5*, 831-836.
- 56. Shapiro, G.I. (2006). Cyclin-dependent kinase pathways as targets for cancer treatment. J Clin Oncol 24, 1770-1783.
- 57. Shi, Y. (2002). Mechanisms of caspase activation and inhibition during apoptosis. Mol Cell *9*, 459-470.
- 58. Rodriguez, J., and Lazebnik, Y. (1999). Caspase-9 and APAF-1 form an active holoenzyme. Genes Dev 13, 3179-3184.
- Kroemer, G., and Reed, J.C. (2000). Mitochondrial control of cell death. Nat Med 6, 513-519.
- 60. Ashkenazi, A., and Dixit, V.M. (1998). Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science *281*, 1305-1308.
- 61. Renan, M.J. (1993). How many mutations are required for tumorigenesis?Implications from human cancer data. Mol Carcinog 7, 139-146.
- Ross, J.S., Fletcher, J.A., Linette, G.P., Stec, J., Clark, E., Ayers, M., Symmans, W.F., Pusztai, L., and Bloom, K.J. (2003). The Her-2/neu gene and protein in breast cancer 2003: biomarker and target of therapy. Oncologist *8*, 307-325.

- 63. Levens, D.L. (2003). Reconstructing MYC. Genes Dev 17, 1071-1077.
- Oliveira, A.M., Ross, J.S., and Fletcher, J.A. (2005). Tumor suppressor genes in breast cancer: the gatekeepers and the caretakers. Am J Clin Pathol 124 Suppl, S16-28.
- 65. Weitz, J., Koch, M., Debus, J., Hohler, T., Galle, P.R., and Buchler, M.W. (2005). Colorectal cancer. Lancet *365*, 153-165.
- Baker, S.J., Fearon, E.R., Nigro, J.M., Hamilton, S.R., Preisinger, A.C.,
  Jessup, J.M., vanTuinen, P., Ledbetter, D.H., Barker, D.F., Nakamura, Y.,
  White, R., and Vogelstein, B. (1989). Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene
  mutations in colorectal carcinomas. Science 244, 217-221.
- Baker, S.J., Preisinger, A.C., Jessup, J.M., Paraskeva, C., Markowitz, S.,
  Willson, J.K., Hamilton, S., and Vogelstein, B. (1990). p53 gene mutations occur in combination with 17p allelic deletions as late events in colorectal tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 50, 7717-7722.
- 68. Nowell, P.C. (1976). The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. Science 194, 23-28.
- Cutler, T.P., Holden, C.A., and MacDonald, D.M. (1979). Multiple naevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome (Gorlin's syndrome). Clin Exp Dermatol 4, 373-379.
- van Es, J.H., Barker, N., and Clevers, H. (2003). You Wnt some, you lose
  some: oncogenes in the Wnt signaling pathway. Curr Opin Genet Dev 13, 2833.
- 71. Peifer, M., and Polakis, P. (2000). Wnt signaling in oncogenesis and embryogenesis--a look outside the nucleus. Science *287*, 1606-1609.
- 72. Noll, M. (1993). Evolution and role of Pax genes. Curr Opin Genet Dev 3, 595-605.
- Hill, R.E., Favor, J., Hogan, B.L., Ton, C.C., Saunders, G.F., Hanson, I.M., Prosser, J., Jordan, T., Hastie, N.D., and van Heyningen, V. (1991). Mouse small eye results from mutations in a paired-like homeobox-containing gene. Nature 354, 522-525.
- Jordan, T., Hanson, I., Zaletayev, D., Hodgson, S., Prosser, J., Seawright, A.,
  Hastie, N., and van Heyningen, V. (1992). The human PAX6 gene is mutated in two patients with aniridia. Nat Genet 1, 328-332.

- Urbanek, P., Wang, Z.Q., Fetka, I., Wagner, E.F., and Busslinger, M. (1994).
   Complete block of early B cell differentiation and altered patterning of the posterior midbrain in mice lacking Pax5/BSAP. Cell 79, 901-912.
- Torres, M., Gomez-Pardo, E., Dressler, G.R., and Gruss, P. (1995). Pax-2 controls multiple steps of urogenital development. Development *121*, 4057-4065.
- Winyard, P.J., Risdon, R.A., Sams, V.R., Dressler, G.R., and Woolf, A.S. (1996). The PAX2 tanscription factor is expressed in cystic and hyperproliferative dysplastic epithelia in human kidney malformations. J Clin Invest 98, 451-459.
- 78. Epstein, D.J., Vogan, K.J., Trasler, D.G., and Gros, P. (1993). A mutation within intron 3 of the Pax-3 gene produces aberrantly spliced mRNA transcripts in the splotch (Sp) mouse mutant. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 532-536.
- 79. Vogan, K.J., Epstein, D.J., Trasler, D.G., and Gros, P. (1993). The splotchdelayed (Spd) mouse mutant carries a point mutation within the paired box of the Pax-3 gene. Genomics *17*, 364-369.
- Goulding, M., Sterrer, S., Fleming, J., Balling, R., Nadeau, J., Moore, K.J., Brown, S.D., Steel, K.P., and Gruss, P. (1993). Analysis of the Pax-3 gene in the mouse mutant splotch. Genomics 17, 355-363.
- Bennett, G.D., An, J., Craig, J.C., Gefrides, L.A., Calvin, J.A., and Finnell,
   R.H. (1998). Neurulation abnormalities secondary to altered gene expression in neural tube defect susceptible Splotch embryos. Teratology 57, 17-29.
- 82. (2003). GeneCard for gene PAX3. Weizmann Institute of Science.
- Lang, D., Lu, M.M., Huang, L., Engleka, K.A., Zhang, M., Chu, E.Y., Lipner,
   S., Skoultchi, A., Millar, S.E., and Epstein, J.A. (2005). Pax3 functions at a nodal point in melanocyte stem cell differentiation. Nature 433, 884-887.
- 84. Kardon, G., Heanue, T.A., and Tabin, C.J. (2002). Pax3 and Dach2 positive regulation in the developing somite. Dev Dyn 224, 350-355.
- 85. Otto, A., Schmidt, C., and Patel, K. (2006). Pax3 and Pax7 expression and regulation in the avian embryo. Anat Embryol (Berl) *211*, 293-310.
- Milewski, R.C., Chi, N.C., Li, J., Brown, C., Lu, M.M., and Epstein, J.A.
   (2004). Identification of minimal enhancer elements sufficient for Pax3

expression in neural crest and implication of Tead2 as a regulator of Pax3. Development *131*, 829-837.

- 87. Okladnova, O., Syagailo, Y.V., Tranitz, M., Riederer, P., Stober, G., Mossner,
  R., and Lesch, K.P. (1999). Functional characterization of the human PAX3
  gene regulatory region. Genomics 57, 110-119.
- Lang, D., and Epstein, J.A. (2003). Sox10 and Pax3 physically interact to mediate activation of a conserved c-RET enhancer. Hum Mol Genet 12, 937-945.
- 89. Science, W.I.o. (2006). Genecards.
- Mayanil, C.S., George, D., Freilich, L., Miljan, E.J., Mania-Farnell, B.,
   McLone, D.G., and Bremer, E.G. (2001). Microarray analysis detects novel
   Pax3 downstream target genes. J Biol Chem 276, 49299-49309.
- 91. Mansouri, A., Hallonet, M., and Gruss, P. (1996). Pax genes and their roles in cell differentiation and development. Curr Opin Cell Biol *8*, 851-857.
- 92. Barber, T.D., Barber, M.C., Cloutier, T.E., and Friedman, T.B. (1999). PAX3 gene structure, alternative splicing and evolution. Gene *237*, 311-319.
- 93. Fortin, A.S., Underhill, D.A., and Gros, P. (1998). Helix 2 of the paired domain plays a key role in the regulation of DNA-binding by the Pax-3 homeodomain. Nucleic Acids Res *26*, 4574-4581.
- 94. Lam, P.Y., Sublett, J.E., Hollenbach, A.D., and Roussel, M.F. (1999). The oncogenic potential of the Pax3-FKHR fusion protein requires the Pax3 homeodomain recognition helix but not the Pax3 paired-box DNA binding domain. Mol Cell Biol 19, 594-601.
- 95. Apuzzo, S., Abdelhakim, A., Fortin, A.S., and Gros, P. (2004). Crosstalk between the paired domain and the homeodomain of PAX3: DNA binding by each domain causes a structural change in the other domain, supporting interdependence for DNA binding. J Biol Chem.
- 96. Wilson, D.S., Guenther, B., Desplan, C., and Kuriyan, J. (1995). High resolution crystal structure of a paired (Pax) class cooperative homeodomain dimer on DNA. Cell *82*, 709-719.
- 97. Xu, W., Rould, M.A., Jun, S., Desplan, C., and Pabo, C.O. (1995). Crystal structure of a paired domain-DNA complex at 2.5 A resolution reveals structural basis for Pax developmental mutations. Cell 80, 639-650.

- 98. Chalepakis, G., and Gruss, P. (1995). Identification of DNA recognition sequences for the Pax3 paired domain. Gene *162*, 267-270.
- Wilson, D., Sheng, G., Lecuit, T., Dostatni, N., and Desplan, C. (1993).
  Cooperative dimerization of paired class homeo domains on DNA. Genes Dev 7, 2120-2134.
- 100. Underhill, D.A., Vogan, K.J., and Gros, P. (1995). Analysis of the mouse Splotch-delayed mutation indicates that the Pax-3 paired domain can influence homeodomain DNA-binding activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 3692-3696.
- 101. Apuzzo, S., and Gros, P. (2002). Site-specific modification of single cysteine Pax3 mutants reveals reciprocal regulation of DNA binding activity of the paired and homeo domain. Biochemistry 41, 12076-12085.
- 102. Fortin, A.S., Underhill, D.A., and Gros, P. (1997). Reciprocal effect of Waardenburg syndrome mutations on DNA binding by the Pax-3 paired domain and homeodomain. Hum Mol Genet 6, 1781-1790.
- 103. Bernasconi, M., Remppis, A., Fredericks, W.J., Rauscher, F.J., 3rd, and Schafer, B.W. (1996). Induction of apoptosis in rhabdomyosarcoma cells through down-regulation of PAX proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 13164-13169.
- Galili, N., Davis, R.J., Fredericks, W.J., Mukhopadhyay, S., Rauscher, F.J.,
  3rd, Emanuel, B.S., Rovera, G., and Barr, F.G. (1993). Fusion of a fork head
  domain gene to PAX3 in the solid tumour alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Nat
  Genet 5, 230-235.
- 105. Scholl, F.A., Kamarashev, J., Murmann, O.V., Geertsen, R., Dummer, R., and Schafer, B.W. (2001). PAX3 is expressed in human melanomas and contributes to tumor cell survival. Cancer Res *61*, 823-826.
- 106. Harris, R.G., White, E., Phillips, E.S., and Lillycrop, K.A. (2002). The expression of the developmentally regulated proto-oncogene Pax-3 is modulated by N-Myc. J Biol Chem 277, 34815-34825.
- 107. Reeves, F.C., Burdge, G.C., Fredericks, W.J., Rauscher, F.J., and Lillycrop, K.A. (1999). Induction of antisense Pax-3 expression leads to the rapid morphological differentiation of neuronal cells and an altered response to the mitogenic growth factor bFGF. J Cell Sci 112 (Pt 2), 253-261.

- Sun, Y. (2006). p53 and its downstream proteins as molecular targets of cancer. Mol Carcinog 45, 409-415.
- 109. Wynford-Thomas, D., and Blaydes, J. (1998). The influence of cell context on the selection pressure for p53 mutation in human cancer. Carcinogenesis 19, 29-36.
- 110. Appella, E., and Anderson, C.W. (2001). Post-translational modifications and activation of p53 by genotoxic stresses. Eur J Biochem *268*, 2764-2772.
- Soussi, T., and Lozano, G. (2005). p53 mutation heterogeneity in cancer.Biochem Biophys Res Commun *331*, 834-842.
- 112. Soussi, T. (2006). p53 Web Site.
- Jeffrey, P.D., Gorina, S., and Pavletich, N.P. (1995). Crystal structure of the tetramerization domain of the p53 tumor suppressor at 1.7 angstroms. Science 267, 1498-1502.
- Picksley, S.M., Vojtesek, B., Sparks, A., and Lane, D.P. (1994).
  Immunochemical analysis of the interaction of p53 with MDM2;--fine mapping of the MDM2 binding site on p53 using synthetic peptides.
  Oncogene 9, 2523-2529.
- 115. Soussi, T., and Beroud, C. (2001). Assessing TP53 status in human tumours to evaluate clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer *1*, 233-240.
- Soussi, T., and Beroud, C. (2003). Significance of TP53 mutations in human cancer: a critical analysis of mutations at CpG dinucleotides. Hum Mutat 21, 192-200.
- Dittmer, D., Pati, S., Zambetti, G., Chu, S., Teresky, A.K., Moore, M., Finlay,
  C., and Levine, A.J. (1993). Gain of function mutations in p53. Nat Genet 4,
  42-46.
- 118. Lane, D.P., and Benchimol, S. (1990). p53: oncogene or anti-oncogene?Genes Dev 4, 1-8.
- 119. Vousden, K.H., and Prives, C. (2005). P53 and prognosis: new insights and further complexity. Cell *120*, 7-10.
- Bond, G.L., Hu, W., Bond, E.E., Robins, H., Lutzker, S.G., Arva, N.C., Bargonetti, J., Bartel, F., Taubert, H., Wuerl, P., Onel, K., Yip, L., Hwang, S.J., Strong, L.C., Lozano, G., and Levine, A.J. (2004). A single nucleotide polymorphism in the MDM2 promoter attenuates the p53 tumor suppressor pathway and accelerates tumor formation in humans. Cell *119*, 591-602.

- Munger, K., Scheffner, M., Huibregtse, J.M., and Howley, P.M. (1992).
   Interactions of HPV E6 and E7 oncoproteins with tumour suppressor gene products. Cancer Surv 12, 197-217.
- Brooks, C.L., and Gu, W. (2003). Ubiquitination, phosphorylation and acetylation: the molecular basis for p53 regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 15, 164-171.
- 123. Lane, D.P., and Lain, S. (2002). Therapeutic exploitation of the p53 pathway. Trends Mol Med 8, S38-42.
- Dornan, D., Wertz, I., Shimizu, H., Arnott, D., Frantz, G.D., Dowd, P.,
  O'Rourke, K., Koeppen, H., and Dixit, V.M. (2004). The ubiquitin ligase
  COP1 is a critical negative regulator of p53. Nature 429, 86-92.
- 125. Leng, R.P., Lin, Y., Ma, W., Wu, H., Lemmers, B., Chung, S., Parant, J.M., Lozano, G., Hakem, R., and Benchimol, S. (2003). Pirh2, a p53-induced ubiquitin-protein ligase, promotes p53 degradation. Cell 112, 779-791.
- 126. Juven, T., Barak, Y., Zauberman, A., George, D.L., and Oren, M. (1993). Wild type p53 can mediate sequence-specific transactivation of an internal promoter within the mdm2 gene. Oncogene 8, 3411-3416.
- 127. Wahl, G.M., and Carr, A.M. (2001). The evolution of diverse biological responses to DNA damage: insights from yeast and p53. Nat Cell Biol 3, E277-286.
- Jones, S.N., Roe, A.E., Donehower, L.A., and Bradley, A. (1995). Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm2-deficient mice by absence of p53. Nature 378, 206-208.
- Montes de Oca Luna, R., Wagner, D.S., and Lozano, G. (1995). Rescue of early embryonic lethality in mdm2-deficient mice by deletion of p53. Nature 378, 203-206.
- 130. Honda, R., Tanaka, H., and Yasuda, H. (1997). Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. FEBS Lett *420*, 25-27.
- Rodriguez, M.S., Desterro, J.M., Lain, S., Lane, D.P., and Hay, R.T. (2000).
   Multiple C-terminal lysine residues target p53 for ubiquitin-proteasomemediated degradation. Mol Cell Biol 20, 8458-8467.
- 132. Chan, W.M., Mak, M.C., Fung, T.K., Lau, A., Siu, W.Y., and Poon, R.Y. (2006). Ubiquitination of p53 at multiple sites in the DNA-binding domain. Mol Cancer Res 4, 15-25.

- 133. Gu, J., Nie, L., Wiederschain, D., and Yuan, Z.M. (2001). Identification of p53 sequence elements that are required for MDM2-mediated nuclear export. Mol Cell Biol 21, 8533-8546.
- Chen, J., Marechal, V., and Levine, A.J. (1993). Mapping of the p53 and mdm-2 interaction domains. Mol Cell Biol 13, 4107-4114.
- 135. Thut, C.J., Goodrich, J.A., and Tjian, R. (1997). Repression of p53-mediated transcription by MDM2: a dual mechanism. Genes Dev *11*, 1974-1986.
- 136. Webley, K., Bond, J.A., Jones, C.J., Blaydes, J.P., Craig, A., Hupp, T., and Wynford-Thomas, D. (2000). Posttranslational modifications of p53 in replicative senescence overlapping but distinct from those induced by DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol 20, 2803-2808.
- 137. Prives, C., and Hall, P.A. (1999). The p53 pathway. J Pathol 187, 112-126.
- Li, M., Brooks, C.L., Kon, N., and Gu, W. (2004). A dynamic role of HAUSP in the p53-Mdm2 pathway. Mol Cell 13, 879-886.
- 139. Llanos, S., Clark, P.A., Rowe, J., and Peters, G. (2001). Stabilization of p53
  by p14ARF without relocation of MDM2 to the nucleolus. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 445-452.
- Bergamaschi, D., Samuels, Y., Zhong, S., and Lu, X. (2005). Mdm2 and mdmX prevent ASPP1 and ASPP2 from stimulating p53 without targeting p53 for degradation. Oncogene 24, 3836-3841.
- Homer, C., Knight, D.A., Hananeia, L., Sheard, P., Risk, J., Lasham, A.,
   Royds, J.A., and Braithwaite, A.W. (2005). Y-box factor YB1 controls p53 apoptotic function. Oncogene 24, 8314-8325.
- 142. Stanelle, J., and Putzer, B.M. (2006). E2F1-induced apoptosis: turning killers into therapeutics. Trends Mol Med *12*, 177-185.
- 143. Bai, L., and Merchant, J.L. (2001). ZBP-89 promotes growth arrest through stabilization of p53. Mol Cell Biol *21*, 4670-4683.
- 144. Nikolaev, A.Y., Li, M., Puskas, N., Qin, J., and Gu, W. (2003). Parc: a cytoplasmic anchor for p53. Cell *112*, 29-40.
- 145. Trigiante, G., and Lu, X. (2006). ASPPs and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6, 217-226.
- Phelan, S.A., Ito, M., and Loeken, M.R. (1997). Neural tube defects in embryos of diabetic mice: role of the Pax-3 gene and apoptosis. Diabetes 46, 1189-1197.

- 147. Michael, D., and Oren, M. (2002). The p53 and Mdm2 families in cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 12, 53-59.
- Albino, A.P., Vidal, M.J., McNutt, N.S., Shea, C.R., Prieto, V.G., Nanus,
  D.M., Palmer, J.M., and Hayward, N.K. (1994). Mutation and expression of the p53 gene in human malignant melanoma. Melanoma Res 4, 35-45.
- Sparrow, L.E., Soong, R., Dawkins, H.J., Iacopetta, B.J., and Heenan, P.J. (1995). p53 gene mutation and expression in naevi and melanomas. Melanoma Res 5, 93-100.
- Weiss, J., Heine, M., Arden, K.C., Korner, B., Pilch, H., Herbst, R.A., and Jung, E.G. (1995). Mutation and expression of TP53 in malignant melanomas. Recent Results Cancer Res 139, 137-154.
- Castresana, J.S., Bello, M.J., Rey, J.A., Nebreda, P., Queizan, A., Garcia-Miguel, P., and Pestana, A. (1994). No TP53 mutations in neuroblastomas detected by PCR-SSCP analysis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 10, 136-138.
- Vogan, K., Bernstein, M., Leclerc, J.M., Brisson, L., Brossard, J., Brodeur, G.M., Pelletier, J., and Gros, P. (1993). Absence of p53 gene mutations in primary neuroblastomas. Cancer Res 53, 5269-5273.
- Tweddle, D.A., Pearson, A.D., Haber, M., Norris, M.D., Xue, C., Flemming, C., and Lunec, J. (2003). The p53 pathway and its inactivation in neuroblastoma. Cancer Lett 197, 93-98.
- 154. Stuart, E.T., Haffner, R., Oren, M., and Gruss, P. (1995). Loss of p53 function through PAX-mediated transcriptional repression. Embo J *14*, 5638-5645.
- 155. Tumilowicz, J.J., Nichols, W.W., Cholon, J.J., and Greene, A.E. (1970).
   Definition of a continuous human cell line derived from neuroblastoma.
   Cancer Res 30, 2110-2118.
- 156. Schwab, M., Alitalo, K., Klempnauer, K.H., Varmus, H.E., Bishop, J.M., Gilbert, F., Brodeur, G., Goldstein, M., and Trent, J. (1983). Amplified DNA with limited homology to myc cellular oncogene is shared by human neuroblastoma cell lines and a neuroblastoma tumour. Nature 305, 245-248.
- 157. Jainchill, J.L., Aaronson, S.A., and Todaro, G.J. (1969). Murine sarcoma and leukemia viruses: assay using clonal lines of contact-inhibited mouse cells. J Virol 4, 549-553.

- 158. Giaccone, G., Battey, J., Gazdar, A.F., Oie, H., Draoui, M., and Moody, T.W. (1992). Neuromedin B is present in lung cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 52, 2732s-2736s.
- 159. Stinson, S.F., Alley, M.C., Kopp, W.C., Fiebig, H.H., Mullendore, L.A., Pittman, A.F., Kenney, S., Keller, J., and Boyd, M.R. (1992). Morphological and immunocytochemical characteristics of human tumor cell lines for use in a disease-oriented anticancer drug screen. Anticancer Res 12, 1035-1053.
- Taylor, A.C., Shu, L., Danks, M.K., Poquette, C.A., Shetty, S., Thayer, M.J., Houghton, P.J., and Harris, L.C. (2000). P53 mutation and MDM2 amplification frequency in pediatric rhabdomyosarcoma tumors and cell lines. Med Pediatr Oncol 35, 96-103.
- 161. Kamaraju, A.K., Bertolotto, C., Chebath, J., and Revel, M. (2002). Pax3 down-regulation and shut-off of melanogenesis in melanoma B16/F10.9 by interleukin-6 receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 277, 15132-15141.
- Papp, T., Jafari, M., and Schiffmann, D. (1996). Lack of p53 mutations and loss of heterozygosity in non-cultured human melanocytic lesions. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 122, 541-548.
- 163. Moll, U.M., LaQuaglia, M., Benard, J., and Riou, G. (1995). Wild-type p53 protein undergoes cytoplasmic sequestration in undifferentiated neuroblastomas but not in differentiated tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 4407-4411.
- 164. Chen, J.Y., Funk, W.D., Wright, W.E., Shay, J.W., and Minna, J.D. (1993).
   Heterogeneity of transcriptional activity of mutant p53 proteins and p53 DNA target sequences. Oncogene *8*, 2159-2166.
- 165. Tsai, C.M., Chang, K.T., Wu, L.H., Chen, J.Y., Gazdar, A.F., Mitsudomi, T., Chen, M.H., and Perng, R.P. (1996). Correlations between intrinsic chemoresistance and HER-2/neu gene expression, p53 gene mutations, and cell proliferation characteristics in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 56, 206-209.
- Kubbutat, M.H., Jones, S.N., and Vousden, K.H. (1997). Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. Nature 387, 299-303.
- 167. Haupt, Y., Maya, R., Kazaz, A., and Oren, M. (1997). Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature *387*, 296-299.
- 168. Wu, X., Bayle, J.H., Olson, D., and Levine, A.J. (1993). The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop. Genes Dev 7, 1126-1132.
- 169. Lohrum, M.A., Woods, D.B., Ludwig, R.L., Balint, E., and Vousden, K.H.
  (2001). C-terminal ubiquitination of p53 contributes to nuclear export. Mol Cell Biol 21, 8521-8532.
- 170. Zauberman, A., Flusberg, D., Haupt, Y., Barak, Y., and Oren, M. (1995). A functional p53-responsive intronic promoter is contained within the human mdm2 gene. Nucleic Acids Res 23, 2584-2592.
- Brown, C.Y., Mize, G.J., Pineda, M., George, D.L., and Morris, D.R. (1999).
   Role of two upstream open reading frames in the translational control of oncogene mdm2. Oncogene 18, 5631-5637.
- 172. Phelps, M., Darley, M., Primrose, J.N., and Blaydes, J.P. (2003). p53independent activation of the hdm2-P2 promoter through multiple transcription factor response elements results in elevated hdm2 expression in estrogen receptor alpha-positive breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 63, 2616-2623.
- 173. Fitzsimmons, D., Lutz, R., Wheat, W., Chamberlin, H.M., and Hagman, J. (2001). Highly conserved amino acids in Pax and Ets proteins are required for DNA binding and ternary complex assembly. Nucleic Acids Res 29, 4154-4165.
- 174. Tassabehji, M., Newton, V.E., Leverton, K., Turnbull, K., Seemanova, E., Kunze, J., Sperling, K., Strachan, T., and Read, A.P. (1994). PAX3 gene structure and mutations: close analogies between Waardenburg syndrome and the Splotch mouse. Hum Mol Genet *3*, 1069-1074.
- 175. Bennicelli, J.L., Advani, S., Schafer, B.W., and Barr, F.G. (1999). PAX3 and PAX7 exhibit conserved cis-acting transcription repression domains and utilize a common gain of function mechanism in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Oncogene 18, 4348-4356.
- 176. Hsieh, M.J., Yao, Y.L., Lai, I.L., and Yang, W.M. (2006). Transcriptional repression activity of PAX3 is modulated by competition between corepressor KAP1 and heterochromatin protein 1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 349, 573-581.

- 177. Carreira, S., Goodall, J., Aksan, I., La Rocca, S.A., Galibert, M.D., Denat, L., Larue, L., and Goding, C.R. (2005). Mitf cooperates with Rb1 and activates p21Cip1 expression to regulate cell cycle progression. Nature 433, 764-769.
- 178. Epstein, J., Cai, J., Glaser, T., Jepeal, L., and Maas, R. (1994). Identification of a Pax paired domain recognition sequence and evidence for DNAdependent conformational changes. J Biol Chem 269, 8355-8361.
- Cui, G., Dean, W.L., and Delamere, N.A. (2002). The influence of cycloheximide on Na,K-ATPase activity in cultured human lens epithelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43, 2714-2720.
- Finlay, C.A., Hinds, P.W., Tan, T.H., Eliyahu, D., Oren, M., and Levine, A.J. (1988). Activating mutations for transformation by p53 produce a gene product that forms an hsc70-p53 complex with an altered half-life. Mol Cell Biol *8*, 531-539.
- 181. Yamauchi, M., Suzuki, K., Kodama, S., and Watanabe, M. (2005). Abnormal stability of wild-type p53 protein in a human lung carcinoma cell line.
  Biochem Biophys Res Commun 330, 483-488.
- Carvajal, D., Tovar, C., Yang, H., Vu, B.T., Heimbrook, D.C., and Vassilev, L.T. (2005). Activation of p53 by MDM2 antagonists can protect proliferating cells from mitotic inhibitors. Cancer Res 65, 1918-1924.
- 183. Vassilev, L.T., Vu, B.T., Graves, B., Carvajal, D., Podlaski, F., Filipovic, Z., Kong, N., Kammlott, U., Lukacs, C., Klein, C., Fotouhi, N., and Liu, E.A. (2004). In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. Science 303, 844-848.
- Bottger, A., Bottger, V., Garcia-Echeverria, C., Chene, P., Hochkeppel, H.K., Sampson, W., Ang, K., Howard, S.F., Picksley, S.M., and Lane, D.P. (1997).
  Molecular characterization of the hdm2-p53 interaction. J Mol Biol 269, 744-756.
- 185. Bottger, A., Bottger, V., Sparks, A., Liu, W.L., Howard, S.F., and Lane, D.P. (1997). Design of a synthetic Mdm2-binding mini protein that activates the p53 response in vivo. Curr Biol 7, 860-869.
- 186. Lin, J., Chen, J., Elenbaas, B., and Levine, A.J. (1994). Several hydrophobic amino acids in the p53 amino-terminal domain are required for transcriptional activation, binding to mdm-2 and the adenovirus 5 E1B 55-kD protein. Genes Dev 8, 1235-1246.

- 187. Shimizu, H., Saliba, D., Wallace, M., Finlan, L., Langridge-Smith, P.R., and Hupp, T.R. (2006). Destabilizing missense mutations in the tumour suppressor protein p53 enhance its ubiquitination in vitro and in vivo. Biochem J 397, 355-367.
- 188. Liang, S.H., and Clarke, M.F. (1999). The nuclear import of p53 is determined by the presence of a basic domain and its relative position to the nuclear localization signal. Oncogene 18, 2163-2166.
- 189. Xirodimas, D., Saville, M.K., Edling, C., Lane, D.P., and Lain, S. (2001). Different effects of p14ARF on the levels of ubiquitinated p53 and Mdm2 in vivo. Oncogene 20, 4972-4983.
- 190. Esser, C., Scheffner, M., and Hohfeld, J. (2005). The chaperone-associated ubiquitin ligase CHIP is able to target p53 for proteasomal degradation. J Biol Chem 280, 27443-27448.
- 191. Asher, G., Tsvetkov, P., Kahana, C., and Shaul, Y. (2005). A mechanism of ubiquitin-independent proteasomal degradation of the tumor suppressors p53 and p73. Genes Dev 19, 316-321.
- 192. Zaika, A., Marchenko, N., and Moll, U.M. (1999). Cytoplasmically "sequestered" wild type p53 protein is resistant to Mdm2-mediated degradation. J Biol Chem 274, 27474-27480.
- Gonen, H., Shkedy, D., Barnoy, S., Kosower, N.S., and Ciechanover, A. (1997). On the involvement of calpains in the degradation of the tumor suppressor protein p53. FEBS Lett 406, 17-22.
- 194. Kubbutat, M.H., and Vousden, K.H. (1997). Proteolytic cleavage of human
  p53 by calpain: a potential regulator of protein stability. Mol Cell Biol 17,
  460-468.
- 195. Pariat, M., Carillo, S., Molinari, M., Salvat, C., Debussche, L., Bracco, L., Milner, J., and Piechaczyk, M. (1997). Proteolysis by calpains: a possible contribution to degradation of p53. Mol Cell Biol 17, 2806-2815.
- 196. Moll, U.M., Ostermeyer, A.G., Haladay, R., Winkfield, B., Frazier, M., and Zambetti, G. (1996). Cytoplasmic sequestration of wild-type p53 protein impairs the G1 checkpoint after DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol 16, 1126-1137.
- Muratovska, A., Zhou, C., He, S., Goodyer, P., and Eccles, M.R. (2003).
   Paired-Box genes are frequently expressed in cancer and often required for cancer cell survival. Oncogene 22, 7989-7997.

- 198. Grunweller, A., Wyszko, E., Bieber, B., Jahnel, R., Erdmann, V.A., and Kurreck, J. (2003). Comparison of different antisense strategies in mammalian cells using locked nucleic acids, 2'-O-methyl RNA, phosphorothioates and small interfering RNA. Nucleic Acids Res 31, 3185-3193.
- 199. Vickers, T.A., Koo, S., Bennett, C.F., Crooke, S.T., Dean, N.M., and Baker,
  B.F. (2003). Efficient reduction of target RNAs by small interfering RNA and
  RNase H-dependent antisense agents. A comparative analysis. J Biol Chem 278, 7108-7118.
- 200. Scherer, L.J., and Rossi, J.J. (2003). Approaches for the sequence-specific knockdown of mRNA. Nat Biotechnol 21, 1457-1465.
- 201. Duriez, P.J., and Shah, G.M. (1997). Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose)
  polymerase: a sensitive parameter to study cell death. Biochem Cell Biol 75, 337-349.
- Bergamaschi, D., Samuels, Y., O'Neil, N.J., Trigiante, G., Crook, T., Hsieh, J.K., O'Connor, D.J., Zhong, S., Campargue, I., Tomlinson, M.L., Kuwabara, P.E., and Lu, X. (2003). iASPP oncoprotein is a key inhibitor of p53 conserved from worm to human. Nat Genet *33*, 162-167.
- 203. Hsieh, J.K., Yap, D., O'Connor, D.J., Fogal, V., Fallis, L., Chan, F., Zhong, S., and Lu, X. (2002). Novel function of the cyclin A binding site of E2F in regulating p53-induced apoptosis in response to DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol 22, 78-93.
- 204. UK, C.R. (2006). Malignant Melanoma Factsheet. pp. 1-4, Cancer Research UK: London.
- 205. Diepgen, T.L., and Mahler, V. (2002). The epidemiology of skin cancer. Br J Dermatol 146 Suppl 61, 1-6.
- 206. Garbe, C., McLeod, G.R., and Buettner, P.G. (2000). Time trends of cutaneous melanoma in Queensland, Australia and Central Europe. Cancer 89, 1269-1278.
- 207. Eggermont, A.M., and Kirkwood, J.M. (2004). Re-evaluating the role of dacarbazine in metastatic melanoma: what have we learned in 30 years? Eur J Cancer 40, 1825-1836.
- Verma, S., Quirt, I., McCready, D., Bak, K., Charette, M., and Iscoe, N. (2006). Systematic review of systemic adjuvant therapy for patients at high risk for recurrent melanoma. Cancer *106*, 1431-1442.

- 209. Miller, A.J., and Mihm, M.C., Jr. (2006). Melanoma. N Engl J Med 355, 5165.
- Garraway, L.A., Widlund, H.R., Rubin, M.A., Getz, G., Berger, A.J.,
  Ramaswamy, S., Beroukhim, R., Milner, D.A., Granter, S.R., Du, J., Lee, C.,
  Wagner, S.N., Li, C., Golub, T.R., Rimm, D.L., Meyerson, M.L., Fisher, D.E.,
  and Sellers, W.R. (2005). Integrative genomic analyses identify MITF as a
  lineage survival oncogene amplified in malignant melanoma. Nature 436, 117122.
- 211. Johnston, P.A., and Johnston, P.A. (2002). Cellular platforms for HTS: three case studies. Drug Discov Today 7, 353-363.
- 212. Zhang, J.H., Chung, T.D., and Oldenburg, K.R. (1999). A Simple Statistical Parameter for Use in Evaluation and Validation of High Throughput Screening Assays. J Biomol Screen 4, 67-73.
- 213. Watanabe, A., Takeda, K., Ploplis, B., and Tachibana, M. (1998). Epistatic relationship between Waardenburg syndrome genes MITF and PAX3. Nat Genet 18, 283-286.
- Bondurand, N., Pingault, V., Goerich, D.E., Lemort, N., Sock, E., Caignec, C.L., Wegner, M., and Goossens, M. (2000). Interaction among SOX10, PAX3 and MITF, three genes altered in Waardenburg syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 9, 1907-1917.
- 215. Schafer, B.W.W., Marco. Amstutz, Ralf. Troxler, Heinz. Kleinert, Peter. Fabbro, Doriano. Niggli, Felix K. (2006). Regulation of chimaeric oncogenic transcription factor activity by a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, University Children's Hospital, Zurich, Switzerland, Novartis Pharma, Basel, Switzerland.
- 216. Beat W. Schafer, M.W., Ralf Amstutz, Heinz Troxler, Peter Kleinert, Doriano Fabbro, Felix K. Niggli. (2006). Regulation of chimaeric oncogenic transcription factor activity by a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, University Children's Hospital, Zurich, Switzerland, Novartis Pharma, Basel, Switzerland.
- Duncia, J.V., Santella, J.B., 3rd, Higley, C.A., Pitts, W.J., Wityak, J., Frietze,
  W.E., Rankin, F.W., Sun, J.H., Earl, R.A., Tabaka, A.C., Teleha, C.A., Blom,
  K.F., Favata, M.F., Manos, E.J., Daulerio, A.J., Stradley, D.A., Horiuchi, K.,
  Copeland, R.A., Scherle, P.A., Trzaskos, J.M., Magolda, R.L., Trainor, G.L.,

Wexler, R.R., Hobbs, F.W., and Olson, R.E. (1998). MEK inhibitors: the chemistry and biological activity of U0126, its analogs, and cyclization products. Bioorg Med Chem Lett *8*, 2839-2844.

- Favata, M.F., Horiuchi, K.Y., Manos, E.J., Daulerio, A.J., Stradley, D.A.,
  Feeser, W.S., Van Dyk, D.E., Pitts, W.J., Earl, R.A., Hobbs, F., Copeland,
  R.A., Magolda, R.L., Scherle, P.A., and Trzaskos, J.M. (1998). Identification
  of a novel inhibitor of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase. J Biol Chem 273, 18623-18632.
- 219. Vlahos, C.J., Matter, W.F., Hui, K.Y., and Brown, R.F. (1994). A specific inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 2-(4-morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-1benzopyran-4-one (LY294002). J Biol Chem 269, 5241-5248.
- 220. Phelps, M., Phillips, A., Darley, M., and Blaydes, J.P. (2005). MEK-ERK signaling controls Hdm2 oncoprotein expression by regulating hdm2 mRNA export to the cytoplasm. J Biol Chem 280, 16651-16658.
- Malo, N., Hanley, J.A., Cerquozzi, S., Pelletier, J., and Nadon, R. (2006).
   Statistical practice in high-throughput screening data analysis. Nat Biotechnol 24, 167-175.
- 222. Mayer, T.U. (2003). Chemical genetics: tailoring tools for cell biology. Trends Cell Biol *13*, 270-277.
- 223. Berkson, R.G., Hollick, J.J., Westwood, N.J., Woods, J.A., Lane, D.P., and Lain, S. (2005). Pilot screening programme for small molecule activators of p53. Int J Cancer 115, 701-710.
- 224. Yardy, G.W., and Brewster, S.F. (2005). Wnt signalling and prostate cancer.Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 8, 119-126.
- 225. Dallas, A., and Vlassov, A.V. (2006). RNAi: a novel antisense technology and its therapeutic potential. Med Sci Monit *12*, RA67-74.

148